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for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors are responsible for the integrity, preparation
and fair presentation of the annual separate and
consolidated financial statements of MTN Group Limited
(the Company), its subsidiaries, joint ventures, associates
and structured entities (fogether, the Group) in accordance
with International Financial Reporfting Standards (IFRS)
as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB) and Interpreftations as issued by the IFRS
Interpreftations Committee (IFRIC), the South African
Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA), Financial
Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices
Commifttee (APC), Financial Reporting Pronouncements
as issued by rhe Financial Reporting Standards Council
(FRSCQ), the Johannesburg Stock Exchange (JSE) Listings
Requirements and the requirements of the South African
Companies Ach, No 71 of 2008, as amended.

The Company also subscribes in all its activities to principles
of best practice and corporate governance, as set outin the
King IV Reporft on Corporate Governance for South Africa
2016 (King IV*).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRS requires management (o consistenftly apply
appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable
judgements and estimates. The directors are of the opinion
fhat the information contained in the Annual Financial
Statements fairly presents the financial position at year-
end and fthe financial performance and cash flows of the
Group and the Company for the year then ended.

The directors have taken the responsibility for ensuring rhat
accurate and complete accounting records are kept fo
enable the Group and the Company fo satisfy their obligation
with respect to the preparation of financial statements.

The directors are also responsible for the oversight of the
Group’s system of internal controls. This responsibility
includes designing, implementing and maintaining internal
controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, wherher due fto fraud or error.

The Group operates in an established conftrol environment,
which is documented and regularly reviewed. The Group
Risk Management and Compliance Commiffee plays an
integral role in risk management. Risk management and
infernal confrol procedures are designed fo provide
reasonable, but nol absolute, assurance thal assels are
safeguarded and that the risks facing the business are
confrolled.

The infternal financial controls are considered adequate
and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the
Annual Financial Sratements. Where deficiencies in the
design and operational effectiveness of internal financial
confrols have been identified, remedial actions have been
initiated.

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

The Group’s internal audit function, which operates
unimpeded by operational management, and has
unrestricted access to the Group’s Audit Committee,
assesses and, when necessary, recommends improvements
in the system of internal control and accounting practices,
based on audit plans that take cognisance of the relative
degrees of risk of each function or aspect of the business.

The directors have reviewed the Group and the Company
budgefts and cash flow forecasts for the vyear to
31 December 2021. In light of this review, the current
financial position and existing borrowing facilities, rhe
going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the
Group and rhe Company Annual Financial Statements. The
directors have no reason fo believe that the Company or its
subsidiaries will not be going concerns in the year ahead.
These financial statements support the viability of the
Group and the Company.

The Group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers
Inc. (PwC) and SizweNftsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
(SNG Grant Thornton), jointly audited the Group and rhe
CompanyAnnual Financial Statements and their unqualified
audif report is presented on pages 15 to 20.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to all
financial records and related data, including minutes of all
meefings of shareholders, the Board of Directors and
committees of the Board. The directors believe that all
represenftations made to the independent auditors during
their audift are valid and appropriate.

The Group and the Company Annual Financial Statements
which appear on pages 1 to 155 were approved for issue by
the Board of Directors on 9 March 2021 and are signed on
its behalf by:

\%\m

RT Mupita
Group President and Chief Executive Officer (CEQO)

Fairland

W
MH Jonas

Chairman of Board of Directors of the Group

Fairland

* Copyright and frademarks are owned by the Institute of Directors Southern Africa NPC and all of ifs rights are reserved.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

The director, whose name is stated below, hereby confirms that:

(a) the Annual Financial Statements sel out on pages 1 to 155, fairly present in all material respects the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of MTN Group Limited in ferms of IFRS;

(b) no facts have been omiftted or untrue statements made that would make the Annual Financial Statements false or misleading;

(c) internal financial controls have been put in place to ensure that material information relating fo MTN Group Limited and its
consolidated subsidiaries have been provided to effectively prepare the financial statements of MTN Group Limited; and

(d) the internal financial controls are adequate and effective and can be relied upon in compiling the Annual Financial
Statements, having fulfilled our role and function within the combined assurance model pursuant fo principle 15 of the King
Code. Where we are not satisfied, we have disclosed to the Audit Committee and the auditors the deficiencies in design and
operational effectiveness of the internal financial confrols and any fraud that involves directors, and have faken the
necessary remedial action.

%
RT Mupita

Group President and Chief Executive Officer (CEO)

Fairland

for the year ended 31 December 2020

| certify that, fo the best of my knowledge and belief, MTN Group Limited has filed all its refurns and notices with the Registrar
of Companies and Intellectual Property Commission for the year ended 31 December 2020, as required of a public company
in ferms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and thal such refurns and notices are frue,
correct and up fo date.

PT Sishuba-Bonoyi
Group Secrefary

Fairland
9 March 2021
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The MTN Group Audit Committee is pleased fto present its report for the 2020 financial year.

The report has been prepared based on the requirements of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended (the Companies
Ach), King IV, the JSE Listing Requirements and orher applicable regulatory requirements.

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its duties by independently monitoring the strength of the operational,
financial and control processes. These include internal financial confrols and ensuring that assurance services and functions
enable an effective control environment and that these support the integrity of information produced in compliance with
applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

2020 — an unprecedented year of human tragedy that tested business resilience

“During 2020, the resilience of the Group’s business continuity and its responsiveness to adapt its processes and controls were
tested fo an exftraordinary level. While evaluating, monitoring and mitigating new risks brought aboul by the COVID-19

pandemic, the Group Audit Committee continued fo drive its key focus areas sef for 2020." S Mabaso-Koyana.

S Mabaso-Koyana assumed fthe chairmanship of the Audit Committee effective 1 October 2020. She is a chartered
accounfant with extensive experience in the public and private secfors, where she is held in high regard both locally and
internationally. She has served as a non-executive director for numerous companies, and her current Board positions
include MTN Zakhele Furhi (RF) Limited among ofhers.

FEEDBACK ON KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Reviewed the Group's comprehensive
Group-wide project Fo manage ifs response
fo the COVID-19 pandemic.

Evaluate progress and independent
assessment of the implementation of the
Group's enterprise resource planning cloud
process that is expected fo improve the
overall internal financial contfrol
environment.

Evaluate the rollout of enhanced policies,
systems and processes on areas of focus
across the Group, including areas such as
Freasury and credit management.

MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020

DEVELOPMENTS IN KEY FOCUS AREAS

The Group has been able fo navigate through the pandemic with minimal
disruptive impact and will conftinue to adopt a conservative approach to its
response.

The Group-wide project contains sfreams to mitigate impact on human
resources, supply chain, fechnology continuity and financial capital. The
project also focuses on the impact fo external sfakeholders such as
governments, customers and the wider community.

The Group has also made financial confributions fo society rhrough its Y’ello
Hope Project. On 27 January 2021, the Group announced financial support
of US$25 million to the African Union’s COVID-19 Vaccine Project.

The Group continued to strengthen its control environment with the

following system enhancement initiatives:

« deployment of the Cloud ERP system in MTN Uganda Limited
(MTN Uganda) with the implementation in MTN Nigeria Communications
Plc (MTN Nigeria) and other head office entities being at an advanced
stage and deployment expected in the first half of 2021;

e implementation of the Cloud Human Capital Management system in
6 operaling companies boasting in excess of 4600 users;

e implementation of Trade Management in most operating companies with
demand forecasting and planning modules live in Scancom PLC (MTN
Ghana), Spacetel Benin S.A (MTN Benin), MTN Cameroon Limited (MTN
Cameroon), MTN Uganda and MTN Nigeria;

o deployment of the Enterprise Performance Management suite with
modules for financial consolidation, business and financial planning, fax
reporting and operational analytics;

e implementation of Sourcing & Supplier Management and Analytics
modules in most operating companies with enhancements on Working
Capital Management and Group Budgel Analytics.

The Group freasury policy has been enhanced to include the operating
companies’ freasury management with monthly reporting and Mobile Money
(MoMo) counterparty risk management. The Group treasury reports now
include a consolidated view of positions of holding and operating
companies.

Furthermore, the Groups’ bank counterparty risk is managed through the
S&P Global Ratings credit scoring platform and is reviewed semi-annually.

The Group’s new credit management policy, which includes monitoring
mechanisms, is scheduled for implementation in the first six months
of 2021.



(continued)

for the year ended 31 December 2020

FEEDBACK ON KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW (continued)

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Monitor the rollouf of projects fo enhance
fechnology controls across the Group.

Monitor progress and evaluate findings
and aclion steps from deep-dive process
reviews in areas such as procurement and
supply chain management; consumer and
sales and distribution environments.

Review initiatives taken fo further
enhance the assurance and moniftoring
capabilities of the IAFS function in the
confext of the Group's digital strategy and
Fransformation journey.

Ensure appropriate planning and
fransition processes are established for
the rotation of audit firms, commencing
in 2021.

Enhance the oversights and evaluation of
fhe external audit function by reviewing
audift quality related indicators of the
Group's external auditors against
benchmarks in the marketr.

DEVELOPMENTS IN KEY FOCUS AREAS

The Group prioritises and monitors the implementation of confrols in fhe
security environment as part of the Critical Controls Implementation
initiative in order to improve the overall information security confrol
environment across the Group. On a quarterly basis, assessments are
performed in the Group'’s operations to track the implementation progress
of the critical controls. In addition, independent assessments are performed
on a sample-basis fo provide assurance on the effectiveness of the controls
implemented.

Insights from internal audit and forensic services (IAFS) group-wide
integrated audit approach, which focused on key processes, were used fo
provide clear visibility fo the nature and impact of confrol weaknesses.

Management advanced interventions in the form of centrally driven
remediation projects that incorporates risk management, regulatory and
compliance alignment and financial impacts.

Project assurance with tailored key performance indicators (KPIs) and
fime-based milestones enables supervision and guides progress to
completion to ensure remediation objectives are achieved.

Management accountability is ensured through visibility of recurrent
findings, business accountability and consequence management. Monitoring
the fone at the top within all management structures ensures sustainable
improvements in the control environment.

The Groups' IAFS function continued to tailor and refine their existing audit
tools, especially in light of the business impacts of COVID-19. The
operational responses brought on by work-from-home interventions, with
an unprecedented reliance on systems, digital access and related tools, has
prompted a deeper reflection of the IAFS function’s digital strategy as well
as the skills, falent and training requirements to ensure it is future-fir.

As part of its audit firm rofation plan, the Group appointed Ernst and Young
Inc (EY) at its Annual General Meefing (AGM) on 21 May 2020, replacing SNG
Grant Thornton as the joint Group audit firm with effect from the 2021
financial year.

The Audit Commifttee maintains a strong and candid relationship with the
joint auditors and satisfied itself with the performance of the joint external
audifors.

Work is progressing in the 2021 year to further strengthen the oversight and
evaluation of the Group’s external auditors by benchmarking the audift
quality related indicators in the market.
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(confinued)
for the year ended 31 December 2020

MEMBERSHIP, MEETING ATTENDANCE AND EVALUATION

Members of the committee are independent and are nominated annually by the Board for re-election at the AGM. The individual
members satisfy the requirements fo serve as members of an Audit Committee as provided in section 94 of the Companies Act
and have adequate knowledge and experience. The composition of the committee and the atfendance al the meetings by its
members for the period January fo December 2020 are set out below. The committee meets quarterly and held an additional
meefting in advance of the interim resulfs to consider and approve the change in accounting policy as sef ouf in note 11 of the
Annual Financial Statements.

3 MARCH 19 MAY 3JULy 30JULY 26 NOVEMBER
MEMBERS 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
S Mabaso-Koyana* N/A N/A N/A N/A v
KC Ramon** v v v v N/A
NP Mageza*** v N/A N/A N/A N/A
S Tshabalala X v v v v
P Hanratty v v v v v
V Rague X v v v v

* Appointed as an independent non-executive director on 1 September 2020 and assumed the chairmanship of the Audit Committee on 1 October 2020.
**  Resigned from the MTN Group Board with effect from 30 September 2020.

***  Resigned from the MTN Group Board with effect from 30 April 2020.

N/A Attendance not applicable as it falls outside of the term of appointment.

X An apology was tendered for non-afttendance.

v Afttended the meeting.

The committee meefts at least four fimes a year and members’ fees are included in the table of directors’ emoluments and
related payments in note 10 of the financial statements.

The Group President and CEO, the Group Chief Financial Officer (GCFO), the Group Business Risk Officer, the executive: internal
audit and forensics, the joint external auditors and other assurance providers attend committee meetings by invitation. The
committee also meefts separately with the joint external auditors, internal auditors and senior management before or after
every meeling.

After serving as Audit Committee chairman for the last five years, KC Ramon stepped down on 30 September 2020 and
S Mabaso-Koyana assumed rhe chairmanship on 1 October 2020. The committee expressed its appreciation for the valuable
inpul and guidance provided by KC Ramon and NP Mageza during their fenure.

The effectiveness of the individual members of the committee and of the committee as a whole is assessed on an annual basis.

EXECUTION OF FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The committee is satisfied that, in respect of the period under review, it has conducted its affairs and discharged its duties and
responsibilities in accordance with its ferms of reference and the Companies Act.

The committee discharged the following responsibilities during the year under review:

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

o Considered and satisfied itself with Fhe independence and objectivity of the joint external auditors and designated registered
audiftors and ensured thal the scope of non-audit services rendered did not impair their independence.

e Approved the non-audit-related services performed by the joint external auditors during the year in accordance with the
policy established and approved by the Board.

o Fees paid for non-audit services are disclosed in note 2.4 of these Annual Financial Statements and represents 13% of audit
fees, which is within the Group’s policy of 25%. These comprised:

2020 2019

% %

Assurance related 46 14
Advisory 25 55
Tax 28 29
Orther services 1 2
100 100

MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 5



for the year ended 31 December 2020

EXTERNAL AUDITORS (continued)

Services assigned fo fthe Group audit firms were
pre-approved following an evaluation of fthe impact
on audit independence based on the Group’s approved
policy.

Services for larger assignments are individually evaluated
by the Group Audit Committee and approved if the
committee is satisfied that the independence of the audit
firms will not be compromised. Other than for the
approved services, no other benefits were provided fo
fhe auditors. Larger projects during 2020 included data
migration and analytics services and a sustainability
assurance project.

Determined the joint external auditors’ terms of
engagement and fees for 2020. Fees paid to auditors for
fhe year under review are disclosed in note 2.4 of these
Annual Financial Statements.

Satisfied itself with the performance of the joint external
auditors and designated registered auditors and further
fhat they are accredited on the JSE's list of auditors and
advisers.

Satisfied itself rhat the designated registered audiftors
are within their fenure and rofation requirements.

The Group's joint external auditors are PwC and
SNG Grant Thornton. Both firms are level 1 BBBEE
confributors.

PwC and SNG Grant Thornton have been auditing
the Group for 27 years and 18 vyears, respectively.
The joint Group engagement partner representing PwC
is Ms SN Madikane whose fenure commenced in
2018. Mr DH Manana from SNG Grant Thornton was
appoinfted as the joint Group engagement partner since
fhe 2017 financial year.

Assessed Fhe respective audil firms as well as the related
engagement partners’ suitability for appointment, taking
info account the quality of the audit work and related
reporting fo the Audit Commifttee, industry expertise
of the firm and ifs designated parftners, findings by
fhe Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors (IRBA)
and statements relating to independence as well as
fhe representations made by the external auditors to
the Audit Commifttee including fhose under ISQC 1
International Standard on Quality Control 1.

Considered the practical ability for the external auditors
and fhe Group finance team fo work remotely in light of
COVID-19 restrictions.

Executed its stated mandatory audit firm rotation
fransition plan in accordance with the Group's
announcement on 29 November 2019. Shareholders
approved the appointment of EY as the new joint Group

(continued)

audift firm with effect from 2021. In addition, MTN Nigeria
appointed EY as ifs auditors with effect from 2020
in accordance with audit firm rotation requirements
in Nigeria.

The committee recommends the re-appoinfment of
PwC at the AGM, following the earlier appoinfment of
EY as joint external auditors for the 2021 financial period,
in accordance with the Group’s phased audit firm
fransition plan.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ACCOUNTING PRACTICES
AND OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS

Reviewed and approved the accounting policies and fhe
Annual Financial Statements of the Group and the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2020, and
based on fthe information provided to it, the committee
considered that, in all material respects, they are
appropriate and comply with the provisions of the
Companies Act, IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting
Guides as issued by fhe APC, Financial Reporting
Pronouncements as issued by rhe FRSC, and the JSE
Listings Requirements as well as content from the JSE's
annual proactive monitoring report.

Reviewed the processes in place for the reporfting of
concerns and complaints relating to financial reporting
and accounting practices, internal audit, contents of the
Group's and the Company’s financial statements, internal
financial controls and any related matters. The committee
can confirm that there were no such complaints of
substance during the year under review.

Reviewed Group fax exposures and assessed the
appropriateness of the Group'’s fax policies.

Reviewed Group freasury reports, Group funding
requirements, credit ratings and recommended financing
proposals fo the Board.

Considered and was satisfied with the appointment of
T Shomang as the Debt Officer in line with requirements
of paragraph 7.3(g) of the JSE Debt Listing Requirements.
Reviewed progress on litigation and legal exposures and
the related accounting applied and disclosure included in
Fhese Annual Financial Statements.

Received regular updates from management on the
repatriation of funds from sanctioned territories.
Considered the appropriateness of management
judgements, estimates made and the accounting
Freatment of significant fransactions.

Reviewed the integrated report for consistency with
operational and financial information known to the Audit
Commiftee members as well as with fthese financial
statements.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS (confinued)

Significant matters that the Audit Committee has considered in relation to the Annual Financial Statements were:

SIGNIFICANT MATTER CONSIDERED

Fair and balanced financial reporting

Classification and measurement of the
investment in a felecommunication
infrastructure provider, IHS Holding
Limifed (IHS Group)

The Group’s 29% investment in IHS Group
is classified as an investment af fair
value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI). The calculation of fair
value of R27 197 million is based on
earnings multiples applied to estimated
earnings (note 1.5.2 and note 7.2).

Recognition of the revenue earned from
Cell C

Cell C Limited (Cell C) and Mobile
Telephone Nefworks Propriefary Limited
(MTN SA) entered info a nefwork roaming
agreement in 2018. Following delayed
payments by Cell C during the first half of
2019, MTN SA did not recognise all
revenue accrued on satisfied performance
obligations. Revenue was only recognised
on completed services based on the
non-refundable consideration received.
There were no changes in facks and
circumstances during 2020 that resulted
in a change in the cash basis of
accounting (nofe 1.5.9).

Judgement relating to uncertain tax, legal
and regulatory matters

The Group operates in a number of
complex and uncertain regulatory and

Fax jurisdictions where judgement is
required in assessing the regulatory and
fax exposures (nofte 1.5.4, 1.5.7, note 3 and
note 6.6).

Legal matters considered include a
fransfer pricing dispute, a complaint for
violation of an anti-terrorism actin
Afghanistan as well as a claim by Turkcell
and East Asian Consortium arising from
its unsuccessful bid for a licence in Iran.

ACTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

The committee considered the appropriateness of the Group's financial
reporfing to ensure fair and balanced reporting is achieved. The committee
reviewed submissions and presentations by management on the financial
results, significant transactions, critical accounting judgements and
assumptions as well as views by the Group’s joint external auditors on key
audit matters and internal auditors on internal financial controls.

The committee has recommended that the Board approve both the
summary and annual financial resulfs.

The committee reviewed the appropriateness of the classification of IHS
Group as an investment at FVOCI in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments. It evaluated the methodology followed to estimate earnings
and multiples applied against international earnings multiples of similar
entities. IF evaluated the assessment and views of the Group’s external
auditors on management’s valuation and disclosure.

The commifttee was satisfied that fhe classification and measurement of the
investment in IHS Group was appropriate.

The Audit Committee reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting
freatment and reviewed the payments received that were recognised as
revenue and considered the impact of the amount not recognised as
revenue.

The Audit Committee was satisfied that the accounting freatment was
appropriare.

The committee reviewed risk, legal, regulatory and tax reports from
management and requested opinions from independent specialists where
considered appropriate. The commifttee considered management’s
assessment of possible, probable and remote exposures and the related
provisions and disclosure on tax and regulatory and legal liabilities,
provisions and contingent liabilities in the light of the latest correspondence
on these matters by the respective authorities. The committee also
considered the assessment by the Group'’s external auditors of the
appropriate recognition, measurement and disclosure of uncertain tax, legal
and regulatory matters.

The committee was satisfied that the recognition, measurement and
disclosure of uncertain tax, legal and regulatory matters by management
was appropriate and that the claims relating to complaints in respect of the
violation of an anti-terrorism act and rhe Turkcell matter were appropriately
assessed by management fo be remote.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS (confinued)

SIGNIFICANT MATTER CONSIDERED

Classification of the economy of Iran as
hyperinflationary

The Group has applied IAS 29 Financial
Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies
fo the results of Irancell
Telecommunication Company Services
(PJSC) (Irancell) effective

1 January 2020 (note 1.5.5).

Judgement applied regarding the
impairment of goodwill

Acquisitions made in prior years resulted
in the recognition of goodwill. Goodwill is
fested af least annually for impairment to
assess whether the recoverable amounts
exceed fhe carrying amounts. The
calculation of the recoverable amounts
require judgement relating o future cash
flows and discount rates (note 1.5.1 and
nofte 5.2.1).

In 2020, the goodwill balances of Lonestar
Communications Corporation

(MTN Liberia), MTN Yemen and Spacetel
Guinea-Bissau S.A. (MTN Guinea-Bissau)
were impaired (nofte 5.2).

Significant fransactions for 2020 included:

« the dilution of the Group’s infterest in
MTN Zambia Limited (MTN Zambia) by
8% (note 9.4);

« the disposal of the Group’s 18,90%
inferest in Jumia Technologies AG
(Jumia) (note 7.1.3);

« the disposal of the Group’s 49%
shareholdings in Uganda Tower InterCo
B.V. (Uganda InterCo) and Ghana Tower
InterCo B.V. (Chana InterCo) (note 9.4);

« the classification of the 20% interest
held in Belgacom Internafional Carrier
Services (BICS) to non-current assels
held for sale (note 9.4); and

« fhe classification of the Group's
shareholding in MTN Syria (JSC)

(MTN Syria), fo non-current assets held
for sale (note 9.4).

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The effects of COVID-19 had an impact on
the Group'’s financial risk, including the
credil risk relating to its customers and
exposure relating fo cash and cash
equivalents and Mobile Money (MoMo)
deposits placed wirh banks. In addition,
dividends declared and paid by MTN
Nigeria fo MTN International (Mauritius)
Limited, being held on behalf of the Group
by the Nigerian Registrar, could not be
repatriated and has been classified as
restricted cash (nofe 4.3). Further impacts
of the pandemic resulted in impairment
charges on goodwill and joinft venture
balances (note 1.6).

ACTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

The commifttee considered management’'s assessment and judgements of
the classification of the economy as hyperinflationary. The committee
reviewed the calculations of the net prior period gains and the disclosures
on the impact of the hyperinflation accounting on the statement of
comprehensive income.

The Audit Committee was satisfied that management has applied the
appropriate judgements in classifying the economy as hyperinflationary
and that the accounting and disclosures were appropriate.

The committee reviewed the annual impairment testing performed by
management. It evaluated the cash generating units with impairment
indicators selected such as the effects of COVID-19 for detailed impairment
festing, reviewed rhe underlying key assumptions supporting the future
cash flows in the context of the operations’ business plans and considered
the reasonableness of discount rates of these operations in the context of
fheir respective operating environments. It also considered the views from
Fhe Group’s external audifors on fhe valuation methodology applied, ftheir
assessment of the reasonableness of the key assumptions and sensitivities
fo changes in these assumptions.

The committee was satisfied that the analysis and calculations performed
by management and the related impairments and disclosure in the Annual
Financial Statements were appropriate.

The committee considered the accounting freafments and the disclosures
of the fransactions proposed by management.

The committee was satisfied that these fransactions were appropriately
accounted for and disclosed by management.

The committee reviewed the impact of COVID-19 on the financial risks of
the Group and the related impacts on the Annual Financial Statements.

The committee also considered management’s assessment of:

« reduced liquidity in the Nigerian foreign exchange markel that impacts the
Group's ability fo receive dividends from its subsidiary;

» expected credit losses (ECLs) on receivables, bank and MoMo deposit
balances;

e COVID-19 as an impairment trigger for cash-generating units; and

e fhe disclosure of the impact of COVID-19 on fthe financial statements.

The committee was satisfied that the impacts of COVID-19 were
appropriately assessed and disclosed and that managements assessments,
calculations and disclosures on ECLs and impairments of goodwill and
investments in joint ventures was appropriate.

8 MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020



Statutory
reporfs

Group financial
sfafements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

N 02 “

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

(continued)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, ACCOUNTING PRACTICES AND OTHER FINANCIAL MATTERS (confinued)

SIGNIFICANT MATTER CONSIDERED

Changes in accounting policies

ACTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

The committee evaluated and approved the change in accounting policy.

The committee further reviewed the restatement performed by management

The Group implemented a voluntary
accounting policy change relating fo the
release of foreign currency franslation
reserve (FCTR) from rhe step-by-step
mefthod fo the direct merhod.

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates (IAS 21) requires that on
the disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relafting to that foreign
operation, recognised in other
comprehensive income (OCI) and
accumulated in FCTR in equity, shall be
reclassified from equity fo profit or loss as
a reclassification adjusfment when the
gain or loss on disposal is recognized
(note 11.1).

NTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

Reviewed the assessment, prepared by internal audit, on
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management,
governance and system of infternal financial contfrols.
This assessment, fogether with the report on the overall
control environment, formed the basis of the committee’s
recommendation fo rhe board in this regard. The Board's
report on the effectiveness of the system of internal
controls, which the committee fully supports, is included
in the directors’ report on page 14.

Reviewed the report from the Group’s forensic services
function on the result of forensic investigations
conducted in the period under review and their financial
impact as they pertain to financial reporting.

Considered the reports from management on fraud and
information fechnology risks as they pertain to financial
reporting.

Reviewed fthe reports of the external auditors detailing
the findings arising from their audit and considered the
appropriateness of the responses from management.
Assessed the revenue assurance confrol environment
and related revenue leakage exposure for the Group.
Reviewed fraud and whistleblowing reports and that
appropriate management action is faken with regards to
Fhe confrol environment and consequence management.
Evaluated the Group's assessment of the CEO
responsibility statement on the Annual Financial
Statements and internal financial controls as required by
new JSE Listings Requirements as sel oul on page 2.

GOING CONCERN STATUS

The Group’s Annual Financial Statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, and the directors are
satisfied that the Group is in a sound financial position to
meel its foreseeable cash requirements. The Board's
skatement on the going concern status of the Group and
Company is contained on page 12 of the directors’ report.

and concluded thal these were appropriate and in line with IFRS.

The committee was satisfied that management applied and disclosed the
change in the accounting policy appropriately.

INTERNAL AUDIT AND FORENSIC SERVICES FUNCTION
OVERSIGHT

Considered the effectiveness and independence of the
infernal audit function, its impact as a rthird line of
assurance and monitored adherence fo the annual
internal audit plan.

Reviewed the confinued embedment of the rhird line of
defence as a central reporting function and its effective
posiftioning within Fhe organisation’s operation.
Considered the appropriateness of IAFS' KPIs for
alignment to the mandate of an independent third line
assurance function.

Reviewed rhe performance of M Molapo, the executive
IAFS, and confirmed that she had the requisite skill,
experience, human resources and budgeftary support
from the organisation in order fo successfully execute on
her mandate in rhe year under review.

The Group Audit Commifttee obtained appropriate
evidence fo satisfy themselves that the Group’s IAFS
function fulfilled its mandate appropriately.

Reviewed the reported resulfrs of internal audir work and
forensic investigations in order to be satisfied rhat they
appropriately supported the final annual assessment of
governance, risk management and system of internal
controls of the Group.

Reviewed the critical matters raised by the IAFS function,
obtained and evaluated management’'s action plans fo
address those matters and assessed the adequacy of
those actions to appropriately and sustainably resolve
Fhose critical matters.

Reviewed rhe results of the external quality assurance
review performed on the function, to validate that the
governance, processes and management thereof, rhe
quality of work delivered by the function is at the requisite
level as governed by International Standards for the
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing.

Considered rhe effectiveness of the combined assurances
provided by all the lines of assurance, through a review of
management’s representations and attestations, reports
from the risk and compliance function and other similar
second lines of assurance, fogerher with an evaluation of
Fhe assurance of third lines, namely external and internal
audif functions.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Audit Committee chairman is a permanent invitee to
the Group Risk Committee to ensure the Audit Committee
considers holistically the financial risks associated with the
risk profile of the Group.

The IAFS performed an audit of the following in respect of

the risk function:

« Reviewed the performance of R Wessels, the Group
Business Risk and Compliance Officer, to which the risk
and compliance function reported fo during fhe year, and
was satisfied that he has the necessary expertise and
experience fo fulfil this role and that he had performed
appropriately during the year under review.

* Reviewed the Group policies on risk assessment and risk
management for financial reporting and the going
concern assessment.

« Reviewed the matters related fto financial reporfting
presented on fthe risk registers, its impact and likelihood
of occurrence.

* Reviewed the Group’s comprehensive groupwide project
fo manage its response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

FINANCE DIRECTOR AND FINANCE FUNCTION

* Reviewed the performance of the acting GCFO,
S Perumal, who has been fulfilling the role of acting
GCFO from 1 Sepftember 2020 and previous GCFO,
R Mupifta, and was satisfied that they have the necessary
experftise and experience to fulfil this role and that they
had performed appropriately for the vyear ended
31 December 2020.

e S Perumal is a chartered accountant with over 15 years
extensive experience in finance and accounting. He has
served as an exfternal auditor of MTN Group and held
various key execufive and Board positions within the
Group including acting Chief Financial Officer (CFO) of
MTN SA and CFO of Irancell.

e T Molefe will join the Group as the GCFO as soon as
practically possible but no later than 1 October 2021. She
is a qualified chartered accountant, and brings deep
financial, risk and felecommunications experience.

» The Audit Committee also considered and has satisfied
ifrself of fthe appropriateness of fthe expertise and
experience of the finance function and adequacy of
resources employed in this function.

SOLVENCY AND LIQUIDITY REVIEW

The committee is satisfied that the Board has performed a
solvency and liquidity test on the Company in light of
guarantees and lefters of support issued on behalf of
subsidiaries.

(continued)

KEY FOCUS AREAS FOR 2021

The commiftee has sef the following key areas of focus

for 2021:

e Conftinue fo evaluate progress and independent
assessment of the implementation of the Group's
enterprise resource planning cloud process fthat is
expected to improve the overall internal financial control
environment.

« Monitor the transition processes for the roftation of audit
firms and the effectiveness thereof as well as oversights
and evaluation of the external audit function by reviewing
audit quality related indicators of the Group’s external
auditors against benchmarks in the market.

« Evaluate the ongoing operational, financial and control
risks posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and the Group's
response and mitigation processes in place fo ensure
business continuity.

« Consider the financial impact and disclosure of corporate
fransactions in the scope of the Group’s Middle East exit
strategy.

o Consider the impact of a growing MoMo business on the
confrol environment and monitor the restructure of the
Group’s MoMo businesses from the telecommunication
operations into a separate financial fechnology (fintech)
structure.

e Evaluate the progress on the consolidation and
standardisation of key controls to further enhance the
overall confrol environment.

» Maintain focus on the enhancement of controls to reduce
cyber risks, fraud risks and revenue leakage.

e Evaluate and consider the compliance programmes on
data privacy across the Group.

%@W
S Mabaso-Koyana

Group Audit Commiftee chairman

9 March 2021
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NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Company was incorporated in the Republic of South
Africa on 23 November 1994 (Company registration:
1994/009584/06) and carries on the business of investing
in the felecommunications industry through its subsidiary
companies, joint ventures and associated companies. The
Company'’s shares are listed on the JSE under JSE: MTN in
fhe mobile felecommunications sector.

The Company’s registered address is 216 14th Avenue,
Fairland, Roodepoort, Gauteng, 2195.

COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

The Group and the Company Annual Financial Statements
were prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the
IASB and Infterpretations as issued by the IFRIC and comply
with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the
APC and Financial Reporting Pronouncements as issued by
the FRSC, the JSE Listings Requirements and the
requirements of fthe Companies Act.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group recorded a profit after tax for the year ended
31 December 2020 of R19 647 million (2019: R10 829 million).
Full defails of the financial results of the Group and the
Company are set out in these Annual Financial Statements and
accompanying notes for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2020
amounted to R33 039 million (2019: R32 868 million), which
comprised the following:

2020 2019
Rm Rm
PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT 24 150 22 504
Land and buildings 205 183
Leasehold
improvements 151 120
Neftwork infrastructure 17 165 9993
Information systems,
furniture and office
equipment 1447 1357
Capital work-in-
progress/other?! 5078 10 764
Vehicles 104 87
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 4 407 3777
Sofftware 3624 2224
Capital work-in-
progress 783 1553
LEASED ASSETS 4482 6 587
Right-of-use assefts 4482 6 587
33039 32 868

! The majority of capital work in progress relates fo long-term network
infrasfructure projects.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE (continued)

Licences and spectrum acquired during the year:

2020 2019
Rm Rm
MTN Yemen 504 -
MTN Zambia - 31
MTN Benin - 51
MTN Ghana 1190 104
MTN Nigeria 32 249
MTN Afghanistan Limited
(MTN Afghanistan) 24 -
MTN Uganda 1774 2
3524 437

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party fransactions are sel out in note 10.1
of these Annual Financial Statements.

YEAR UNDER REVIEW

The results of the Group and Company have been sef outin
the attached Annual Financial Statements.

LITIGATION
MTN Afghanistan Anti-Terrorism complaint

On 27 December 2019 a complaint for violation of the Anti-
terrorism Act was filed in the United States District Court for
the District of Columbia (the Complaint). The Complaint
was filed on behalf of American service members and
civilians, and their families, who were killed or wounded in
Afghanistan between 2009 and 2017. The Complaint
alleges fthal several Western businesses supporfted fthe
Taliban by, inter alia, making payments fo ensure fhe
protection of their infrastructure. The defendants named in
the Complaint are six different groups, one of which is MTN
and certain of its subsidiary companies including MTN
Afghanistan.

On 5 February 2021, MTN Group (MTN) filed a reply in
support of its request that the court dismiss MTN from a
civil case in US court. MTN filed ifs reply in order to respond
to the plaintiffs’ 8 December 2020 opposition to MTN's
motion fo dismiss. MTN had filed its initial motion fo dismiss
on 10 September 2020, wherein MTN had asked the Unifted
States court to dismiss the case filed against it on
27 December 2019. As stated in its motion fo dismiss and in
its reply on 5 February 2021, MTN has requested that the
court end the lawsuit and grant a judgment in MTN's favour
for two independent reasons: because fthe court lacks
jurisdiction over MTN, which does not operate in the Unifted
States, and because the complaint does not allege any
conduct by MTN fthat violated the Anti-Terrorism Act. The
matter is considered remote and as such, no confingent
liabiliry has been disclosed.
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LITIGATION (confinued)
Turkcell claim

The matterrelates to Turkcell and the East Asian Consortium
as plaintiffs against MTN Group Limited and certain of its
subsidiaries, in ferms of which the plaintiffs are allegedly
aggrieved by fheir unsuccessful bid to obfain a mobile
licence in Iran, and the awarding of that licence to Irancell
in 2005. MTN Group has consistently opposed this claim on
the basis that that the licence to Irancell was validly issued
and that rhe allegations made by rhe plaintiffs are without
merif. In November 2020, Turkcell formally withdrew as a
plaintiff from the case before the High Court, leaving East
Asian Consorftium as the only plaintiff in the matter. MTN
maintains that the allegations made by East Asian
Consorftium are without merit and, as such, no contingent
liability has been disclosed.

BORROWING POWERS

In terms of the memorandum of incorporation (MOI), the
borrowing powers of the Company are unlimited. However,
all borrowings by the Company are subject to limitations sef
ouf in fthe freasury policy of the Group. The derfails of
borrowings are disclosed in note 6.1.

GOING CONCERN

The directors have reviewed the Group’s and Company’s
budget and cash flow forecasts for the year to 31 December
2021. On the basis of this review, the current financial
position and existing borrowing facilities, the directors are
satisfied that the Company and the Group have access fo
adequate resources fo continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future, are going concerns, and have
continued fo adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the Annual Financial Statements.

SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES AND JOINT VENTURES

Details of subsidiaries and joint ventures in which the Group
has a direct or indirect interest are sel ouf in note 9.1 of
Fhese Annual Financial Statements.

All Group entities have a year-end consistent fo that of the
Company with the exception of Irancell, a joint venture of
the Group that has a year-end of 21 December for Group
reporting purposes and a statutory year-end of 21 March.

DISTRIBUTION TO SHAREHOLDERS

Before declaring dividends, the Board:

« Applies the solvency and liquidity fest; and

e Assesses whefther the Company would satisfy the
solvency and liquidity test immediately after payment of
said dividend.

The payments of future dividends will depend on the
Board's ongoing assessment of the Group’s earnings,
financial position, cash needs, future earnings prospects
and other future factors.

Dividends

No dividends were declared in respect of both the half-
year ended 30 June 2020 and the Ffull-year ended
31 December 2020.

SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised share capital

There was no change in rhe authorised share capital of the
Company during the year under review. The authorised
ordinary share capiftal of the Company is 2,5 billion shares
of 0,01 cents each.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)
Issued share capital

The issued share capital of the Company is R188 427 (2019:
R188 427) comprising 1 884 269 758 (2019: 1 884 269 758)
ordinary shares of 0,01 cents each.

MTN Zakhele Futhi Scheme

Details of the MTN Zakhele Futhi Scheme are sef out in
note 8.1.

On 31 July 2020, the Group announced fthat it would not be
paying an inferim dividend. This impacted MTN Zakhele
Furthi’s ability to pay the scheduled preference dividends.
MTN Group has advanced financial assistance to MTN
Zakhele Futhi fo meet its financial obligations as reflected
in note 8.1.

Details of participation in the MTN Zakhele Fufhi Scheme by
directors of the Company, the Group Secrefary, directors
and the company secretaries of major subsidiaries are set
out in nofte 10.2 of the Annual Financial Statements.

CONTROL OF UNISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

The unissued ordinary shares are the subject of a general
authority granted fo the direcftors in ferms of section 38 of
the Companies Act. As this general authority remains valid
only until the next AGM, shareholders will be asked at that
meeling fo consider an ordinary resolution placing the said
unissued ordinary shares, fo a maximum of 10% of rhe
Company'’s issued share capital, under the control of the
directors until the next AGM.

The Company did not exercise this authority during the
current or prior financial year.

ACQUISITION OF THE COMPANY'S OWN SHARES

Al the last AGM held on 21 May 2020, shareholders gave
rhe Company or any of its subsidiaries a general approval in
ferms of secltion 48 of the Companies Act, by way of special
resolution, for the acquisition of its own shares. As fhis
general approval remains valid only until the next AGM,
shareholders will be asked afl that meeting fo consider a
special resolution fo renew this general authority until the
next AGM, subject fo a maximum extension of 15 months.

The Company did not exercise fthis authority during the
current or prior financial year.

SHAREHOLDERS' INTEREST

Details of shareholders’ interest and a shareholder spread
analysis are disclosed in Annexure 1 of rhese Annual
Financial Stafements.

RETIREMENT BY ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with the Company’s MOI, S Mabaso-Koyana,
N Molope, N Gosa and T Molefe will retire at the forfhcoming
AGM. The retiring directors, being eligible, offer themselves
for election.

In accordance with the policy adopted by the Board and the
MOI of the Company, directors who have been in office for
an aggregate period in excess of nine years are required fo
retire at the next AGM and af each AGM thereafter.
Accordingly, A Mikati, who has served on the Board for an
aggregate period in excess of nine years, will retire af the
forthcoming AGM and is not eligible for re-election. The
Board expressed their gratitude for the invaluable
conftribution A Mikati has made over the years.

The profiles of the directors retiring by rofation and seeking
re-election will be sef out in the notice of the AGM.
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APPOINTMENTS AND RESIGNATIONS

S Mabaso-Koyana was appointed as an independent
non-executive director with effect from 1 September 2020
and Audit Commiftee chairman with effect from
1 October 2020.

T Molefe was appointed as the Group Chief Financial Officer
and will join the Company before 1 October 2021.

N Molope and N Gosa were appointed as independent non-
executive directors with effect from 1 April 2021.

RA Shuter resigned from being Group President and CEO
on 31 Augusl 2020.

RT Mupita ceased to be the Group Chief Financial Officer on
31 August 2020 and was appointed as the Group President
and CEO on 1 Sepftember 2020.

KC Ramon resighed from being an independent non-
executive director on 30 September 2020, and MLD Marole
and NP Mageza resigned from being independent non-
executive directors on 30 April 2020.

There were no other director appointments or resignations
ofher than those mentioned above during the year under
review.

COMPANY INDEMNITY DISCLOSURE

In accordance with paragraph 166.2 of the Company’s MOI,
which states that the Company may “advance expenses to
a director to defend litigation in any proceedings arising out
of the director’s service fo the Company;”. The Company
has accordingly, approved an indemnity for its directors
and officers, the extent of the indemnity is stated below:

“The directors of MTN Group Limited and the MTN Group
Executive Committee members (who are prescribed
officers and fall within the definition of director in terms
of Section 78 of the Companies Act) (directors), are hereby
indemnified in respect of any liability arising ofrher rhan
contemplated in Section 78(6) of the Companies Act, and
the Company will advance the director's reasonable
expenses fo defend litigation in any proceedings arising out
of rhe direcftor's service to the Company and hereby
indemnify fhe directors in respect of such expenses subject
fo the provisions of Secfion 78(8) of the Companies Act”

DIRECTORS AND PRESCRIBED OFFICERS' INTERESTS,
SHAREHOLDINGS AND DEALINGS

Details of the interests of directors and prescribed officers’
shareholdings and dealings are provided in note 10.2.

EMPLOYEE SHARE SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s share schemes are provided in
note 8.4.

CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDING
Disposal of Jumia

During 2020 the Group disposed of its entire shareholding
in Jumia through multiple sales fransactions with the final
sale completed on 8 October 2020. The sales fransactions
closed for proceeds of US$138 million (R2,3 billion). The fair
value of the investrment was defermined by reference fto
published price quotations on the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) and was categorised within level 1 of the fair value
hierarchy. The Group had classified the investment in Jumia
as at FVOCI resulting in the disposal having no impact on
profit or loss.
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CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDING (confinued)

Disposal of Uganda Tower InterCo B.V. and Ghana Tower
InterCo B.V.

On 31 December 2019 rhe Group concluded an agreement
fo dispose of its 49% equity holdings in Ghana InterCo and
Uganda InterCo to AT Sher Nefherlands Cooperatief U.A.
(ATC). The Uganda InterCo transaction closed on
21 February 2020 for cash proceeds of US$140 million
(R2,2 billion) and realised a profit of R1,3 billion, inclusive of
FCTR gains of R112 million reclassified to profit or loss on
disposal. The Ghana InterCo fransaction closed on
18 March 2020 for cash proceeds of US$384 million
(R6,6 billion) and realised a net profit of R4,8 billion, affter
inclusion of FCTR losses of R1,8 billion reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal.

Disposal of 8% shareholding in MTN Zambia

On 7 October 2020 the Group disposed of 8% shareholding
in MTN Zambia taking the Group’s effective shareholding
for accounting purposes from 97,8% to 89,8%. The
proceeds from the disposal amounted fo ZMK287 million
(R238 million) and realised a nef gain of R180 million
recognised in equity as a fransaction with non-controlling
interests.

INTERNAL FINANCIAL CONTROLS

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, assessed the results of the formal documented
review of the Group's system of internal controls and risk
management, including the design, implementation and
effectiveness of the internal financial controls conducted
by internal audit and considered information and
explanations given by management and discussions with
the external auditors on the results of their audit. Alrhough
certain weaknesses in financial controls, whether in design,
implementation or execution were identified, the internal
financial controls are considered adequate and effective
and can be relied upon in compiling the Annual Financial
Statements. Where deficiencies in the design and
operational effectiveness of internal financial controls
have been identified, remedial actions have been initiated.

COVID-19

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization officially
declared fthe novel coronavirus, COVID-19, a pandemic.
Governments across the world have rtaken exfreme
measures fo curb the spread of the virus by infroducing
various forms of social distancing, lockdown regimes and
forms of monetary and fiscal stimulus.

As at 31 December 2020, the MTN footprint had
3 012 582 total cases with 444 744 cases being active.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there have been
direct and indirect financial effects caused by the
COVID-19 pandemic. We highlight the impacts fto the
Annual Financial Statements as a result of the pandemic in
note 1.6 of the financial stafements.

On 27 January 2021, MTN announced that it will be donating
US$25 million to support the African Union’s COVID-19
vaccination programme. The donation will help secure up to
7 million doses of COVID-19 vaccines for health workers
across the continent. MTN will recognise an expense and
the related cash outflow for the donation in the 2021
financial year.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
SALE OF BICS

The Group has been in discussions regarding a potential
sale of ifs shareholding in BICS for some fime as the
investment in associate was nofl considered a strategic
investment. BICS was accordingly classified as a non-
current assel held for sale on 5 August 2020. An impairment
loss of R397 million after writing down the carrying amount
of the non-current assef held for sale to its fair value less
cosfs to sell has been recognised in profit or loss.

Following year-end, the Group concluded an agreement fo
sell, and fully exited, its 20% investment in BICS.

The transaction closed on 24 February 2021 and the Group
received nel cash proceeds of EUR99,1 million (R1,8 billion,
franslated at the effective date of sale) and realised a profit
of approximately R1,2 billion, mainly comprising of
reclassified FCTR gains, which will form part of earnings per
share (EPS), with no impact on headline earnings per share
(HEPS), equity and cash flows.

MTN SYRIA

On 17 February 2021, a lawsuit was filed before the
Administrative Court of Damascus (the court) by the Syrian
Ministry of Communications and Technology and the Syrian
Telecommunications and Post Regulatory Authority
(fogether “the Syrian Telecoms Authorities”) seeking interim
measures against MTN Syria following certain allegations of
mismanagement. The allegations included unsubstantiated
claims relating to the licence agreement, MTN Syria’s
interactions with its service providers, and certain
matters relating to fthe Board and management. On
25 February 2021, the court placed MTN Syria under judicial
guardianship, effective immediately. The court has
appointed the chairman of Telelnvest, the non-confrolling
shareholder of MTN Syria, to serve as the judicial guardian.

The Group is reviewing the extent of the judicial guardian’s
powers; af this time, it appears that the guardian (if his
appointmentis legally valid), has the power and responsibility
fo manage MTN Syria’s day-to-day operations.

The Group is strongly of the view that the courl process
followed fo place MTN Syria under judicial management
within a week of being served with a lawsuil was flawed and
that the allegations made are without merit. On 1 March
2021, the Group filed an appeal against the court order
appoinfting the judicial guardian. However, during the
appeal process, the guardian’s powers remain effective. In
addition, the Group is also considering other appropriate
steps and is consulting ifs legal advisers on measures
available to it with regards to protecting its rights fo its
investment in MTN Syria.

Afr 31 December 2020, the Group was committed fo a plan
fo sell MTN Syria and the sale was considered highly
probable; and as a result, the subsidiary was classified as a
non-current asset held for sale and measured ar ifs
recoverable amount of R1 175 million.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)
MTN SYRIA (continued)

On 25 February 2021, subsequent fto the end of the
reporting period, the appointment of the judicial guardian
has significantly reduced the Group’s power to direct MTN
Syria’s relevant activities and ftherefore its conftrol over
MTN Syria. The Group is still in the process of understanding
its rights and obligations under the judicial arrangement
buf fo the extent that control is concluded ro have been lost,
the Group will derecognise its 75% equity interest in and
loans receivable from MTN Syria, amounting fo R955 million
af 31 December 2020. In addition, the Group will reclassify
accumulated foreign currency franslation losses of
R5,1 billion to profit or loss in line with the accounting policy.
On loss of control, the Group will measure its equity inferest
in and loans receivable from MTN Syria af fair value.

Details of other events after the reporting period are seft out
in relevant notes within these financial sfatements.

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (ADR)

A sponsored ADR facility is in place. This facility is sponsored
by the Bank of New York and details of the administrators
are: Cusip No 62474M108 ADR.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on Friday, 28 May 2021. Refer to the
notice of the 26rh AGM, when issued, for further details of
the ordinary and special business for consideration af the
meeling.

AUDITORS

PwC and SNG Grant Thornton were joint auditors in
accordance with section 90 of the Companies Act for the
2020 year.

The Audit Committee reviewed the independence of the
auditors during the period under review and satisfied itself
rhat rhe auditors were independent of the Group.

Following the infroduction of mandatory audit firm rotation,
Fhe shareholders have approved EY as the new joint audift
firm at the AGM on 21 May 2020. EY will replace SNG Grant
Thornton for the 2021 financial year as fthe joint Group
audif firm.

In addition fo EY's appointment, the Audit Committee will
recommend the reappointment of PwC as joint audit firm af
fhe AGM.
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND
SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OUR OPINION

In our opinion, fhe consolidated and separafte financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated and separate financial position of MTN Group
Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (fogether the
Group) as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated and
separate financial performance and its consolidated and
separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and fhe requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

WHAT WE HAVE AUDITED

MTN Group Limited’s consolidated and separate financial

stafements sef out on pages 22 to 153 comprise:

» the Group and Company statements of financial position
as af 31 December 2020;

e Fhe Group income statement for the year then ended;

e the Group and Company statements of comprehensive
income for the year then ended;

» the Group and Company statements of changes in equity
for the year rhen ended;

e Fhe Group and Company statements of cash flows for the
year then ended; and

¢« the notes to the financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Audifors’
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated and
separate financial statements section of our report.

We believe thal the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENCE

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of
Professional Conduct for Registered Audifors (IRBA Code)
and ofher independence requirements applicable to
performing audifts of financial statements in South Africa.
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with
ofher ethical requirements applicable to performing audits
in Soufth Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with the
corresponding sections of the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Infernational
Independence Standards).

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated and separate financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated and separate
financial sfatements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
mafrers.

The key audit matters discussed in the rable below relate to
fhe consolidated financial statfements. We have defermined
that fhere are no key audit matters with regard to the audit
of the separate financial statements of the Company for the
current period fo communicate in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Measurement of the equity investment in IHS Group

The confidentiality restrictions written into the shareholders’
agreement with IHS Group do not allow for the Group to be
granted access o the IHS Group business plans or actual
financial information for the 2020 financial year.

For the purposes of deriving the fair value of the equity
investment, any estimated earnings used to derive the fair
value are therefore solely defermined by management
based on markel estimates and assumptions on financial
growth, currency movements, costs and performance.

Ar31 December 2020, the fair value of the equity investment
held in IHS Group was calculated using an industry earnings
multiple technique based on unobservable market inpufs
which were applied fo management’s estimated earnings,
less estimated net debt and by also applying a combined
liquidity and macro discount.

We considered the measurement of the equity investment
in IHS Group fo be a matter of most significance to the
current year’s audit due to the significant judgements and
estimates made by management, the complexity in respect
of the valuation of the investrment, and the magnitude of
the fair value movement recorded rthrough ofher
comprehensive income for the year. Refer to the following
nofes to the consolidated financial stafements for detail:

e Note 1.5.2: Criftical accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions — [IHS Group fair value rthrough ofher
comprehensive income; Source of estimation uncertainty —
investment measurement;

« Nofe 1.6: Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic;

« Note 7.1.3: Fair value estimation; and

+« Nofe 7.2: Investments.

(continued)

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the valuation model
and found no material differences. Utilising our valuation
experftise, we assessed the approach adopted by
management in the valuation model used to value fthe
investment in IHS Group at year-end against the applicable
requirements of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and did
nol note inconsistencies.

We assessed the reasonability of management’s estimates
of nef debt by inspecting information published by a publicly
listed investor in IHS Group. We further assessed the
reasonability of management’s estimates of earnings by
performing trend analysis and look-back procedures, by
comparing management’s estimates fo the actual resulfs
included in the information published by a publicly listed
investor in IHS Group. Based on the work that we performed,
we accepted management’'s earnings and nel debf
estimates.

We utfilised our valuations expertise to assess the
reasonability of the earnings multiples used by management.
In doing so, we compared these to earnings multiples of
comparable entfities in fthe same industry, taking info
account recent markel fransactions. We did not note any
aspect requiring furrher consideration.

We assessed the appropriateness of management’s
combined liquidity and macro discount applied and the
increase in the discount when compared to the prior year, by
considering published markel information, performing frend
analysis and look-back procedures, and considering
acceptable discounts applied within the same industry
faking info account current market conditions. Based on the
work that we performed, we accepted the basis on which
management defermined rhe combined liquidity and macro
discount applied in the valuation.

We performed stress testing and sensitivity analyses on the
inputs used by management in rheir valuation model fto
evaluate the minimum changes in the earnings multiple
range, estimates of earnings and liquidity and macro
discount that would resull in a material change to the fair
value calculation for bofth disclosure and measurement
purposes.

We did not note any aspect requiring further consideration.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Impairment assessment of goodwill arising from business
combinations

Due to the number of business combinations that the Group
has historically entered into, the Group'’s net assets include
a significant amount of goodwill af the reporting date. Some
of the businesses that these balances relate to operate in
countries subject to political conflict, worsening economic
conditions and various sanctions. There is a potential risk
Fhatthese businesses may nottradeinline with expectations
and forecasts, resulfing in a potential impairment of the
carrying amount of goodwill allocated fo Fhese businesses.

The poor economic environment combined with further
impacts of rthe COVID-19 pandemic in some of the Group's
operations in certain regions resulted in decreased forecast
cash flows at 31 December 2020 as well as a significant
increase in sovereign risk premiums for some entities.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and whenever
Fhere is an impairment indicator identified by management.
Such indicators were identified by management related
fo its operations in Guinea-Bissau, Liberia and Yemen
which resulted in an impairment charge of R165 million,
R308 million and R525 million, respectively, as at
31 December 2020.

We considered the goodwill impairment assessment to be a

matter of most significance to the current year audit due to

the significant judgement and assumptions made by

management in performing the impairment assessments,

and in estimating discount rates, terminal growrh rates and

cash flow forecasts specifically for conflict markets where

reliable economic datais not available. Refer to the following

nofes to the consolidated financial stafements for detail:

« Nofte 1.5.1: Critical accounting judgements, estimates
and assumptions - Impairment of goodwill;

« Note 1.6: Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic; and

« Note 5.2.1: Goodwill.
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(continued)

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

We tested the mathematical accuracy of the valuation
models used by management and found no material
differences. We also assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation model (discounted cash flows model) applied by
management, with reference to markel practice and
the requirements of International Accounting Standard
(IAS) 36 Impairment of Assels.

We assessed frhe reliability of the Group’s budgets included
in the business plans (which form rhe basis of the cash flow
forecasts), by comparing prior period budgets to acfual
results and evaluating differences noted against underlying
documentation and explanations obrfained from
management. We also agreed revenue and earnings before
interest (which includes gains and losses on foreign
exchange fransactions), tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) used fo calculate cash flow forecasts to approved
budgefts and noted no material differences. We enquired
from management regarding the adjusfments made to the
in-country approved budgets by the Group and evaluated
management’s explanations against our understanding of
the specific operational performance and in-country
developments in order to assess the reasonability of these
adjustrments. We did not note any aspect requiring further
consideration in respect of these adjusfments made.

We assessed revenue growth rates and EBITDA margins
during the forecast period against the Group's strategic
initiatives, faking info account the anticipated future impact
of COVID-19, as well as historical growth rates and EBITDA
margins achieved. We noted no material differences.

We utilised our valuations expertise fo independently
source data such as the terminal growth rates, cost of debt,
risk-free rates in the applicable markel, markef risk premiums,
debt/equity ratios, sovereign risk premiums, as well as the
beta of comparable companies. We independently calculated
a discount rate for each cash generafting unit using our
independently sourced data. We applied these independently
sourced and calculated inpufs fo management’s forecasts
and compared management’s recoverable amount of each
cash-generating unift fo the resulfs of our calculations. No
material differences were nofed.

We further performed sensitivity analyses to defermine the
minimum changes in discount rates, terminal growth rates
and forecast cash flows rthat would result in limited or no
headroom being available. We noted rhat the recoverable
amount was not sensitive to the discount and growth rates,
which would result in the recoverable amount being less
than the carrying amount of the net assets.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Accounting freatment for uncertain tax exposures,
regulatory and pending litigation exposures in the various
markets that the Group operates in

The Group operates across mulfiple tax and regulatory
jurisdictions and due to the inherent nature of exposures,
rulings issued, assessments by tax and regulatory
aufrhorities and litigation in developing markers, the Group
recoghised a significant amount of fax and/or legal and
regularory provisions, liabilities and disclosed contingencies
af fthe reporting date.

Management applies judgement to estimate:

« the potential exposure where the interprefation of the
applicable tax laws and regulations could be subjective;
and

« the likelihood fthat a pending claim will succeed, or a
liability will arise, and the quantification of the ranges of
potential financial seftlement.

We considered the accounting freafment for uncertain fax
exposures, regulatory and pending litigation exposures in
the various markets that the Group operates in to be a
matter of most significance to the current year’'s audit due
fo Fthe magnitude, complexity and nature of these exposures,
coupled with the fact that a significant level of management
judgement is required in infterprefing specific legislation
acts, regulatory provisions or practices in determining the
amounts of fthese liabilities.

Refer to the following notes to the consolidated financial

statements for detail:

« Note 1.5.4: Critical accounting judgements, estimates
and assumplions — Income faxes; Source of estimation
uncerfainty;

« Note 1.5.7: Critical accounting judgements, estimates
and assumptions — Contingent liabilities; Significant
judgement;

« Note 3.3: Income fax paid;

« Note 4.5: Trade and ofther payables;

« Nole 6.3: Provisions; and

« Note 6.6: Confingent liabilities.

(continued)

HOW OUR AUDIT ADDRESSED THE KEY AUDIT MATTER

Uncertain fax exposures

Utilising our fax expertise, we held discussions with
management fo evaluate their assessment of the potential
outcome of fax exposures relating to income tax (including
fransfer pricing and controlled foreign company legislation),
withholding tax, VAT and other taxes.

We also held discussions with Group and in-country internal
fax experts regarding the facts and circumstances
surrounding the significant exposures, in order fo evaluate
rhe reasonableness of management’s conclusions.

We evaluated in-counfry management’'s Ffax exposures
assessment reports for consistency with reports prepared

by Group management and noted no material
inconsistencies.
Based on our procedures performed above, we

independently assessed rhe appropriateness of conclusions
reached by management, and the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. We further inspected correspondence
received by management from the tax authorities, external
fax advisers and exfternal legal counsel fo evaluate the
appropriateness of management’s conclusions. We did not
identify any matters requiring further consideration.

Legal and regulatory exposures

We held discussions with management fo evaluate
management’s assessment of the pofential outcome of
regulatory exposures as a result of applicable legislation,
regulations and requirements prevalent in the jurisdictions
in which the Group operates.

We also discussed with management the facts and
circumstances surrounding fthe significant exposures of
the Group, in order to evaluate the reasonableness of
management’s conclusions.

We evaluated in-country management’s exposures
assessment reports for consistency with reports prepared
by group management and noted no material
inconsisftencies.

Based on our procedures performed above, we
independently assessed the appropriateness of conclusions
reached by management and the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. We further inspected correspondence
received by management from the regulatory authorities
and external legal counsel to evaluate the appropriateness
of management’s conclusions. We did not identify any
matters requiring further consideration.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the ofher information. The
ofther information comprises the information included in
the document tifled “MTN Group Limited Annual Financial
Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020" which
includes the Direcltors’ Report, the Report of the Audit
Commifttee and the Certificate by the Company Secretary
as required by the Companies Act of South Africa, which we
obtained prior to the dafe of this auditors’ report, and the
documents ftitled “MTN Group Limited Integrated Report for
the year ended 31 December 2020" “MTN Group Limited
Governance Report 2020” “MTN Group Limited fax report
for the year ended 31 December 2020" “MTN Group Limited
social and efthics committee report”, “MTN Group Limited
King IV assessment report for the year ended 31 December
2020" "MTN Group Limited Five-year review 2020" and
“MTN Group Limited Sustainability report for the year ended
31 December 2020" which are expected to be made
available to us affter that dafte. The other information does
not include the consolidated or the separate financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial
statements does not cover Fhe other information and we do
not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of rhe consolidated and
separate financial statements, our responsibility is fo read
the ofher information identified above and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated and separate financial
stafements or our knowledge obtained in the audif, or
ofherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information rhat we obtained prior to the date of rthis
audiftors’ report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this ofher information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

(continued)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial
statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards and the requirements of fthe
Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control
as fthe directors determine is necessary fo enable the
preparation of consolidated and separate financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due fto fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial
sfatements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Group and the Company’s ability o confinue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend fto liquidate the Group
and/or the Company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alfernative buf to do so.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whetherthe consolidated and separate financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due fto fraud or error, and fo issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, butis nota guarantee rhat an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence fhe economic decisions of users faken on the
basis of fthese consolidated and separate financial
sfafements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain  professional
scepticism throughout rhe audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
fhe consolidated and separate financial statements,
whether due fto fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audift
evidence fthat is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulfing from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, infentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audift in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, bul not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group'’s and the Company’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and fthe reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
Fhe going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audil evidence obtained, wherther a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on fthe Group’s and the Company’s
ability o continue as a going concern. If we conclude that
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
affention in our audiftors’ report fo the related disclosures
in the consolidated and separate financial sfatements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, fo modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on fthe audil evidence obtained
up fo rhe date of our auditors’ report. However, future
evenfts or conditions may cause the Group and/or
Company to cease fo continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated and separate financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
and separate financial statements represent the
underlying fransactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
fhe financial information of the entities or business
activities within the group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
fhe direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

(continued)

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and fiming of the audit and
significant audit  findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal confrol that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and o communicate with Fthem all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
rhoughtto bear on ourindependence, and where applicable,
actions taken fo eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From rhe matters communicated with the directors, we
deftermine those matters that were of most significance in
fhe audit of the consolidated and separate financial
stafements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our audiftor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
abouf the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we defermine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because fhe adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected fo oufweigh fthe public
interest benefits of such communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS

In ferms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette
Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report rthat
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. and SizweNftsalubaGobodo
Grant Thornton Inc. have been the auditors of MTN Group
Limited for 27 years and 18 years, respectively.

W he .
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Direcftor: SN Madikane
Registered Audiftor

Johannesburg
9 March 2021

Coovelkdisalobede Gract Therubm T o

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
Director: DH Manana
Registered Audiftor

Johannesburg
9 March 2021
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for rhe year ended 31 December 2020

Restated?
2020 2019
Nore Rm Rm
Revenue 2.1,2.2 179 361 151 460
Ofher income 2.3 99 471
Direct network and technology operating costs (28 208) (22 121)
Costs of handsets and other accessories (11 093) (11 929)
Interconnect and roaming costs (10 992) (9 897)
Staff costs 2.4 (12 741) (10 597)
Selling, distribution and marketing expenses (21 158) (18 574)
Government and regulatory costs (6 823) (5 695)
Impairment and write-down of frade receivables and confract assefs 2.4 (2 169) (729)
Other operating expenses (9 584) (9 199)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 51 (22 704) (21 492)
Depreciation of right-of-use assefts 6.5.4 (7 204) (5 828)
Amortisation of infangible assefts 5.2 (5743) (5138)
Impairment of goodwill and investment in joint ventures 5.2,9.2 (1 065) (342)
Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in joint ventures and associates? 9.2,94 6129 1039
Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale 9.4 (1510) -
Operating profit 2.4 44 595 31429
Finance income 2.5 1493 1873
Finance costs 2.5 (19 726) (17 057)
Nefl moneftary gain 1582 787
Share of results of associates and joint ventures after fax 9.2 1142 705
Profit before Fax 29 086 17 737
Income fax expense 3.1 (9 439) (6 908)
Profit after Fax 19 647 10 829
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 17 022 9 100
Non-controlling interests 2625 1729
19 647 10 829
Basic earnings per share (cents) 2.6 946 506
Diluted earnings per share (cents) 2.6 936 498

! Restated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for details of restatements.
2 Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in joint ventures and associates was included in other income in 2019 and has been disaggregated in 2020 and
comparative numbers have been re-presented accordingly.
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

Profit after tax

Other comprehensive income after Fax:

Items that may be and/or have been reclassified to profit or loss:

Net investment hedges

Foreign exchange movement on hedging instruments

Deferred and current fax

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations including the effect
of hyperinflation?

Gains/(losses) arising during the year

Reclassification of foreign currency translation differences on loss of confrol and joint
control

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income? 3
(Losses)/gains arising during the year

Other comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

! Restated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for details of restatements.
2 This component of other comprehensive income (OCl) does not attrack any tax.

2020
Rm

19 647

5243
(878)
(1219)

341

6121
4453

1668

(622)
(622)

4621

3955
666

24 268

20977
3291
24 268

Restated?
2019
Rm

10829

(3862)
515
715

(200)

(4377)
(4 415)

38

2759
2759

(1103)

(878)
(225)

9726
8222

1504
9726

* Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) mainly relates to the Group's investment in IHS Holding Limited (IHS Group)

and Jumia Technologies AG (Jumia) (nofe 7.2).
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alF 31 December 2020

Resrtated! Restated?
31 December 1 January
2020 2019 2019
Nore Rm Rm Rm
ASSETS
Non-current assets 235 166 226 029 229121
Property, plant and equipment 5.1 100 576 98 312 100 432
Infangible assefs and goodwill 5.2 39 069 36 866 40 331
Right-of-use assels 6.5 46 156 44 984 45 642
Inveskments 7.2 28518 28 555 24 025
Investment in associates and joint ventures 9.2 10 306 8 764 11884
Mobile Money deposits 4.6 329 - -
Loans and other non-current receivables 7.3 1581 1179 1334
Capiftalised contract costs 2.2 1194 1192 998
Confracl assefts 2.2 1082 1107 773
Deferred tax assets 3.2 6 355 5070 3702
Current assetls 109 760 75 444 69 644
Inventories 4.1 1534 1717 2 995
Trade and ofher receivables 4.2 27 216 24 495 26 047
Contract assefts 2.2 2610 2761 2698
Taxaftion assels 3.3 3034 2 909 2974
Current investrments 7.4 9 809 4 391 4 455
Derivative assefts - 75 265
Restricted cash 4.3 6 888 2042 2153
Mobile Money deposits 4.6 27 679 15315 12 835
Cash and cash equivalents 4.4 30990 21739 15222
Non-current assetls held for sale? 9.2,9.4.3 4016 838 2 759
Total assets 348 942 302 311 301524
EQUITY
Ordinary share capital and share premium 8.1 36 929 36 929 36 929
Refained earnings 71 263 57 863 58 448
Other reserves 8.2 (5 319) (10 895) (10 578)
Attributable to equity holders of the Company 102 873 83 897 84 799
Non-controlling interests 9.5 3352 2203 3427
Total equity 106 225 86 100 88 226
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 133 334 132 372 125 248
Borrowings 6.1 78 457 78 457 72 563
Lease liabilities 6.5 43 753 42271 42 052
Deferred ftax liabilities 3.2 9909 10 403 9 497
Other non-current liabilities 6.2 503 865 701
Provisions 6.3 712 376 435
Current liabilities 108 299 83 839 88 050
Trade and ofher payables 4.5 41 880 36 630 47 696
Mobile Money payables 4.6 28 008 15315 12 835
Contract liabilities 2.2 6 707 6211 5862
Provisions 6.3 2520 2 364 2237
Taxation liabilities 3.3 5657 3419 3471
Borrowings 6.1 17 438 15691 12 183
Lease liabilities 6.5 5728 4 056 3303
Derivative liabilities 7 21 208
Bank overdrafts 4.4 354 132 255
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets
held for sale? 9.4.3 1084 - -
Total liabilities 242 717 216211 213298
Total equity and liabilities 348 942 302 311 301 524

! Restated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for details of restatements.
20n 25 February 2021, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, MTN Syria was placed under judicial guardianship. Please refer to note 9.4.3 for
further details in relation to this development.
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Nofe

Balance at 1 January 2019

as previously reported

Adjustment on change in

accounting policy 11
Restated balance at

1January 2019

Total comprehensive income!

Profit after rax*

Ofther comprehensive income

after rax?

Transactions with owners of

the Company:

Redemption of MTN Nigeria

preference shares 9.4
Reclassification of reserves

on sale of Amadeus

Share-based payment

fransactions 8.4
Share of other reserves of

joint ventures

Dividends declared 8.3
Ofher movements

Restated balance at

31 December 2019

Toftal comprehensive income

Profit after rax

Ofher comprehensive income

affer rax

Opening reserve adjustfment

for hyperinflation 1.5.5
Transactions with owners

of the Company:

Gain on disposal of shares in

MTN Zambia 9.4
Reclassification of reserves

on sale of Jumia

Shared-based payment

fransactions 8.4
Dividends declared 8.3
Ofher movements

Balance at 31 December 2020

skafements

N\ 03 “

Company financial

Atftributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital
Rm

*

Share
premium
Rm

36 929

36 929

36 929

Refained
earnings
Rm

56 300
2148

58 448
9 100
9100

(268)

(9362)
(55)

57 863
17 022
17 022

3677

(688)

(6 393)
(218)

71 263

! Restfated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for defails of restatements.

* Amount less than R1 million.

Other
reserves
Rm

(8 430)
(2 148)

(10 578)
(878)

(878)

268
331
(81)

43

(10 895)
3955

3955

180
688
695

58
(5319)

Non-

controlling

Total interesrs
Rm Rm

84 799 3427
84 799 3427
8222 1504
9 100 1729
(878) (225)

- (1243)

331 -
(81) -

(9 362) (1477)
(12) (8)

83 897 2203
20977 3291
17 022 2625
3955 666
3677 -
180 29
695 -

(6 393) (2131)
(160) (40)
102 873 3352

Total
equity
Rm

88 226

88 226
9726
10 829

(1103)

(1 243)

331

(81)
(10 839)
(20)

86 100
24 268
19 647

4621

3677

209

695
(8 524)
(200)

106 225
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for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Nofe Rm Rm
CASH FLOWS GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 2.7 78 580 55197
Interest received 1305 1196
Interest paid (13 576) (13 014)
Income fax paid 3.3 (8 404) (7 640)
Dividends received from associates 223 227
Dividends received from joint ventures 385 323
Ner cash generated from operating activities 58 513 36 289
CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (23 502) (23 416)
Acquisition of infangible assels (6 678) (3 624)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and intangible assefts 80 62
Increase in non-current investments and joint venture (260) (71)
Proceeds from sale of investments in associaftes 9.2,9.4.2 8962 -
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 2.3 - 1152
Proceeds from sale of investment in Jumia 2315 -
Decrease in loan receivables 25 942
(Purchase)/realisation of bonds, treasury bills and foreign deposits (8116) 396
Increase in restricted cash (6 388) (191)
Decrease in restricted cash 103 179
Other investing activities (53) 29
Nel cash used in investing activities (33512) (24 542)
CASH FLOWS USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings 2.8 22551 35013
Repayment of borrowings 2.8 (22 655) (23 662)
Repayment of lease liabilities 2.9 (4 998) (3417)
Dividends paid fo equity holders of the Company (6 462) (9 352)
Dividends paid fo hon-controlling interests (2 093) (1 460)
Redemption of MTN Nigeria preference shares 9.4.1 - (1243)
Other financing activities (48) (219)
Ner cash used in financing activities (13 705) (4 340)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 11 296 7 407
Nef cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 21 607 14 967
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents (2179) (1 300)
Nel monetary gain/(loss) on cash and cash equivalents 36 (82)
(Increase)/decrease in cash classified as held for sale 9.4.3 (124) 615
Ner cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4.4 30 636 21607
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS

Basis of preparation

The Group financial statements of MTN Group Limited (the Company) comprise the Company and its subsidiaries and
the Group's interest in associates and joint ventures and controlled structured entities (fogether referred fo as the
Group and individually as Group entities).

The Group financial statements and Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporfing Standards (IFRS) asissued by the Infernational Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interprefations
as issued by rhe IFRS Infterpretations Committee (IFRIC), and comply with the South African Institute of Chartered
Accountant (SAICA) Financial Reporting Guides as issued by the Accounting Practices Commifttee (APC), Financial
Reporfting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC), the Johannesburg Stock
Exchange (JSE) Listings Requirements and the requirements of the South African Companies Aclh, No 71 of 2008 (the
Companies Act). The Group and the Company have adopted all new accounting sfandards and interprefations rthat
became effective in the current reporting period.

A number of new standards and/or interpretations are effective from 1 January 2020. These had no material effect on
the Group’s or Company’s financial statements. In addition, the Group changed its accounting policy with regards to the
method applied in determining the amount of foreign currency translation reserves (FCTR) fo be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of a foreign operation during the current financial year.

Refer to note 11 for defails of the change in accounting policy.

The financial sfatements have been prepared on the historical cost basis adjusted for the effects of inflafion where
entities operate in hyperinflationary economies and for certain financial instruments that have been measured at fair
value, where applicable.

The Iranian, Sudanese, South Sudanese and Syrian economies are considered to be hyperinflationary. Accordingly, the
results, cash flows and financial position of the Group’s subsidiaries, MTN Sudan Company Limited (MTN Sudan), MTN
South Sudan Limited (MTN South Sudan), MTN Syria and the Group’s joint venture, Irancell Telecommunication
Company Services (PJSC) (Irancell) have been expressed in terms of the measuring unit current at the reporting date.

Amounts are rounded fo the nearest million with the exception of earnings per share and the related number of shares
(nofte 2.6), number of ordinary shares (note 8.1), share-based payments (note 8.4) and directors’ emoluments and
interests (note 10.2).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management fo make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Information about significant areas of estimation,
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies thal have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are included in note 1.5.

Going concern

The Group's and the Company’s forecasts and projections, faking account of reasonably possible changes in trading
performance, show rthat the Group and the Company should be able to operate within their current funding levels info
the foreseeable future.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and its subsidiaries have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The financial stafements therefore
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

Principal accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out on the following
pages and in the related notes to the Group financial stfatements and should be read in conjunction with the financial
definitions disclosed on pages 151 to 153 of the financial statements. Where applicable, the principal accounting
policies applied in the Company financial stafements are consistent with those applied in the Group financial statements.
The principal accounting policies applied are consistent with those adopted in the prior year, except as stated above.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Principal accounting policies (conftinued)

Consolidation

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is obtained by the Group.
A business is defined as an integrated set of activities and assefs that is capable of being conducted and managed for
the purpose of providing goods or services to customers, generating investment income (such as dividends or interest)
or generating other income from ordinary activities. The consideration transferred is measured at the fair value of the
assefs given, equily instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the acquisition date. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss. Identifiable assets acquired, and liabilities and conftingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date,
irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interests.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration fransferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition date fair values of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment,
this amount is negative, such negative amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

When the Group ceases to have control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and
any related non-controlling interests. Any refained interest in the entity is remeasured fo its fair value. Any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in OCI in respect of thal entity are accounted for as if the Group had direcfly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. The remaining
ofher reserves related to that entity are fransferred fo retained earnings.

Consolidation of subsidiaries
The Group financial statements incorporate the financial statements of MTN Group Limited and all its subsidiaries and
controlled structured entities (SEs) for the reporting date 31 December 2020 on the basis outlined below.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group (acquisition date) and are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases (disposal date). The Group controls an entity when it is exposed or has
rights to variable refurns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability fo affect those refurns through its
power over the entity. When assessing whether control exists, the Group considers all existing substantive rights that
result in the current ability to direct relevant activities.

All infercompany fransactions, balances and unrealised gains or losses on fransactions befween Group companies are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred.

Where necessary, adjusfments are made to the financial stafements of subsidiaries to align any difference in accounting
policies with Fhose of the Group.

The Group does not consolidate entities where it owns more than half of the issued ordinary share capital if the
contractual agreements are such thal other shareholders have substantive rights that provide authority over the
relevant activities of the entities.

The Company accounts for investments in subsidiaries at cost, less accumulated impairment losses.

Non-controlling inferests

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, non-controlling interests in the acquiree may initially be measured either at fair
value, or at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportion of the net identifiable assefs acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed.

Non-controlling shareholders are treated as equity participants; therefore, all acquisitions of non-controlling interests
or disposals by the Group of its interests in subsidiaries, where confrol is maintained subsequent to the disposal, are
accounted for as equily fransactions. Consequently, the difference befween the fair value of the consideration
transferred and rthe carrying amount of a non-controlling interest purchased or disposed of, is recorded in equity.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s
equity.

Total comprehensive income is aftributed o non-controlling interests even if this resulfs in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (confinued)

Principal accounting policies (conftinued)

Foreign currency

Functional and presentation currency

Ifems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the entity’s functional
currency. The Group financial statements are presented in South African rand, which is the functional and presentation
currency of the Company.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency fransactions are franslated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
fransactions. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulfing from the seftlement of such transactions and from the
translation af reporting date exchange rates of monetary assefs and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, are
recognised in profit or loss.

Translation of foreign operations

The results, cash flows and financial position of Group entities which are not accounted for as entities operating in

hyperinflationary economies and that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency of the Group

are franslated info the presentation currency as follows:

+ Assels and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition, are franslated at rates of
exchange ruling at the reporting date;

+ Specific fransactions in equity are franslated af rates of exchange ruling at the fransaction dates;

+ Income and expenditure and cash flow items are translated at weighted average exchange rates for the period or
franslated at exchange rates at the date of the fransaction, where applicable; and

« Foreign exchange franslation differences are recognised as OCl and accumulated in the FCTR, except to the extent
fhe difference is allocated to non-controlling interests.

The results, cash flows and financial position of the Group entities which are accounted for as entities operating in
hyperinflationary economies and that have functional currencies different from the presentation currency of the Group
are translated into the presentation currency of their immediate parent at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting
date. As the presentation currency of the Group is thal of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts are
not adjusted for changes in the price level or exchange rates in the current financial year.

An entity may have a monetary item that is receivable from a foreign operation. An item for which seftlement is neither
planned nor likely fo occur in the foreseeable future is, in substance, a part of the entity’s nel investment in fhat foreign
operation. On consolidation, exchange differences arising from fthe franslation of the nel investment in foreign
operations are faken fo OCI and accumulated in the FCTR.

The exchange rates relevant to the Group are disclosed in note 7.6.

The Group implemented a voluntary accounting policy change relating to the release of FCTR from the step-by-step
merthod fo the direct merhod. Refer fo note 11.1 for defails.

Disposal of foreign operations

On disposal of a foreign operation, all exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of thal operation
aftributable to the equity holders of the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. The amount of FCTR reclassified to profit
or loss is calculated based on the appreciation or devaluation in the functional currency of the foreign operation
disposed against the functional currency of the Company.

Exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of a monetary item that is part of the Group’s nef invesfment in
a foreign operation, are not reclassified o profit or loss on settlement of the monetary item.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences is reafttributed to non-controlling interests
and is not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals, the accumulated exchange differences are
reclassified fo profit or loss.

For more details on judgements applied in the selection of exchange rates in countries operating in dual exchange rate
economies please refer fo note 1.5.3.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Principal accounting policies (confinued)

Hyperinflation

The financial statements (including comparative amounts) of the Group entities whose functional currencies are the
currencies of hyperinflationary economies are adjusted in terms of the measuring unit current af the end of the
reporting period.

As the presentation currency of the Group or the Company is that of a non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative
amounts are not adjusted for changes in the price level in the current year. Differences between these comparative
amounts and current year hyperinflation adjusted equity balances are recognised in OCI.

The carrying amounts of non-monefary assets and liabilities are adjusted to reflect the change in the general price
index from the date of acquisition to the end of the reporting period. On initial application of hyperinflation prior period
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the restated
amount of a non-monetary item exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on the nel monetary position are recognised in profit or loss.

All items recognised in the income statement are restated by applying the change in the general price index from the
dates when the ifems of income and expenses were initially earned or incurred.

At the beginning of the first period of application, the components of equity, except retained earnings, are restated by
applying a general price index from fthe dates fhe components were contributed or ofherwise arose. These restatements
are recognised directly in equity as an adjustment fo opening retained earnings. Restated refained earnings are derived
from all other amounts in the restated statement of financial position. If on initial application of hyperinflation
accounting, the restated value of the non-monetary assefs exceeds their recoverable amount, the amount in excess of
the recoverable amountis recorded as a reduction in refained earnings. At the end of the first period and in subsequent
periods, all components of equity are restated by applying a general price index from the beginning of the period or the
darte of confribution, if later.

All items in fhe statement of cash flows are expressed in ferms of the general price index at the end of the reporting
period.

The Iranian, Sudanese, South Sudanese and Syrian economies have been classified as hyperinflationary. Accordingly,
the results, cash flows and financial position of the Group'’s subsidiaries, MTN Sudan, MTN South Sudan, MTN Syria and
the Group's joint venture, Irancell, have been expressed in terms of the measuring unit current at the reporting date. For
further details, refer to note 1.5.5.

New accounting pronouncements

The standards and amendments listed below will be effective in future reporting periods. It is expected that the Group
will adopt the pronouncements on their respective effective dates. The adoption of the new accounting standards and
amendments is not expected to have a material impact on the Group results.

Standard Effective date
Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendments to IFRS 16) 1 June 2020
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7,

IFRS4 and IFRS 16) 1 January 2021
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37) 1 January 2022
Annual Improvements to IFRS 2018 — 2020 1 January 2022
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 1 January 2022
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1) 1January 2023
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (IFRS 17) 1January 2023

The Group has insurance cell captives which meet the definition of insurance contracts and fall under the scope of
IFRS 17. In addition to the Group recognising the liability for incurred claims, the Group will measure its insurance
confract liabilities for the remaining coverage period at initial recognition as the:
« fofal of the fulfilment cash flows which comprises of:

— fhe estimated future cash flows;

— an adjustment to reflect the fime value of money; and

— an explicift risk adjustment for non-financial risk; as well as
« fhe confractual service margin (unearned profit).

The fulfilment cash flows will be remeasured on a current basis each reporting period. The conftractual service margin
will be recognised over the coverage period. The statement of profit or loss will be impacted as insurance revenue,
insurance service expense and insurance finance income are recognised and disclosed.

The adoption of this standard will result in greater disclosures within the Group, however, the recognition and
measurement of the adoption are nol expected to be material.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions

The Group makes judgements, estimates and assumptions concerning the future when preparing its financial
statements. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and
in any future periods affected. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

This note should be read in conjunction with the principal accounting policies’ disclosed in note 1.3.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group fests goodwill for impairment on an annual basis or whenever there is an impairment indicator identified by
management, in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 5.2. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units (CGUs) have been determined based on value in use calculations, being the estimated future cash
flows discounted fo their present value using an appropriate discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
fhe fime value of money and the risks specific fo the assel. These calculations are performed internally by the Group
and require the use of estimates and assumptions.

Source of estimation uncertainty

The inpul factors most sensitive to change are management estimates of future cash flows based on budgets and
forecasts, growrh rates, terminal rates and discount rates. Further detail on fhese assumptions have been disclosed in
note 5.2. The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin
and assessing whether the changes in input factors result in any of the goodwill allocated to an appropriate
CGU being impaired. Goodwill impairment amounted fo R998 million in the current year (2019: Rnil), refer fo note 5.2.

IHS Group fair value through other comprehensive income

Significant judgement — investment classification

The Group has an economic infterest in IHS Group of approximately 29%, comprising class A voting shares and class B
non-voting shares. An investor is presumed to have significant influence over an investee when it owns 20% of the
investee, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is nof the case. Per the IHS Group shareholders’ agreement, the
Group is not entitled fo appoint a Board member. In addition, IHS Group has the right to decide what strategic, financial
and operational information is shared with the Group.

As a resull of these restrictions, the Group’s vote is limited to matters which relate to fundamental changes in the
business or which apply in exceptional circumstances and are considered to be protective in nature. The Group's rights
do nol constitute significant influence to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of IHS Group.
Consequently, the Group accounts for its investment in IHS Group as an equity instrument held at FVOCI (note 7.2).

Source of estimation uncertainty — invesfment measurement

Given rhe confidentiality restrictions in the shareholders’ agreement with IHS Group, the Group does not have access
to the IHS Group business plans or 2020 actual financial information. Any estimated earnings used fo derive the existing
fair value are therefore solely based on the Group’s management assumptions and market estimates on financial
growth, currency movements, costs and performance. The investment has been classified at level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy for the current period in ferms of IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement (IFRS 13) (refer fo nofte 7.1.3).

Dual exchange rates

Significant judgement

The Group operates in a number of foreign jurisdictions that have multiple quoted exchange rates. When several quoted
exchange rates are available in a foreign jurisdiction, the Group uses judgement to determine the rate at which the
future cash flows represented by foreign-denominated transactions or balances could have been settled if those cash
flows had occurred at the measurement date in these foreign entities. For the translation of rhe results, cash flows and
financial position of the foreign entities into the presentation currency of the Group, the Group uses the rate at which
dividends can be remitted. If exchangeability befween two currencies is tfemporarily lacking, the rate used is rhe first
subsequent rate at which exchanges could be made.

In August 2018, the Central Bank of Iran (CBI) clarified that all future dividends and all future loan repayments can be
expected to be repatriated ar the SANA rate. Judgement was required in defermining the quoted foreign exchange rate
fo be used for franslating and recording foreign currency transactions and balances and converting the equity-
accounted resulfs of Irancell. Since the introduction of the SANA rate, the Group has equity accounted the results and
translated any receivables from Irancell at the SANA rate. However, the Group confinues to franslate any receivables
that have previously been approved by the Iranian government under the Foreign Invesfment Promotion and Protection
Act (FIPPA) af the CBI rate based on confirmation from FIPPA that the CBI rate will continue to apply o these receivables.
All receivables that arose after the infroduction of the SANA rate are translated at the SANA rate.

Further information on the relevant exchange rates is provided in note 7.6.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Income raxes

Source of estimation uncertainty

The Group is subject fo income taxes in humerous jurisdictions. As a result, significant judgement is required in
deftermining the Group’s provision for income taxes. There are numerous calculations and transactions for which the
ultimate tax posiftion is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.

The Group recognises fax liabilities for anticipated fax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
payable. In determining whether an interpretation and/or application of the various tax rules may resultin a dispute of
which the oufcome may not be favourable to the Group, the Group seeks, where relevant, expert advice to determine
whether an unfavourable outcome is probable or possible. Where payment is defermined to be possible but not probable
the fax exposure is disclosed as a conftingent liability, refer to note 6.6.

Where the final outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will impact the current and deferred tax in the period in which such defermination is made.

Deferred tax assets — source of estimation uncertainty

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused rax losses, unused fax credits and deductible temporary differences (as
applicable) to the extent that it is probable rhat future taxable profits will be available against which the deferred tax
assefs can be used. The Group is required fo make significant esfimates in assessing whether future faxable profits will
be available.

Future taxable profits are defermined based on business plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group and the probable
reversal of taxable femporary differences in future. Deferred tax assefls are reviewed at each reporting date and
are reduced fo the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. Such reductions are
reversed when the probability of future ftaxable profits improves. The Group's recognised and unrecognised
deferred ftax assefs for the current year amounted to R6 355 million (2019: R5 070 million) and R5 916 million
(2019: R5 489 million) respectively. Refer fo note 3.2.

Hyperinflation

Significant judgement

The Group exercises significant judgement in defermining the onset of hyperinflation in countries in which it operates
and whether the functional currency of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures is the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy.

Various characteristics of the economic environment of each country are faken info account. These characteristics
include, buf are not limited fo, whether:

- the general population prefers fo keep its wealth in non-monetary assets or in a relatively stable foreign currency;

« prices are quoted in a relatively stable foreign currency;

- sales or purchase prices take expected losses of purchasing power during a short credit period info account;

- infterest rates, wages and prices are linked to a price index; and

« the cumulative inflation rate over three years is approaching, or exceeds, 100%.

The analysis of the cumulative inflation rate over three years resulted in the Group considering whether Yemen's
economy was hyperinflationary. Based on the available information, the Group concluded that this economy is currently
not hyperinflationary.

Management exercises judgement as fo when a restatement of the financial statements of a Group entity becomes
necessary. Following management’s assessment, the Group’s subsidiaries, MTN Sudan, MTN South Sudan, MTN Syria
and the Group's joint venture, Irancell, have been accounted for as entities operating in hyperinflationary economies.
The results, cash flows and financial positions of MTN Sudan, MTN Soufth Sudan, MTN Syria and Irancell have been
expressed in ferms of the measuring units current af the reporting date.

MTN Sudan

The economy of Sudan was assessed fo be hyperinflationary during 2018, and hyperinflation accounting has been
applied since.

The general price index used as published by the International Monetary Fund is as follows:

Date Base year General price index Inflation rate (%)

31 December 2020 2007 6992 199

The cumulative inflation rate over three years as at 31 December 2020 is 712%. The average adjustment factor used for
2020 was 2,1.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Hyperinflation (continued)

MTN South Sudan

The economy of South Sudan was assessed to be hyperinflationary effective 1 January 2016, and hyperinflation
accounting has been applied since.

The general price index used as published by the International Monetary Fund is as follows:

Date Base year General price index Inflation rate (%)

31 December 2020 2011 9839 20

The cumulative inflation rate over three years as at 31 December 2020 is 119%. The average adjustment factor used for
2020 was 1,1.

MTN Syria
The economy of Syria was assessed fo be hyperinflationary effective 1 January 2014, and hyperinflation accounting
has been applied since.

Until 30 June 2017, hyperinflation accounting was applied by estimating Syria’s inflation rate using the change in the
US$:SYP exchange rate. The SYP started strengthening against the US$ from October 2017 onwards. Syria’s 2017 to
2020 estimated inflation rate using the change in US$:SYP exchange rate, after the SYP strengthened, was negative,
i.e. fhere was deflation.

However, the characteristics of Syria’s economy continue to indicate thal Syria’s economy is hyperinflationary.
Recognising deflation was nof considered appropriate, due to lack of sufficient reliable inflation data. Therefore, a
hyperinflation adjustment factor of one was applied from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2019. In March 2020, the SYP
weakened against US$ by 61% resulting in an average adjustment factor used for the period from 1 January 2020 o
31 May 2020 of 1,1.

On 31 May 2020, MTN Syria was classified as a disposal group held for sale (note 9.4) and was remeasured fo ifs fair

value less cost to sell and the Group has therefore discontinued adjusting MTN Syria’s net assefs for hyperinflation
from fhis date onwards.

Date Base year General price index Inflation rate (%)

31 December 2020 2014 634 187

The cumulative inflation rate over three years as at 31 December 2020 is 188%.

Irancell

The economy of Iran was assessed fo be hyperinflationary effective 1 January 2020, and hyperinflation accounting was
applied for the current financial year?!. Upon first application of hyperinflation, net prior period gains of R3 677 million
were recognised directly in equity.

! Hyperinflation accounting was previously applied in Iran, up until 30 June 2015.

The general price index used as published by the International Monetary Fund is as follows:

Date Base year General price index Inflation rate (%)

31 December 2020 2020 301 35%

The cumulative inflation rate over three years as at 31 December 2020 is 162%. The average adjustment factor used for
2020 was 1,2.

The cumulative impact of adjusting the Group’s results for the effects of hyperinflation is set oul below:

2020 2019
Rm Rm

Income statement
Increase in revenue 2925 905
Increase /(decrease) in operating profit 418 (316)
Nel monetary gain 1582 787
Decrease in share of results of associates and joint ventures affter fax (69) (466)
Increase/(decrease) in profit after fax 869 (251)
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1.5
1.5.6

1.5.7

1.5.8

1.5.9

1.5.10

ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICALJUDGEMENTS (continued)

Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Consolidation of MTN Zakhele Futhi

Significant judgement

MTN implemented its BBBEE transaction through a separate legal entity, MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited (MTN Zakhele
Furhi) during the 2016 financial year. MTN Zakhele Futhi is a structured entity with the sole business of holding shares
of MTN Group Limited and administering the associated funding of these shares.

The Group was involved in structuring MTN Zakhele Futhi, determining the level of its debr and negotiating the related
deblt covenants. In addition, the Group holds a call opftion which, if exercised on rhe occurrence of a trigger event,
entitles it fo setfle MTN Zakhele Futhi's debt with the third-party funders. This gives the Group the ability fo manage the
creditrisk of MTN Zakhele Futhi and consequently, the related BBBEE credentials which are dependent on the continued
success of MTN Zakhele Futhi. As these activities are considered to be the relevant activities of MTN Zakhele Futhi, it is
consolidated by the Group.

Contingent liabilities

Significant judgement

The Group applies judgement in assessing the potential oufcome of uncertain legal and regulatory matters. The Group
does not recognise contingent liabilities in the statement of financial position until future events indicate that it is
probable that an outflow of resources will fake place and a reliable estimate can be made, at which time a provision or
a faxation liability is recognised. The Group has disclosed contingent liabilities where economic outflows are considered
possible bul not probable. Refer fo note 6.6.

Accounting for MoMo deposilts and payables

Significant judgement

Limited accounting guidance exists in IFRS relating fo Mobile Money (MoMo) customers’ balances held with banks. In
the Group's larger MoMo markets, as the MoMo products mature and the regulatory and legal positions are codified, the
underlying exposure fo its MoMo customers is clarified ulfimately resulting in the MoMo balances being recorded on the
statement of financial position.

As the Group operates in a number of markefts where the legal and regulatory position relating fo MoMo has not been
clarified, the judgement was made fto recognise all MoMo liabilities, representing the obligation which exists in the
ordinary course fto refund the customer for deposits made, and the related MoMo balances held with the banks on the
statement of financial position. For further details of the Group’s MoMo policy refer fo note 4.6.

MTN SA revenue recognition
Significant judgement
On 1 May 2020, MTN SA’s new long-form roaming agreement (phase 2 agreement) with Cell C became effective.

Based on Cell C's liquidity issues, the Group has applied judgement in assessing that it is not probable that it will receive
the consideration to which it is enftitled under the phase 2 agreement, and therefore the agreement does not
meel the definition of a confract for revenue recognition purposes in ferms of IFRS 15 Revenue from Confracts with
Cusfomers (IFRS 15). As a resull, MTN SA did not recognise all revenue accrued on satisfied performance obligations
during the period under review. Revenue was only recognised on completed services based on the non-refundable
consideration received.

MTN SA recorded revenue of R1 992 million from Cell C during the year ended 31 December 2020. As at 31 December
2020, R525 million of revenue in relation to satisfied performance obligations remains unrecognised. Cell C continues
fo work on its recapifalisation and liquidity challenges. When Cell C has been adequately recapitalised and start paying
significantly all the amounts due to MTN, there will be a change in the Group’s accounting treafment of Cell C roaming
revenues back fo an accounting methodology of recognising revenue as performance obligations are satisfied.

Leases

Significant judgement — Renewal and termination options

The Group applies judgement in determining the lease rerm by considering all facts and circumstances that create an
economic incentive fo exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option and whether it is reasonably
likely that opfrions will be exercised by considering factors such as how far in the future an option occurs, the Group's
business planning cycle and past history of terminating/not renewing leases. Extension options (or periods affter
termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). The average lease term for recognised leases is seven fo eight years. Refer fo note 6.5 for further derails.

Significant judgement — Lease and non-lease components

A number of lease contfracts include both lease and non-lease components (e.g. maintenance, security, efc.). The Group
has not elected the practical expedient to account for non-lease components as part of its lease liabilities and right-of-
use assels. Therefore, non-lease components are accounted for as operating expenses and are recognised in profit or
loss as they are incurred. The Group applies judgement in allocating the consideration in the confract fo each lease and
non-lease component based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices of each
component are based on available markel prices.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organization officially declared the novel coronavirus, COVID-19, a pandemic.
Governments across the world have taken extfreme measures to curb the spread of the virus by infroducing various
forms of social distancing, lockdown regimes, and forms of monetary and fiscal stimulus. These measures impacted the
financial position of individuals, small and medium-sized businesses, as well as corporates to varying degrees, thereby
significantly impacting economies across the Group's footprint.

The effects of COVID-19, and other macro developments, have also increased financial risks such as exchange rate
volatility, economic growrh and capital flows in the Group’s markets. During the past year, credit ratings agencies have
downgraded sovereign credil ratings of the two largest markets, South Africa and Nigeria. The Group conftinues to
monitor these developments, assess Fhe implications and manage its responses in order to mitigate the
related risks.

Amid the nearer-term risks and uncertainties of the impact of COVID-19 on marketfs, the Group remains focused on
preservation of cash and maintaining a healthy liquidity position and strengthening its operational and financial
position. In this regard it has implemented cost control measures, focusing on critical expenses and enhanced oversight
of expendifture fhat support margin management and liquidity across the business.

With the effects of COVID-19 being felt around the globe, there is also an impact on the telecommunications sector.
The restrictions placed on movement resulted in people spending more time ak home for work and leisure which resulted
in the use of higher amounts of data. This has been the impact in all our regions whereby revenue has increased in
local currency.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, there has been direct and indirect financial effects caused by the COVID-19
pandemic. We highlight the following relevant disclosures provided in the notes to the Annual Financial Stafements
which include the effects of the pandemic:

e During the past year, the Group has conftinued fo provide telecommunication services across ifs foolprint as an
essential service. The Group’s various revenue streams per operation are disclosed in the operating segments (refer
fo note 2). There has been revenue growth in nefwork services resulting from strong growth in data revenue, digital
and financial technology (fintech) services and interconnect. Conversely, revenue from sale of devices and roaming
services have slowed due fo the economic strain placed on our customers and the lockdown regimes. The resilience
of the national networks, the headroom available on the networks and the allocation of temporary additional
spectrum enabled the Group to meet the surge in dafta volume driven by work from home proftocols and social
distancing.

« The Group's capital expenditure (capex) focus is to ensure the resilience and capacity of its nefworks, which has been
maintained despite disruptions in the supply chain and challenges in rolling out coverage under lockdown rules and
fhe Group's emphasis on liquidity for the period. As lockdown regulations liffed in our markets fowards the end of the
year, the Group was able fo resume a more regular rollout of nefwork investment as restrictions on movement and
logistical bottlenecks have eased. This enabled increased headroom in our networks, notably in South Africa and
Nigeria among our larger markefs.

e Liquidity management remained a focus during this period. As at 31 December 2020 the Group had access to
undrawn borrowings of R33,3 billion (December 2019: R33,8 billion) as disclosed in note 6. Holdco! cash balances
including restricted cash and current investments was R20,6 billion as af 31 December 2020. Year to date we have
successfully fast-tracked and closed R18,2 billion in funding to mitigate refinance risk around upcoming maturities.
The Group also concluded the sale of its Ghana InterCo and Uganda InterCo fower investrments for a consideration
of R8,8 billion and continued to pay its final dividend in respect of its 2019 financial year in April 2020.

e The financial impact of the crisis has put pressure on post-paid customers and the Group’s enterprise business unit.
The following table reflects the movements for the period related fo credif risk:

31 December 31 December
2020 2019 Movement
Trade receivables and contract assefs gross carrying
amount — MTN Group R22 666 million R21 081 million 8%
Expected credit loss (ECL) allowance — MTN Group R3 637 million R2 709 million 34%
Average ECL/Impairment ratio — MTN Group 16,0% 12,9% 3,1

! Holdco comprises the Group excluding operating segments per note 2.1 and MTN GlobalConnect Solutions Limited.
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ACCOUNTING FRAMEWORK AND CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic (continued)

31 December 31 December

2020 2019 Movement
Impairment and write down of frade receivables and contract
assefs — MTN Group R2 169 million R729,1 million 197%
Impairment and write down of frade receivables —
MTN Nigeria R209 million R9,7 million 2 055%
Impairment and write down of trade receivables and contract
asselts — MTN South Africa R1 869,3 million R629,7 million 197%

The Group's exposure and management of credit risk relating fo its customers, as well as its exposure relating fo cash
and cash equivalents and MoMo deposifts placed with banks are provided in note 7. The Group has assessed fhe
potential impairment on cash balances and MoMo deposits due to the negative impact of the pandemic on financial
institutions. The nature of the bank balances and MoMo deposits are largely short term in nature comprising mainly of
current accounts and call deposits. Given the significant actions faken by central banks to improve liquidity through
monetary and fiscal interventions, the Group’s expected credit losses (ECLs) on cash balances and MoMo deposits
remained immaterial.

o Significant movements in currencies expose the Group fo foreign currency gains and losses and also impact the
Group's franslation of its resulfs into ifs rand presentation currency. The South African rand weakened against most
of the currencies of the Group’s foreign entities in the year. The Group recognised net foreign exchange losses of
R4,5 billion (December 2019: R2,4 billion). In addition, the Group recognised a foreign currency franslation gain in the
statement of comprehensive income on converting the net assets of its foreign operations. The Group's foreign
exchange gains and losses recognised in the income stafement are provided in note 2.5 and the income statement
sensitivity to exchange rates is provided in note 7. Exchange rates used in the conversion of the Group's results are
provided in note 7.6.

e The severe impact of the pandemic on oil producing economies such as Nigeria resulted in pressure on the availability
of foreign currency and limited the Group’s ability fo repatriate dividends. The Group confinued fo manage sensitivities
of variability in cash flows on its debt gearing at a head office level. Holding company debt gearing levels increased
during the year as dividend flows were restricted and the amounts in fransit have been disclosed as restricted cash
in note 4.3.

e The carrying values in a number of the Group's smaller operations and an investment in a joint venture exceeded the
recoverable amounts during 2020, which resulted in impairments recognised against the goodwill of MTN Yemen,
MTN Liberia and MTN Guinea-Bissau and an impairment in an investment in joint venture — Middle East Internef
Holding S.A.R.L (MEIH). Further details of the entities are provided in the note relating fo impairment of goodwill (note
5.2) and investment in joint ventures (note 9.2).

» The Group's valuation of its investment in IHS Group is based on international fower industry multiples relevant at
31 December 2020. In February 2020, IHS Group completed the acquisitions of approximately 1 600 fowers from Zain
in Kuwait and approximately 2 300 towers from Cell Site Solutions in Brazil, Peru and Columbia. For the current
period, IHS Group continued to operate under COVID-19 conditions and grew operationally in all markets. However,
Fhe macroeconomic environment, particularly in Nigeria, is impacted by the drop in oil prices and devaluation of
fhe Nigerian naira following the effects of COVID-19. Given the markel conditions, a combined liquidity and macro
discount of 30% (2019: liquidity discount of 10%) has been applied. The fair value was calculated based
on unobservable markef inputs including tower industry earnings multiples which dropped to befween 10x fo
13x (December 2019: 10x fo 14x). The sensitivities o the fair value estimations are provided in note 7.

e There have been no major impacts on leases and fheir related accounting impacts as a result of COVID-19. With
Felecommunications being treated as an essential service in most economies, our operaftions have continued ro
provide services to customers. The Group has nof been granted rent concessions or COVID-19 related amendments
fo lease arrangements. Similarly, the increase in teleworking has resulted in an increased demand for nefwork
capacity fo accommodate traffic.

The Group is not only focused on managing the risks brought aboul by COVID-19, bul also on the opportunities
it creates in the accelerated digitalisation it has brought about. The Group is well positioned to benefit from this
evolution, especially given its focus on growth in data, digital and financial services businesses in the execution of
ifs strategy.

The Group provided ongoing support through the MTN Global Staff Emergency Fund for employees and Y’ello Hope
packages for our customers, communities and ofher stakeholders. The extensive interventions that have been
implemented are expected to conftinue fo safeguard the sustainability of the business, its people and its cusfomers in
the prevailing challenging environment. The Group provided government relief funds, personal protective equipment,
healthcare support and contributions to food security initiatives through its foundations. Across the footprint numerous
websites have been zero-rated to provide access to education portals to enable on-going learning and health related
information. In countries like South Africa and Ghana, the Group has also supported contact fracing initiatives fo fight
the spread of COVID-19.

On 27 January 2021, MTN announced that it will be donating US$25 million to support the African Union’s COVID-19
vaccination programme. The donation will help secure COVID-19 vaccines for health workers across the continent.
MTN will recognise an expense and the related cash outflow for the donation in the 2021 financial year.

Details of ofther events after the reporting period are sef ouf in relevant notes within these Annual Financial
Statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Operating segments

The Group has identified reportable segments that are used by the Group Executive Committee (chief operating
decision maker (CODM)) to make key operating decisions, allocate resources and assess performance. The
reportable segments are largely grouped according fo their geographic locations and reporting lines fo the CODM.

The Group’s underlying operations are clustered as follows:
¢ South Africa;

« Nigeria;

¢« South and East Africa and Ghana (SEAGHA);

¢ West and Central Africa (WECA); and

« Middle East and North Africa (MENA).

South Africa and Nigeria comprise the segment information for the South African and Nigeria-based network
services providers respectively.

The SEACHA, WECA and MENA clusters comprise segment information for operations in those regions which are
also neftwork services providers in the Group. Subsequent to year-end, the Group redefined ifs reporting segments
from SEAGHA to SEA with Ghana being included in WECA.

Operating results are reporfted and reviewed regularly by the CODM and include items directly attributable fo a
segment as well as those that are affributed on a reasonable basis, whether from external fransactions or from
fransactions with ofther Group segments.

A key performance measure of reporting profit for the Group is CODM EBITDA. CODM EBITDA is defined as
earnings before finance income and finance costs (which includes gains or losses on foreign exchange fransactions
and a loss on revision of cash flows from a joint venture), fax, depreciation and amortisation, and is also presented
before recognising the following items:

e Impairment of joint venture and goodwill;

« Nel monetary gain resulting from the application of hyperinflation;

o Share of resulfs of associates and joint ventures after tax;

o Hyperinflation (nofte 1.5.5);

o Tower sale profits (nofte 2.3);

« Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in associate and joint venture (note 2.3);

o Gain on disposal of subsidiary (note 2.3); and

e Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale (note 9.4).

These exclusions have remained unchanged from the prior year, apart from the impairment loss on
remeasurement of non-current assefs held for sale.

Irancell proporfionate results are included in the segment analysis as reviewed by the CODM and excluded from
reported resulfs for revenue, CODM EBITDA and capex due fo equity accounting for joint ventures. The results of
Irancell in the segment analysis exclude the impact of hyperinflation accounting.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Operating segments (continued)
Revenue
Inter- from
connect Digital confracts
Nefwork Mobile and and with Interest Total
Revenue services devices roaming fintech Other  customers revenue revenue
2020 Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
South Africa 29 639 8449 3481 2170 1331 45 070 403 45473
Nigeria 49 054 294 5732 2341 559 57 980 - 57 980
SEAGHA 23485 332 1659 7777 781 34 034 - 34 034
Ghana 11 648 120 749 4 487 241 17 245 - 17 245
Uganda 5570 53 437 2135 125 8 320 - 8 320
Ofher SEAGHA 6267 159 473 1155 415 8 469 - 8 469
WECA 20 107 183 2581 3921 835 27 627 - 27 627
Cote d'lvoire 5697 47 1101 1472 459 8776 - 8776
Cameroon 5118 46 459 994 69 6 686 - 6 686
Other WECA 9 292 90 1021 1455 307 12 165 - 12 165
MENA 8 568 21 1228 477 129 10 423 - 10 423
Syria 2036 1 32 213 13 2295 - 2295
Sudan 2526 11 623 119 27 3306 - 3306
Other MENA 4 006 9 573 145 89 4822 - 4822
Major joint venture
- Irancell® 6 539 92 414 393 114 7 552 21 7573
Head office
companies*? 1077 - 4 553 10 11902 17 542 148 17 690
Eliminations? (166) (1) (4 661) - (11 822) (16 650) (141) (16 791)
Hyperinflation
impact 2169 11 651 66 28 2925 - 2925
Irancell revenue
exclusion (6 539) (92) (414) (393) (114) (7 552) (21) (7 573)
Consolidated
revenue 133933 9289 15 224 16 762 3743 178 951 410 179361

! Irancell proportionate results are included in the segment analysis as reviewed by the CODM. This is, however, excluded from IFRS reported
resulfs due fo equity accounting for joint ventures.
2 Head office companies consist mainly of dividends received, revenue from GlobalConnect Solutions Limited, the Group’s central financing
activities and management fees from segments.
3 The head office companies and eliminations have been disaggregated in the current year. The 2019 year has been re-presented o reflect this

disaggregation.
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2 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
2.1 Operating segments (continued)

Nefwork Mobile
Revenue services devices
2019 Rm Rm
South Africa 27 926 9017
Nigeria 39 545 88
SEAGHA 18333 315
Ghana 9275 90
Uganda 4 463 61
Other SEAGHA 4 595 164
WECA 16 240 171
Cote d'lvoire 4 535 37
Cameroon 4248 62
Ofther WECA 7 457 72
MENA 7 520 37
Syria 2745 -
Sudan 1335 5
Ofther MENA 3440 32
Major joint venture —
Irancell* 6715 104
Head office
companies?? 542 1
Eliminations3 (327) -
Hyperinflation impact 679 1
Iran revenue
exclusion (6 715) (104)
Consolidated
revenue 110 458 9630

Inter-
connect
qnd
roaming
Rm

4 381
4 995
1757
915
409
433
2280
899
457
924
1006
51

472
483

526

2 408
(2 904)
193

(526)

14116

Digital
and
fintech
Rm

2 066
1584
5983
3326
1681
976
2511
1041
571
899
343
167
69
107

539

40

23

(539)

12 550

Other
Rm
1635
484
681
214
86
381
619
405
51
163
71
23
22
26

106

12 309

(11533)

9

(106)

4275

Revenue
from
confracfs
with
customers
Rm

45 025
46 696
27 069
13 820
6 700

6 549
21821
6917
5389
9515
8977

2 986
1903
4088

7 990

15300
(14 764)
905

(7 990)

151029

(confinued)

Interest
revenue
Rm

422

24

106

(97)

(24)

431

Total
revenue
Rm

45 447
46 696
27 069
13 820
6 700
6 549
21821
6917
5389
9515
8977
2986
1903
4088

8014

15 406
(14 861)
905

(8 014)

151 460

* Irancell proportionate results are included in the segment analysis as reviewed by the CODM. This is, however, excluded from IFRS reported
resulfs due to equity accounting for joint ventures.
2 Head office companies consist mainly of dividends received revenue from GlobalConnect Solutions Limited, the Group's central financing
activities and management fees from segments.
3 The head office companies and eliminations have been disaggregated in the current year. The 2019 year has been re-presented to reflect this

disaggregation.
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2 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
2.1 Operating segments (continued)
2020 2019
Inker- Infer-

A External segment Total External segment Toral
External vs inter- revenue revenue revenue revenue revenue revenue
segment revenue Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
South Africa 45 045 428 45 473 45 237 210 45 447
Nigeria 57 355 625 57 980 46 265 431 46 696
SEAGHA 32934 1100 34 034 26 259 810 27 069
Ghana 16 697 548 17 245 13397 423 13820
Uganda 7 936 384 8320 6471 229 6 700
Other SEAGHA 8301 168 8 469 6391 158 6 549
WECA 26 761 866 27 627 21202 619 21821
Cote d'lvoire 8 643 133 8776 6 835 82 6917
Cameroon 6 440 246 6 686 5239 150 5389
Other WECA 11678 487 12 165 9128 387 9515
MENA 9781 642 10423 8 651 326 8977
Syria 2295 - 2295 2 986 - 2986
Sudan 2 804 502 3306 1634 269 1903
Ofther MENA 4 682 140 4822 4 031 57 4 088
Major joint venture —
Irancell* 7 573 - 7 573 8014 - 8014
Head office companies?3 4 557 13133 17 690 2938 12 468 15 406
Eliminations? - (16 791) (16 791) - (14 861) (14 861)
Hyperinflation impact 2928 (3) 2925 908 3) 905
Irancell revenue exclusion (7 573) - (7 573) (8 014) - (8014)
Consolidated revenue 179 361 - 179 361 151 460 - 151 460

* Irancell proportionate results are included in the segment analysis as reviewed by the CODM. This is, however, excluded from IFRS reported
results due o equity accounting for joint ventures.

2 Head office companies consist mainly of dividends received, revenue from GlobalConnect Solutions Limited, the Group's central financing
activities and management fees from segments, as well as related infer-segment eliminations.

3 The head office companies and eliminations have been disaggregated in the current year. The prior year has been re-presented fo reflect this
disaggregation.
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2 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
2.1 Operating segments (continued)
Restared?
2020 2019

CODM EBITDA Rm Rm
South Africa 17 742 16 972
Nigeria 29 506 25149
SEAGHA 16 802 12 136
Ghana 9 097 7 014
Uganda 4118 3150
Other SEAGHA 3587 1972
WECA 8620 6 081
Cote d'lvoire 3042 1814
Cameroon 2149 1635
Other WECA 3429 2632
MENA 3352 2836
Syria 574 1173
Sudan 1428 677
Ofther MENA 1350 986
Head office companies? 1871 (849)
Eliminations? (2570) 315
CODM EBITDA 75 323 62 640
Major joint venture — Irancell® 2818 3041
Hyperinflation impact 1369 282
Tower sale profits - 19
Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in associates and joint ventures 6129 1039
Gain on disposal of subsidiary - 249
Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale (1510) —
Irancell CODM EBITDA exclusion (2 818) (3 041)
CODM EBITDA before impairment of goodwill 81 311 64 229
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of goodwill and joint ventures (36 716) (32 800)
Net finance cost (18 233) (15 184)
Nel monefary gain 1582 787
Share of results of joint ventures and associates affter Fax 1142 705
Profit before tax 29 086 17 737

! Restated due to change in accounting policy, refer to note 11.

2 The head office companies and eliminations have been disaggregated in the current year. The 2019 year has been re-presented to reflect this
disaggregation.

*The CODM EBITDA relating to the major joint venture, Irancell, have been presented after the Group CODM EBITDA as Irancell does not form
park of CODM EBITDA as it is a joint venture.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Operating segments (continued)

Capital expenditure incurred

South Africa

Nigeria

SEAGHA

Ghana

Uganda

Ofher SEAGHA

WECA

Cote d'lvoire

Cameroon

Other WECA

MENA

Syria

Sudan

Ofther MENA

Major joint venture — Irancell*
Head office companies?
Eliminations?
Hyperinflation impact
Irancell capex exclusion

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

(confinued)

2020
Rm

7 542
12 694
6 063
3021
1328
1714
3418
1064
950
1404
1642
751
495
396
1865
1286
394
(1 865)

33039

2019
Rm
11 295
9 750
5554
2 850
1147
1557
3231
918
573
1740
1989
939
430
620
2568
949
(115)
215
(2 568)

32 868

*lrancell proportionate results are included in the segment analysis as reviewed by the CODM. This is, however, excluded from capital expenditure

incurred due to equity accounting for joint ventures.

2 The head office companies and eliminations have been disaggregated in the current year. The 2019 year has been re-presented to reflect this

disaggregation.

The impact of hyperinflation on the segment analysis is as follows:

Syria
Sudan
South Sudan (included in other SEAGHA)

Major joint venture — Irancell

Syria
Sudan
South Sudan (included in other SEAGHA)

Major joint venture — Irancell
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Revenue
Rm

(669)
3429
165

2925
(2312)

Revenue
Rm

626
279

905

2020

Operating
profit/(loss)
Rm

124
233
61

418
(1629)

2019

Operating
(loss)/profit
Rm
(250)
(120)

54
(316)

(621)

Capex
Rm

(139)
507
26

394
(121)

Capex
Rm

106

109
215
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group principally generates revenue from providing mobile felecommunications services, such as nefwork
services (comprising data, voice and SMS), digital and fintech services, inferconnect and roaming services, as well
as from the sale of mobile devices. Products and services may be sold separately or in bundled packages. The
typical length of a contract for postpaid bundled packages is 24 months.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a cusfomer and excludes amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a product or
services fo a cusfomer.

For bundled packages, the Group accounts for individual products and services separately if they are distinct — i.e.
if a product or service is separately identifiable from ofher items in the bundled package and if a customer can
benefit from it. The consideration is allocated between separate products and services in a bundle based on ftheir
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices are defermined based on the list prices at which the
Group sells mobile devices and network services separately.

The main caftegories of revenue and the basis of recognition are as follows:

Network services and digital and fintech

The Group provides mobile felecommunication services, including network services and digital and fintech
services. Nefwork services (comprising data, voice and SMS) are considered to represent a single performance
obligation as all are provided over the MTN neftwork and fransmitted as data representing a digital signal on the
network. The fransmission of voice, data and SMS all consume neftwork bandwidth and therefore, irrespective of
the nature of the communication, the subscriber ultimately receives access to the network. Network services are
therefore viewed as a single performance obligation represented by capacity on the MTN nefwork.

Digital and fintech services include value-added services, rich media services, MoMo, insurance, airtime lending,
e-commerce, efc.

Cusftomers either pay in advance for these services or pay monthly in equal instalments over the contractual
period. A contract liability is recognised for amounts received in advance, until the services are provided or when
the usage of services becomes remote.

The Group recognises revenue from fhese services as they are provided. Revenue is recognised based on acfual
unifs of network services/digital services provided during the reporting period as a proportion of the total units of
neftwork services/digital services to be provided. The customer receives and uses the benefits of these services
simultaneously.

Mobile devices

The Group sells a range of mobile devices. The Group recognises revenue when customers obtain control of
mobile devices, being when customers ftake possession of the devices. For mobile devices sold separately,
customers pay in full at the point of sale. For mobile devices sold in bundled packages, customers usually pay
monthly in equal instalments over the contract period. Contract assefs are recognised when custfomers rake
possession of devices for postpaid confracts.

The Group assesses postpaid contracts including handsets fo determine if they contain a significant financing
component. The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient thal allows the Group not to adjust the
transaction price for the significant financing component for contracts where the time difference befween
customer payment and transfer of goods or services is expected to be one year or less. For contracts containing
significant financing components, the Group reduces device revenue and recognises infterest revenue over the
period befween satisfying the related performance obligation and payment.

The Group bases the subscriber contract period on the contractual ferm and accounts for early upgrades as
conftract modifications. The effect of the modification is thal the conftract asset at modification date is treated as
a payment to a cusfomer and resulfs in a reduction of the revenue from the subsequent contract.
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2.2

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Interconnect and roaming

The Group provides interconnect and roaming services. The Group recognises inferconnect and roaming revenue
and a receivable (debtors) as the service is provided unless it is not probable (based on historical information) on
transaction date that the interconnect revenue will be received, in which case interconnect revenue is recognised
only when fhe cash is received or where a right of sef-off exists with inferconnect parties in sefttling amounts.

Payment for interconnect and roaming is generally received on a monthly basis. Some interconnect and roaming
debtors have a historical pattern of late payment due to sanctions imposed. The Group has continued to provide
services fo fhese debtors (due to regulatory requirements) where the recovery of principal is significantly delayed
beyond the contractual terms. The Group has considered historical payment patterns (i.e. customary business
practice) in assessing whether the contract contains a significant financing component. For contracts containing
a significant financing component, the Group reduces interconnect and roaming revenue and recognises interest
revenue over the period between satisfying the related performance obligation and payment.

Capitalisation of subscriber acquisition costs

The Group expects that incremental subscriber acquisition cosfts for obtaining and renewing contracts are
recoverable. These costs include agent’'s commission on postpaid confracts and SIM activation costs on prepaid
contracts. The Group has rherefore capitalised these costs as contract costs. Capitalised confrack costs are
amortised on a systematic basis over the average customer life and included in selling, distribufion and markefting
expenses in profil or loss.

In terms of a practical expedient, the Group has elected fo recognise the incremental costs of obftaining contracts
as a selling, distribution and marketing expense in profit or loss, when incurred, if the amortisation period of the
assefs thal the Group otherwise would have recognised is 12 months or less.

Contract costs are assessed for impairment in ferms of IAS 36 Impairment of Assefs when there is an indication
of impairment.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Assels and liabilities related o contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities related fo contracts with customers:

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Contfract assefts 4191 4206
Conftract assefs — non-current 1271 1201
Contract assets — current 2920 3005
Loss allowance (499) (338)
Total contract assets 3692 3868
Capitalised contract costs 1194 1192
Contract liabilities 6 707 6211

Significant changes in contract assets and liabilities
Contract assets have decreased mainly due to a decrease in uptake of contracts. The Group also recognised a loss
allowance for contract assets as per IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, see note 7.1.4.

Contract liabilities increased due to an increase in prepaid sales.
Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

The following fable shows how much of the revenue recognised in the current reporting period relates to carried-
forward confract liabilities.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance af the
beginning of the period 4721 4 852
Unsatisfied performance obligations
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Aggregate amount of fransaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance
obligations 4182 3699

For postpaid confracts rhat were effective at 31 December 2020 the above amounts reflect Fhe fransaction price for
services to be provided over the remainder of the conftractual periods.

Management expects that 94% (2019: 90%) of rhe transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as of
31 December 2020 will be recognised as revenue amounting fo R3 912 million (2019: R3 329 million) during the next
reporting period. The remaining 6% amounting fo R270 million (2019: 10% amounting to R370 million) will be
recognised in the 2022 financial year.

For contracts with a term of one year or less, the transaction price is not disclosed above as allowed by IFRS 15.

Other income

In 2011, MTN Chana disposed of base fransceiver stations (BTS) sites to Ghana InterCo. The profit was eliminated
fo the extent of the Group's interest in the associate af the time and has been realised annually thereaffter as the
underlying assets were depreciated by fhe associate. Following the disposal of Ghana InterCo in the current financial
year, the remaining deferred gain has now been realised. This gain forms part of the gain on disposal/dilution of
investmentin joint ventures and associates, as the investfment was disposed of prior fo the upliftin investment value
following future depreciation. In 2019, R19 million of the deferred gain on this fower sale was realised.

Other income in 2019 also included a gain on disposal of subsidiary of R249 million'. The gain resulted from the
disposal of Amadeus, a subsidiary of the Group thal held various unlisted equity investments, and a 43,67% interest
in the joint venture Travelstart. The disposal of the investments was concluded on 26 June 2019 for proceeds, nel of
cash disposed of, amounting fo R1 152 million.

! Resfared due to change in accounting policy, refer to note 11.
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2.4

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Operating profik

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Salaries and wages, including non-moneftary benefits and accumulated leave pay (remuneration), that are
expected to be sefttled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the
related service, are recognised as a liability and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled.

A liability for bonuses is recognised when there is no realistic alternative other than fo seftle the liability, and af

least one of the following conditions is met:

e There is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid can be reliably estimated; or

« Achievement of previously agreed bonus criteria has created a valid expectation by employees that fhey will
receive a bonus and the amount can be reliably estimated.

Long-term employee benefits

Long-term service awards

Salaries and wages includes long-term service awards which employees become entitled o after having been in
the employ of the Group for a continuous period of befween 3 and 30 years depending on the specific Group entity
with whom they are employed. Long-term service awards are recognised as a liability and are measured at the
amount of the benefit attributable to the years of service rendered to date in comparison to the total years of
continuous service required fo qualify for Fhe long-term employee benefit.

For both shorft-rerm and long-term employee benefits, remuneration to employees in respect of services rendered
during a reporting period is expensed in that reporting period.

Share-based payment transactions
As part of long-ferm employee benefifts, the Group operates a number of share incentive schemes. For further
details, refer fo note 8.4.

Post-employment benefifs

Group companies operate various defined confribution plans. Contributions to defined contribution plans in
respect of services rendered during a period are recognised as an employee benefit expense as rhe related service
is provided. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an assel to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits may be payable when an employee’s employment is ferminated before the normal refirement
date due fo refrenchment or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefifs.

The Group recognises fermination benefits at the earlier of the following dates:

« When the Group can no longer withdraw rhe offer of those benefits; or

« When the Group recognises costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assefts that includes the payment of fermination benefits.

In the case of an offer made fo encourage voluntary redundancy, the fermination benefits are measured based on

the number of employees expected fo accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months affter the reporting
date are discounted to their present value.
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2.4 Operating profil (continued)
2020 2019
Rm Rm

Staff cosfts (12 741) (10 597)
Salaries and wages! (10 278) (8577)
Post-employment benefits (545) (528)
Share options granted to directors and employees (note 8.4) (860) (373)
Training (136) (267)
Other? (922) (852)
The following disclosable items have been included in arriving at operating profit:

Audiftors’ remuneration (179) (142)
Audif fees (158) (129)
Fees for other services 17) 8)
Expenses (4) (5)
Emoluments to directors and prescribed officers (note 10.1 and 10.2) (296) (315)
Research and development costs (15) (19)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 22 64
Net impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 5.1) (42) (330)
Net write-down of inventories to nel realisable value (note 4.1) (136) (4)
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assefs? (2169) (729)
Impairment of cash balances (76) -
Impairment of current and non-current investments (13) -
Amortisation of capitalised contract costs (547) (359)
Professional and consulting fees (2416) (2 387)

! Salaries and wages include medical insurance contributions which were previously included in other. 2019 has been re-presented in alignment
to the change.

2 The impairment of trade receivables and contract assers includes amounts disclosed in note 4.2 and R161 million (2019: R137 million) relating
fo impairment of contract assefs.

2.5 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested, changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL), nel foreign exchange gains and any gains on hedging instruments that are
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest
mefhod.

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings, lease liability interest expense, unwinding of the discount
on provisions, fair value movements, net foreign exchange losses, unwind of/loss on revision of cash flows and
any losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or loss. All borrowing costs are recognised in profit
or loss using the effective interest method, unless the borrowing costs are directly attributable fo the acquisition,
consfruction or production of qualifying assets, in which case fhe directly attributable borrowing cosfs are

capifalised.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Interest income on loans and receivables 605 923
Interest income on bank deposits 888 950
Finance income 1493 1873
Interest expense on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost! (8 816) (8767)
Nel foreign exchange losses (4 537) (2 364)
Unwind of/(loss on) revision of cash flows? 174 (217)
Lease liability interest expense (6 547) (5 709)
Finance costs (19 726) (17 057)
Nel finance costs recognised in profit or loss (18 233) (15 184)

*Included in 2019 is an amount of R189 million which relates to the discount unwind on the MTN Nigeria regulatory fine liability.
2 Refer to note 4.2 for details on the balance with Irancell.
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2.6

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period
and is based on the profit after tax attributable fo ordinary shareholders. For the purpose of calculating earnings
per share, freasury shares are deducted from the number of ordinary shares in issue.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares oufstanding
fo assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares and is based on the net profit attributable fo ordinary
shareholders, adjusted for the after tax dilutive effect. The Company has dilutive potential ordinary shares which
comprise share options and share rights issued in ferms of the Group’s share schemes, performance share plan
and MTN Zakhele Furhi.

Headline earnings per share

Headline earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during
the period and is based on the earnings aftributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as
required by Circular 1/2019 Headline Earnings issued by SAICA as amended from Fime fo fime and as required by
the JSE Limited.

2020 2019
‘000 ‘000
Weighted average number of shares (excluding freasury shares) for calculation
of basic earnings per share 1798 503 1797928
Adjusted for:
— Share opftions — MTN Zakhele Futhi 11 046 23 250
— Performance share plan 7 445 3496
— Employee share ownership plan 999 886
Weighted average number of shares for calculation of diluted earnings per share 1817993 1825560

Refer fo note 8.1 for a reconciliation of total shares in issue.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Earnings per ordinary share (continued)

Reconciliation between net profit attributable fo the equity holders of the Company and headline earnings:

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company

Adjusted for:

Nel profit on disposal of property, plant and
equipment and infangible assefs

— Subsidiaries (IAS 16)

— Joint ventures (IAS 28)

Profit on disposal of subsidiary (IFRS 10)
Impairment of goodwill and investment in joint
ventures (IAS 36)

Nel impairment loss on property, plant and
equipment (IAS 36)

Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-
current assefts held for sale (IFRS 5)

— Subsidiaries (IAS 16)

— Associate (IAS 28)

Nef gain on disposal/dilution of investment in
joint venture/associate (IAS 28)

— Subsidiaries

— Joint venture/associate

Realisation of deferred gain on fower sale

Headline earnings

Earnings per share (cents)

— Basic

— Basic headline

Diluted earnings per share (cents)
— Diluted

— Diluted headline

! Resfated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for defails of restatements.

2020

Gross
Rm

(24)
(22)
(2)

1065
42

1510
1113
397

(6 129)
(6 129)

2 Amounts are measured after taking info account non-controlling interests and rax.

Netl?
Rm

17 022

(21)
(20)
(1)

1065
33

1503
1106
397

(6 129)
(6 129)

13473

2020

946
749

936
741
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Restated?
2019

Gross
Rm

(64)
(64)

(249)

342

330

(1076)
(1039)
(37)
(19)

Netf?
Rm

9 100

(42)

(42)

(249)

342

355

(1076)
(1039)
(37)
(19)

8411

Restated?

2019

506
468

498
461
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (confinued)
Cash generated from operations

Profit before rax

Adjusted for:

Finance costs (note 2.5)

Finance income (note 2.5)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assefts
(notes 5.1 and 6.5.4)

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 5.2)

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment and infangible assets
(note 2.4)

Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale
Gain on disposal of subsidiary (note 2.3)

Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in joint ventures and associates
(note 9.2)

Amortisation of contract costs (note 2.4)

Share of results of associates and joint ventures after fax (nofte 9.2)
Increase in provisions (note 6.3)

Nef write-down of inventories (note 4.1)

Impairment of goodwill and investment in joint ventures (nofte 5.2 and 9.2)
Net impairment loss on property, plant and equipment (note 5.1)
Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets (note 2.4)
Realisation of deferred gain on fower sale (note 2.3)

Share based-payment transactions (note 8.4)

Nel monefary gain

Other

Changes in working capital

Decrease in inventories

Increase in contract assets and capitalised contract costs
Increase in contract liabilities

Nel increase in receivables and prepayments

Nel increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Cash generated from operations

! Resfated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for defails of restatements.

2020
Rm

29 086

19726
(1493)

29908
5743

(22)
1510

(6 129)
547
(1142)
2213
136
1065
42
2169
860
(1582)
259
82 896
(4 316)
77
(541)
35
(5893)
2 006
78 580

(confinued)

Restated?
2019
Rm

17 737

17 057
(1873)

27 320
5138

(64)

(249)

(1039)
359
(705)
1823
4

342
330
729
(19)
373
(787)
(142)
66 334
(11137)
1255
(976)
43
(1841)
(9 618)
55197
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (continued)
Reconciliation of cash flows arising from financing activities related to borrowings

2020
Rm
Borrowings at the beginning of the year 94 148
Current 15691
Non-current 78 457
Cash flows (104)
Proceeds from borrowings 22551
Repayment of borrowings (22 655)
Ofher movements 1851
Effects of changes in foreignh exchange rates and interest accrued 9726
Interest paid* (7 875)
Borrowings at the end of the year 95 895
Comprising:
— Current 17 438
— Non-current 78 457
! Presented as part of cash generated from operating activities.
Reconciliation of cash flows arising from financing activities related to lease liabilities
2020
Rm
Leases af the beginning of the year 46 327
Current 4 056
Non-current 42 271
Cash flows (4 998)
Repayment of lease liabilities (4 998)
Other movements 8152
Additions 4482
Interest paid? (5 560)
Modifications? 5304
Other? 3926
Leases af the end of the year 49 481
Comprising:
— Current 5728
— Non-current 43 753

! Presented as part of cash generated from operating activities.

2019
Rm

84 746
12183
72 563
11351
35013
(23 662)
(1949)
5242
(7 191)

94 148

15691
78 457

2019
Rm

45 355
3303
42 052
(3417)
(3417)
4 389
6 587
(5271)
324
2749

46 327

4 056
42271

2 Modifications were aggregated with otherin 2019. In 2020, the amounts were disaggregated and separately disclosed. The 2019 year has been

re-presented fo reflect this disaggregation.
3 Other includes foreign exchange movements and interest accrued.
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3 TAXATION
3.1 Income Fax expense

The income tax expense for the period comprises current, deferred and withholding tax. Tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except fo the extent that it relates to items recognised in OCI or directly in equity. For these items the fax is
also recognised in OCI or directly in equity, respectively.

Current fax

Current tax is the expected tax payable on faxable income for the year, using fax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and generate
taxable income, and any adjustment fo tax payable in respect of previous years. Management periodically
evaluares positions faken in fax returns with respect to situations in which applicable fax regulations are subject
to interpretation and esfrablishes liabilities where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected fo be paid to the
fax aufhorities.

Deferred rax

Deferred tax is recognised using the liability method, providing for femporary differences arising befween the fax
bases of assefs and liabilities and fheir carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition of an asser or liability in a fransaction (other than a business combination) that af the fime of the
fransaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is measured at tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporfting date and are expected to apply to femporary
differences when they reverse.

Deferred tax is not provided on femporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures where the fiming of the reversal of the femporary differences is controlled by the Group and it is probable
thal the femporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

As the functional currencies of MTN Sudan, MTN South Sudan, MTN Syria and Irancell are currencies of
hyperinflationary economies, deferred tax relating to these subsidiaries and joint venture is recognised using the
liability method, providing for femporary differences arising befween the tax bases of assefs and liabilities and
their restated carrying amounts.

Withholding tax
Withholding fax is payable at different rates varying befween 0% and 25% on amounts paid fo the Group companies
by cerfain of their subsidiaries as dividends, interest and management fees.

2020 2019

Analysis of income tax expense for the year Rm Rm
Normal fax (9 491) (5983)
Current year (9 479) (5 893)
Adjustments in respect of the prior year (12) (90)
Deferred tax (note 3.2) 1473 135
Current year 1445 58
Adjustments in respect of the prior year 28 77
Withholding faxes on foreign income (1421) (1 060)
(9 439) (6 908)
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3 TAXATION (continued)

3.1 Income tax expense (continued)
The table below explains the differences between the expected tax expense on continuing operations, at the South
African statutory rate of 28% and the Group's foftal fax expense for each year.

The reconciliation of taxation has been performed using the stafutory tax rate of MTN Group Limited of 28% (2019:
28%). The impact of different corporate tax rates applied fo the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates has
been incorporated in the “Effect of different tax rates in other countries” line below.

The Group's effective tax rate is reconciled to the South African staftutory rate as follows:

Restated?
2020 2019

Tax rate reconciliation % %
Tax at statutory rax rate 28,00 28,00
Expenses not allowed 11,63 10,04
Nigeria regulatory fine and related expenses? - 0,31
Sudan non-deductible expenses 4,38 2,30
Assessed loss and other balances on which deferred fax was not recognised 1,91 2,91
Disallowed interest expenses 1,11 1,99
Impairment of goodwill and investment in joint ventures 1,03 -
Controlled foreign company legislation imputation 0,45 0,46
Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale 1,45 -
Other 1,30 2,07
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (3,83) (0,76)
Income not subject to tax (6,23) (3,01)
Exempt income (0,33) (1,16)
Non-taxable gains on disposal/dilution of investment in joint ventures and
associates and disposal of subsidiaries (5,90) (1,85)
Share of results of associates and joint ventures (1,10) (1,11)
Foreign income and withholding taxes 4,89 5,97
Other (0,91) (0,18)
Effective tax rate 32,45 38,95

! Resfated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11 for defails of restatements.
21n 2019, this line item includes unwinding interest on the Nigeria fine liability and the amortisation of fees related fto the listing of MTN Nigeria
(note 2.5).

The following are the corporate tax rates applicable to the various jurisdictions in which the Group operates:

Corporate tax rate

2020 2019
Country % %
Afghanistan 20 20
Benin 30 30
Cameroon 33 33
Congo-Brazzaville! 22,5 22,5
Cote d'lvoire S.A. 30 30
Ethiopia 30 30
Ghana 25 25
Guinea-Bissau 25 25
Guinea-Conakry 35 35
Kenya 30 30
Liberia 25 25
Namibia 32 32
Netherlands 25 25
Nigeria 30 30
Rwanda 30 30
South Africa? 28 28
Soufh Sudan 20 25
Sudan 7 7
Syria 14 14
Uganda 30 30
Yemen 50 50
Zambia 40 40

! Effective April 2016 MTN Congo S.A. (MTN Congo-Brazzaville) was granted a five-year 50% reduction on its corporate tax rate as a result of its
investment agreement with the government. In the 2019 financial year, following the enactment of new local legislation, the tax incentive
granted was reduced fo a 25% reduction for the remainder of the agreement.

2 In the budget speech read in Parliament on 24 February 2021, South Africa’s finance minister proposed that the corporate tax rate be reduced
from 28% to 27% for years of assessment commencing on or after 1 April 2022.
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Deferred tax is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 3.1.

Recognised Recognised
in profit
or loss

1 January
2019
Rm
Provisions and tax
losses carried forward? 4 557
Working capital
allowances (50)
Tax allowances in
excess of depreciation (9 204)
Other femporary
differences (1 098)
Nel deferred tax
liability (5795)
Comprising:
Deferred tax assets 3702
Deferred tax liabilities (9 497)
(5795)

*Including the effect of hyperinflation.

Rm

1135

(610)

(405)

15

135

Exchange/
in other 31 Dec
OClI  movements! 2019
Rm Rm Rm
- (14) 5678
- 8 (652)
- 352 (9 257)
3 (22) (1102)
3 324 (5333)
5070
(10 403)
(5333)

Recognised  Exchange/
in profit other
orloss movements!

Rm Rm

2226 209

16 2

(759) 236

(10) (141)

1473 306

31 Dec
2020
Rm

8113

(634)

(9 780)

(1253)

(3554)

6 355
(9 909)

(3554)

2The Group has taken note of South Africa’s finance minister's announcement in the budgel speech on 26 February 2020 relating to the future
limitation on fthe utilisation of assessed losses fo 80% of faxable income. Due fo the devastating effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, it has
been indicated in the 2021 budgel speech that fhe effective date of fhe amendment, in respect of which the use of carried forward assessed
losses will be limited, will be postponed until 2022. This postponement will come into effect for years of assessment commencing on or after

1 April 2022.

There were deductible femporary differences and unused fax losses of R5 916 million (2019: R5 489 million) for
which no deferred fax assel had been recognised in fthe statement of financial position at year-end.

2020

Year of expiry 2021
Amount (Rm) 1759
No expiry (Rm) -
Total 1759
2019

Year of expiry 2020
Amount (Rm) 1561
No expiry (Rm) -
Total 1561

Income tax paid

Af the beginning of the year

2022
656

656

2021
1759

1759

Amount recognised in profit or loss (note 3.1)

Deferred tax charge (note 3.1)

Effect of movements in exchange rates
Current fax recognised in OCI
Withholding tax credits

Other?

Af the end of the year

Taxafion assefts

Taxation liabilities

Total tax paid

*In the current year, MTN Ghana utilised R1,1 billion of faxation assets to extinguish VAT obligations in accordance with the Revenue

Administration Act, 2016 (Act 915).
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2023
787

787

2022
656

656

2024
770

770

2023
216

216

2025
1041

1041

2024
770

770

2026
170

170

2025
408

408

2020
Rm
(510)
(9 439)
(1473)
618
341
524
(1 088)
2623
(3034)
5657

(8 404)

Total

5183
733

5916

Total
5370
119

5489

2019
Rm
(497)
(6 908)
(135)
(92)
(197)
111
(432)
510
(2 909)
3419

(7 640)
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4 WORKING CAPITAL
4.1 Inventories

Inventories mainly comprise handsels, SIM cards, accessories held for sale and consumable items.

Inventories are measured af the lower of cost and nef realisable value. The cost of inventory is determined using
the weighted average method. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable, overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to rtheir present location and condition. Nef realisable value represents the
esftimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

As the functional currencies of MTN South Sudan, MTN Sudan and MTN Syria are the currencies of hyperinflationary
economies, inventories relating fo these subsidiaries are measured af the lower of the restated cost and nef
realisable value.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Finished goods — af cost 2226 2318
Handsefs 1404 1652
SIM cards and accessories 822 666
Consumables 204 173
Less: Write-down to net realisable value?! (896) (774)
1534 1717

! The write-down of inventories to nel realisable value mainly relates to handsers.

MTN Ghana has secured facilities through the pledge of its inventories amounting fo R136 million (2019: R38 million)
(note 6.1).

Reconciliation of write-down of finished goods

Af the Exchange Af the
beginning and other end of
of the year Additions! Reversals? Utilised movements the year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2020
Movement in write-down (774) (215) 79 91 (77) (896)
2019
Movement in write-down (853) (103) 99 83 — (774)

* A nel write-down on inventories of R136 million (2019: R4 million neft write-down) was recognised in the current year. This amount is included
in ofher operating expenses in profit or loss (note 2.4).

4.2 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services rendered in the ordinary
course of business and are accounted for at amortised cost in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in
nofte 7.1.

Prepayments and ofher receivables are stated at their nominal values.

As rthe funclional currencies of MTN South Sudan, MTN Sudan and MTN Syria are currencies of hyperinflationary
economies, prepayments relating to these subsidiaries are restated by applying the change in the general price
indices from the date of payment to the current reporting date.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Trade receivables (note 7.1.4) 18 266 16 875
Less: Allowance for impairment of frade receivables (note 7.1.4) (3008) (2371)
Nef frade receivables 15 258 14 504
Loan to Irancell* 1733 1516
Receivable from Irancell? 1037 1237
Prepayments and other receivables 2 007 1877
Sundry debtors and advances?® 7 181 5361
27 216 24 495

! This balance relates to a loan receivable from Irancell and was due on 30 September 2017 but remains outstanding at year-end. The amount

outstanding was franslated at the CBlI rafte (notes 1.5.3 and 7.6).

2 R840 million of the amount outstanding at year-end was franslated aft the SANA rate (note 1.5.3 and note 7.6) and R197 million was translated at the

CBl rate.
3 Sundry debtors and advances include advances to suppliers and receivables from related parties (note 10.1).

56 MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020



01~ WY . 03

Statutory Group financial Company financial
reporfs sfafements skafrements

(confinued)

for the year ended 31 December 2020

4.3

4.4

WORKING CAPITAL (confinued)

Trade and other receivables (continued)

Impairment of trade receivables

An allowance for impairment of R1 009 million (2019: R245 million) was incurred in the current year. This amount is
included in impairment of frade receivables and contract assets in profit or loss (note 2.4). Additionally, R999 million
was written-off directly to profit or loss in 2020 (2019: R347 million).

The Group’s exposure to credit and currency risk relating to trade and other receivables is disclosed in note 7.1.

Secured facilities and collateral

MTN Ghana has secured facilities through the pledge of its trade and other receivables amounting to R1 514 million
(2019: R1 044 million) (note 6.1).

Irancell loan and receivable

On 20 September 2019, the US Treasury Department’s Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) designhated the CBI as
being subjecl fo sanctions. Sanctions imposed on the CBI create a secondary sanctions risk if the CBI allocates
foreign currency to an MTN entity for the purpose of repatriating the receivable and/or loan. As at 31 December 2020,
Iranian rial denominated receivables amounted to R1 037 million (2019: R1 237 million) and the lIranian rial
denominated loan amounted to R1 733 million (2019: R1 516 million).

Restricted cash

Restricted cash comprises of shorf-ferm deposits that are not highly liquid and are accounted for at amortised
cost in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Restricted cash balance includes amounts of R1 757 million (2019: R1 459 million) related to MTN Nigeria operations.
This is cash deposits with banks fo secure Lefters of Credit, collateral against repayment on borrowings, bank
guarantee on Garnishees against court judgments, and retention fee on purchase of Visafone Communications
Limited. Furthermore, the restricted cash balance includes both dividends paid befween MTN Mauritius and MTN
Nigeria being held on behalf of the Group by the Nigeria Registrar (R4 197 million) and nel proceeds on disposal of
shares in MTN Zambia held in escrow (R226 million), both awaiting availability of foreign currency (US$) in the market.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are accounted for at amortised cost and bank overdrafts are accounted for as financial
liabilities in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Cash and cash equivalents comprises of cash on hand and deposits held on call, all of which are available for use
by the Group. Bank overdrafts are included within current liabilities on the statement of financial position, unless
the Group has a current legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and intends to seftle on a net basis, or
realise the assel and seftle the liability simultaneously, in which case it is netted off against cash and cash
equivalents on the statement of financial position.

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprises of the following:

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Cash at bank and on hand 30990 21739
Bank overdrafts (354) (132)
Nel cash and cash equivalents 30636 21607

MTN Ghana has secured facilities through the pledge of its cash and cash equivalents amounting to R1 288 million
(2019: R1 113 million) (refer fo note 6.1).
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WORKING CAPITAL (continued)
Trade and other payables

Trade payables, sundry creditors and accrued expenses are obligations to pay for goods or services that have
been acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. They are accounted for as financial liabilities in

accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Other payables are stated al their nominal values.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Trade payables 13136 10 352
Sundry creditors 2144 2394
Accrued expenses? 20476 18 568
Other payables? 6124 5316
41 880 36 630

! Includes accruals for operating expenses, inventories and capital expenditure for which supplier invoices are outstanding at year-end.
2 Includes dealer commissions, withholding taxes and VAT payable.

MoMo deposits and payables

MoMo deposits are balances that are held with banks for and on behalf of MoMo customers. MoMo regulations in
most of the Group’s markerfs require that these balances with banks are held in a manner to ensure that these
balances are not co-mingled with MTN's cash and cash equivalents and that these are ring-fenced fo seftle MoMo
customers’ obligations. Regulations in certain jurisdictions specify the types of permissible liquid instruments that
these deposits may be invested in. The deposits held are accounted for at amortised cost in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Upon recognition of the MoMo financial assel, the Group recognises a corresponding current liability, in the
ordinary course, fo refund MoMo customers for the deposits made.

MTN earns transactional fees and also earns interest on these MoMo balances and recognises the interest and
transactional fees as part of revenue. Transactional fees are recognised over time as the fransactions occur. MTN
accounts for fees paid fo agents as a commission expense as part of selling, distribufion and marketing expenses
and interest paid fo customers in other operaling expenses.

Cash flows that relate to interest received, fransaction fees earned and operating expenses incurred are classified
as operational cash flows. Cash flows that relate to the principal MoMo deposit balances and corresponding
liabilities are reflective of customer fransactions and, consequently, are not recorded on MTN's statement of
cash flows.

MoMo involves the issuing of electronic money in refurn for cash. MoMo enables an active mobile phone subscriber
fo load a MoMo wallet, with a balance which is recorded electronically for immediate or later use. MTN utilises MoMo
agents to facilitate customer activities i.e. depositing cash and loading and storing the MoMo in wallets. MTN also
performs the activities of a MoMo agent through MTN branches. Any monetary value stored on a MoMo wallet is
supported by an equivalent MoMo deposit held with a bank or multiple banks.

MTN provides the plafform to administer the MoMo wallet and the MoMo service generally. MTN opens bank accounts
in which the MoMo deposits and interest earned on the cash balances is held.
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WORKING CAPITAL (continued)

MoMo deposits and payables (confinued)
MoMo is a regulated service offering. These regulations govern the manner in which MoMo services are conducted as
well as the rights and obligations of all parties fo the MoMo service offering. These regulations and rights and
obligations differ from market fo market.

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

(confinued)

The treatment of MoMo in the financial statements is nof, and should not be construed as a waiver by members of the
Group of any legal, contractual or statutory rights, remedies and defences they may have, or as an admission of
liability enforceable against any of them in law or otherwise. The legal, contractual and statutory rights, remedies and
defences of members of the Group are reserved.

Non-current Mobile Money deposits

WECA
Cote d’lvoire

Current Mobile Money deposits

South Africa
Nigeria
SEAGHA
Ghana
Uganda
Other SEAGHA
WECA

Cote d'lvoire
Cameroon
Other WECA
MENA
Sudan

Afghanistan

* Amounts below R1 million.
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2020
Rm
329
329
329

27 679
28

85

20 600
16 290
2 630
1680
6961
2286
2302
2373

28 008

2019
Rm

15 315

31

10 907
8 266
1824
817
4371
1863
1512
996

15315
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses. Property, plant and equipment acquired through business combinations are initially shown at fair value
(based on replacement cosl) and are subsequently carried at the initially defermined fair value less accumulated
depreciaftion and impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment under construction (capital work-in-progress) are measured at initial cost and
depreciation commences from the date the assefts are transferred to an appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment, i.e. when commissioned and ready for their infended use. Purchased soffware that is integral to
the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of the equipment. The Group capiftalises general
and specific borrowing costs directly affributable fo the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
assef as part of the cost of that assel. Other borrowing costs are expensed in profit or loss.

The present value of the expected cost for the decommissioning of an asset after its use is included in the cost of
the respective asset if the recognition criteria for a provision are met. Refer to provisions (note 6.3) for further
information aboul the recognised decommissioning provision and the accounting judgements, estimates and
assumptions made.

In circumstances whereby the Group enters into an exchange transaction, the Group determines whether such an
exchange has commercial substance. Property, plant and equipment acquired in an exchange fransactkion are
measured af fair value unless the exchange transaction lacks commercial substance or the fair value of neither
the asser received nor the assel given up is reliably measurable. If the acquired item is not measured at fair value,
ifs cost is measured at the carrying amount of the assel given up. Any considerafion paid or payable is included in
the cost of the asser received. Property, plant and equipment received for no consideration are accounted for at
zero value.

As the functional currencies of MTN Soufth Sudan, MTN Sudan and MTN Syria are currencies of hyperinflationary
economies, property, plant and equipment relating to these subsidiaries are restated by applying fhe change in the
general price indices from the date of acquisition fo fhe current reporting date.

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is calculated on a sfraight-line basis to write off the cost of the assefs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives. Depreciation relating fo the property, plant and equipment of MTN Sourh Sudan, MTN
Sudan and MTN Syria is based on the restated amounts, which have been adjusted for the effects of hyperinflation.

Useful lives and residual values are reviewed on an annual basis and the effect of any changes in estimate is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

In defermining residual values, the Group uses hisforical sales and management’s best estimate based on marker
prices of similar items.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based on management estimates and fake into account historical
experience with similar assetls, the expected usage of the assel, physical wear and tear, fechnical or commercial
obsolescence and legal restrictions on the use of the assets.

Land is nof depreciated.
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5.1

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Buildings 5-50 5-50
Buildings — leased 1-20 1-20
Neftwork infrastructure 2-25 2-25
Information systems equipment 1-15 1-15
Furniture and fitfings 3-15 3-15
Leasehold improvements 2-20 2-20
Office equipment 2-13 2-13
Vehicles 3-13 313

Subsequent cosfts are included in the assel’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate assef, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Repairs and mainfenance costs
are included in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. The gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an asset is included in profit or loss.

Impairment

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment festing, assets are grouped together info CGUs. The
recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In
assessing value in use and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to rtheir
present value using an appropriate discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and fhe risks specific fo the asset. Goodwill arising from business combinations is allocated fo CGUs or the
Group of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of rhe combination.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unifs, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assels in the unif (group of units) on
a pro rafa basis.

An impairment loss is subsequently reversed only to the extent that the assel or CGU'’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group annually reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment in order to determine

whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of the assets
are estimated in order to defermine the extent, if any, of the impairment loss.
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5 INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
Information
systems, Capital
Leasehold Nefwork furniture work-in-
Land and improve- infra- and office progress/
buildings ments structure equipment other  Spare Vehicles Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm parts! Rm Rm
Carrying amount at
1January 2019 6 086 1453 80 828 4316 4968 2579 351 100581
Reallocations fo
right-of-use assefs (111) - - - - - (38) (149)
Additions 183 120 9993 1357 6 490 4274 87 22 504
Disposals - - (42) (@)} - - (5) (48)
Reallocations (555) 738 9 754 793 (5457) (5361) 13 (75)
Depreciation for the
year (269) (598) (18302) (1894) (321) - (108) (21492)
Impairment reversal/
(loss) - - 120 - (454) 4 - (330)
Other movements - - (386) 3) (31) 3) 9 (414)
Effect of movements
in exchange rates? (117) (52) (1745) (198) (115) (18) (20) (2 265)
Carrying amount
at 31 December 2019 5217 1661 80 220 4370 5080 1475 289 98 312
Comprising:
Cost 8643 4760 193270 15572 8 045 1475 986 232751
Accumulated
depreciaftion and
impairment losses (3426) (3099) (113 050) (11 202) (2 965) - (697) (134 439)
5217 1661 80 220 4370 5080 1475 289 98 312
Carrying amount at
1January 2020 5217 1661 80 220 4 370 5080 1475 289 98 312
Additions 205 151 17 165 1447 3725 1353 104 24 150
Disposals (1) 3) (169) (5) (14) (20) (3) (215)
Reallocations 187 70 2930 668 (3501) (664) 11 (299)
Depreciation for the
year (249) (267) (19 850) (1927) (287) - (124) (22704)
Impairment loss - - (5) - 3) (34) - (42)
Reclassified fo held
for sale (30) (15) (1565) (82) (109) (150) - (1951)
Ofrher movements 2 (1) (63) (6) 42 (4) (10) (40)
Effect of movements
in exchange raftes? 128 21 2829 150 354 (136) 19 3365
Carrying amount at
31 December 2020 5459 1617 81 492 4 615 5287 1820 286 100576
Comprising:
Cost 9186 4830 200906 16 722 7 982 1854 1001 242481
Accumulated
depreciation and
impairment losses (3727) (3213) (119414) (12 107) (2 695) (34) (715) (141 905)
5459 1617 81 492 4 615 5287 1820 286 100576

! Spare parts were aggregated with capital work-in-progress/otherin 2019. In 2020, fhe amounts were disaggregated and separately disclosed.
The 2019 year has been re-presented fo reflect this disaggregation.
2 Includes the effect of hyperinflation.
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5 INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
5.1 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
5.1.1 Impairment reversals/(losses)

The following entities recognised impairment (losses)/reversals in other operating expenses in profit or loss:

2020

Rm
MTN Nigeria (39)
MTN South Sudan 3)
Otfher -
(42)

5.1.2 Capital work-in-progress

2019
Rm

120
(454)

(330)

There are various capital work-in-progress projects under way within the Group, a summary of which is set out below:

2020

Rm

MTN SA 309
MTN Ghana 245
MTN Sudan 469
MTN Nigeria 238
Areeba Guinea S.A. (MTN Guinea-Conakry) 178
MTN Céte d'lvoire S.A. (MTN Cbte d'lvoire) 372
MTN Benin 10
MTN Yemen 472
MTN South Sudan? 84
MTN Syria -
MTN Congo-Brazzaville 120
MTN Cameroon 390
MTN Liberia 24
MTN Uganda 159
MTN Guinea-Bissau 182
GlobalConnect Solutions Limited 574
Other 43
3869

! Included in other in 2019.

5.1.3 Changes in estimates

2019
Rm
647
151
392
255
61
293
157
479
213
48
109

136
401
129

3471

There were no material changes in the depreciation method, residual values or useful lives for any of the categories

of property, plant and equipment during the current or prior year.

5.14 Encumbrances

Borrowings (note 6.1) for MTN Ghana are secured by various categories of property, plant and equipment with the

carrying amounts of R7 910 million (2019: 7 326 million).
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Intangible assets and goodwill

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses and is not amortised but tested for impairment
annually.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assels. Goodwill arising on fthe
acquisition of an associate or joint venture is included in ‘Investment in associates and joint ventures’ and is fested
for impairment as part of the overall balance.

Gains or losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the entity sold.

The Group annually reviews the carrying amounts of infangible assets and goodwill with indefinite useful lives for
impairments. The recoverable amounts of the assets are estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the
impairment loss.

Infangible assefts with finite useful lives

The Group’s intangible assefs with finite useful lives are as follows:
e Licences;

o Customer relationships;

« Computer software; and

o Ofherintangible assefs.

Infangible assefs with finite useful lives are measured at historical cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses. Intangible assets acquired through business combinations are initially shown at fair value and
are subsequently carried at the initially determined fair value less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. The initial cost incurred in respect of licences is capitalised. Conftingent licence fees are expensed as they
are incurred.

As the functional currencies of MTN South Sudan, MTN Sudan and MTN Syria are currencies of hyperinflationary
economies, intangible assefts relating to these subsidiaries are restated by applying the change in the general
price indices from the date of acquisition fo the current reporting date.

Amortisation is calculated on a straight-line basis fo write off the cost of intangible assets over their estimated
useful lives. Amortisation relating fto MTN South Sudan, MTN Sudan and MTN Syria is based on fhe restated
amounts, which have been adjusted for the effects of hyperinflation.

Useful lives are reviewed on an annual basis with the effects of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis. The residual values of infangible assets are assumed to be zero.
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5.2

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
Intangible assefs with finite useful lives (conftinued)

The basis for defermining the useful lives for the various categories of infangible assets is as follows:

2020 2019
Basis for defermining useful lives Years Years

Licences The useful lives are determined primarily with
reference to the unexpired licence period. 2-30 2-30

Customer relationships  The useful life principally reflects management’s view
of the average economic life of rhe customer base and
is assessed by reference fo factors such as cusfomer
churn rates. An increase in churn rates may lead to a
reduction in fhe estimated useful life. 4-6 4-6

Software The useful life is defermined with reference to the
licence ferm of the computer software. For unique
software products controlled by the Group, the useful
life is based on historical experience with similar assets,
as well as anticipation of future events such as
fechnological changes, which may impact the useful life. 3-6 3-6

Other infangible assefts  Useful lives are based on management’s estimate and
fake info account historical experience as well as fufure
events which may impact rhe useful lives. 3-10 3-10

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an infangible asset is included in profit or loss.

Development costs that are directly atfributrable fo the design and tesfting of identifiable and unique soffware

products controlled by the Group are recognised as infangible assefls when the following criteria are met:

o |Fis fechnically feasible fo complete the software so that it will be available for use;

¢ Management intends fo complete the software and use or sell it;

e There is an ability fo use or sell the software;

e |F can be demonstrated how the soffware will generate probable future economic benefits;

« Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and fo use or sell the soffware
are available; and

« The expendifture aftributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the soffware include employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads. Capitalised development costs are recorded as infangible assefs and amortised
from the point at which the asset is ready for use.

Costs associated with maintaining software programs are recognised as an expense as incurred. Research and
development expenditure that does not meet the criteria above is recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an assel in a subsequent period.

Expenditure that enhances or extends the performance of infangible assefs beyond their original specifications is
recognised as a capital improvement and capitalised fo the original cost of the assets. Expenditure on research
activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Impairment

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an asset or a CGU exceeds its estimated
recoverable amount. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together info CGUs. The
recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. In
assessing value in use and fair value less costs of disposal, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to Ftheir
present value using an appropriate discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and fhe risks specific fo the asset.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first fo reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated fo the units and then fo reduce the carrying amounts of the ofher assetls in the unit (group of units) on
a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is subsequently reversed only to the extent rhat the assel or CGU's carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount Fhalk would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is nof reversed.
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

Carrying amount at
1 January 2019
Additions
Reallocations
Amortisation for the
year

Reclassified from
held for sale

Ofher movements
Effect of movements
in exchange rates?
Carrying amount at
31 December 2019
Comprising:

Cost

Accumulated
amortisation and
impairment losses

Carrying amount at
1 January 2020
Additions

Disposals
Reallocations
Reclassified fo held
for sale
Amortisafion for the
year

Impairment loss
Other movements
Effect of movements
in exchange rafes?

Carrying amount at
31 December 2020
Comprising:

Cost

Accumulated

amortisation and
impairment losses

Goodwill

Rm

17 236

(1684)

15552

21798

(6 246)
15552

15552

(998)

1021

15575

21798

(6 223)
15575

! Includes the effect of hyperinflation.
2 Included in soffware are internally generated intangible assers with a carrying value of R1,7 billion (2019: R1,4 billion). During the year
additions of R472 million (2019: R332 million) and amortisation of R632 million (2019: R611 million) were recognised.

Licences
Rm

13582
437
8

(1667)

(515)

11 846

24 344

(12 498)
11 846

11 846
3524
30
(575)
(1974)
(249)

447

13 058

27 826

(14 768)
13 058

Customer
relation-
ships

Rm

476

278

1306

(1028)
278

278

102

1314

(1212)
102

Software?
Rm

8764
2224
(52)

3271

(6)

(146)

7 513

22 240

(14 727)
7 513

7513
3624
(7)
1720
(135)
(3 590)

1

101

9227

26 693

(17 466)
9227
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Other
infangible
assels
Rm

15

(2)

302
a7)

©)

293

5755

(5462)
293

293
2

(2)
111

45

449

5848

(5 399)
449

(confinued)

Capital
work-in-
progress?
Rm

273

1553
(425)

4)
(13)

1384

1384

1384

1384
783

(1450)

23

(82)

658

658

658

Total
Rm

40331
4229
(469)

(5138)

302
(26)

(2363)

36 866

76 827

(39 961)
36 866

36 866
7 933
(7)
309
(710)
(5743)
(998)
(114)

1533

39 069

84 137

(45 068)
39 069
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5.2.1

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill
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Company financial

skafements

(confinued)

A summary of the goodwill allocation and related assumptions applied for impairment testing purposes is presented

below:

MTN Céte d'lvoire

MTN Ghana

MTN Yemen

MTN Afghanistan

MTN Uganda

MTN Congo-Brazzaville
MTN Benin

MTN SA

MTN Liberia

MTN Rwandacell Limited
(MTN Rwanda)

MTN Nigeria

MTN Zambia

MTN Guinea-Bissau
Other

Total

Growth
rate

1,4
8,7
8,0
9,7
4,8
2,6
6,3
3,9
2,8

6,3
12,7
13,3

6,3

2020

Discount
rate
%

6,6
16,5
28,5
20,5
11,8
13,2
13,2

8,8
19,0

gl
19,8
30,9
17,0

Goodwill
carrying
amount
Rm

3345
3830
564
524
649
1109
1532
2584
124

315
367
114
265
253

15575

Growth
rare
%

2,0
8,0
5,0
5,0
5,0
3,0
2,0
53
2,3

5,0
11,0
8,0
2,5

2019

Discount
rate
%

8,3
17,5
18,5
15,3
13,2
14,1

9,9
10,5
21,0

13,2
19,6
19,3
11,7

Goodwill
carrying
amount
Rm

2920
3722
1092
497
617
967
1314
2584
357

320
384
163
355
260

15552

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. The recoverable amounts of CGUs were determined based on value in
use calculations. The calculations mainly used cash flow projections based on financial budgefts approved by
management covering a three fo five-year period. Management is confident that projections covering periods
longer than three years are appropriate in order for ferminal values to be determined using steady-state cash
flows. Cash flows beyond the above period were exftrapolated using the estimated growrh rates as mentioned
above. These growth rates are in line with industry norms.

The following key assumptions were used for the value in use (2019: fair value less costs of disposal) calculations:
o Growth rates: the Group used steady growth rates to extrapolate revenues beyond the budgel period cash flows.
The growth rates were consistent with publicly available information relating fo long-term average growth
rates for each of the markets in which the respective CGU operated. The average growth rates used ranged from
1,4% to 13,3% (2019: 2% to 74,7%); and
o Discount rates: discount rates used reflect both fime value of money and ofther specific risks relating o the
relevant CGU. The Group experienced a decline in these specific risks, as a result, the discount rates ranged from
6,6% o 30,9% (2019: 8,3% to 106,1%).
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INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)

Intangible assets and goodwill (conftinued)

Goodwill (continued)

Goodwill impairment

The poor economic environment combined with further impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in a number of the Group's
operations in the WECA and MENA regions resulted in suppressed revenue growth and lower operating margins being
experienced, which decreased forecast cash flows at 31 December 2020. In addition, sovereign risk premiums have
increased significantly for MTN Guinea-Bissau and MTN Yemen given the macroeconomic environment in these
countries.

An impairment charge amounting fo R525 million was recognised against the goodwill of MTN Yemen. The operational
and economic ouflook in MTN Yemen remains negative due to political instability and subdued economic conditions. This
has an impact across all industries in-country. As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of this CGU exceeded its
recoverable amount, necessitating an impairment. The remaining goodwill balance for MTN Yemen at 31 December 2020
amounts fo R564 million, affter recognising the impairment charge.

An impairment charge amounting fo R308 million was recognised against the goodwill of MTN Liberia. The operational
and economic outlook in MTN Liberia remains negative due to the government struggling with its budget deficit and
rising inflation rates. This has an impact across all industries in-country. During the year, the carrying value of this
CGU exceeded its recoverable amount, necessitating an impairment. The remaining goodwill balance for MTN Liberia
at 31 December 2020 amounts fo R124 million, after recognising the impairment charge.

An impairment charge amounting to R165 million was recognised against the goodwill of MTN Guinea-Bissau. The
operational and economic ouflook in MTN Guinea-Bissau remains uncertain due fo political instability and volatile
agricultural prices, which has resulted in more conservative budgels being planned. During the year, the
carrying value of this CGU exceeded ifs recoverable amount, necessitating an impairment. The remaining goodwill
balance for MTN Guinea-Bissau at 31 December 2020 amounts fo R265 million, after recognising the impairment charge.

Recoverable amounts are represented by a CGU'’s value in use. Specific changes to discount and growth rates that would
result in the recoverable amount exceeding the carrying amount of the nef assets are not considered to be sensitive.

Encumbrances
Borrowings are secured by various categories of infangible assets of MTN Ghana with a carrying amount of R487 million
(2019: R259 million?Y), refer to note 6.1.

! Included in encumbrances for 31 December 2019 was an amount of R829 million relating to licences rhat is now excluded in accordance with
the facility security agreement existing as at 31 December 2019.
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5.2.3

INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)

Licences
Licence agreements
MTN SA

MTN Uganda
MTN Rwanda

MTN Nigeria

MTN Zambia

MTN Ghana

N\ 03 “

Company financial

skarements skafrements
Type Granted/renewed
ECS licence 15/01/2009
ECNS licence 15/01/2009
900MHz 29/01/2003
1800MHz 29/10/2004
2100MHz 02/02/2005
6GCHz 30/08/2015
7GHz 14/06/2010
8CHz 14/06/2010
10.5GHz 07/02/2006
11GHz 23/03/2009
13CHz 06/04/2009
15CHz 21/10/2005
18CHz 14/06/2010
23GHz 14/06/2010
26GHz Sub 17 21/10/2005
26CHz Sub 18 07/02/2006
28GHz 12/04/2012
38CHz 07/10/2005
Kuband (12 — 18GHz) 02/10/2012
Eband (60 — 90GHz) 13/12/2007
National Operator Telecom Licence 01/07/2020
GSM 01/07/2008
SNO 30/06/2006
1 800MHz? 01/09/2016
900MHz? 01/09/2016
3G spectrum 01/05/2007
Unified Access Service Licence? 01/09/2006
WACS 01/01/2010
WiMax 3.5GHz specfrum 2007
Microwave spectrum
8GHz — 26GHz 2001
800MHz spectrum (Visafone) 01/01/2015
2.6GHz specftrum 01/01/2018
700MHz spectrum? 16/01/2018
National Service Licence 23/09/2010
Infernational Neftwork Licence 23/09/2010
4G (LTE) Spectrum (800MHz
Spectrum (2x10MHz)) 21/06/2016
BroadBand Wireless Access
(2 600MHz radio access) 01/12/2018
2G (900MHz & 1 800MHZz) 02/12/2019
International gateway 11/08/2019
Fixed access service of united
access 23/03/2020
3G 23/01/2009
800MHz Specftrum (2x5MHz) 10/01/2020
2G (900MHz & 1800MHz) 12/02/2019

(confinued)

Term

20 years
20 years
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
12 years

13 years

15 years

5 years

5 years

15 years

15 years
20 years
Renewable annually

Renewable annually
10 years

10 years

TBC

15 years

15 years

15 years

15 years
15 years
5 years

15 years
15 years
15 years
15 years

* The Nigerian Communications Commission suspended the effective date (16 January 2018) of the licence until all encumbrances (interferences

on the network) have been cleared.

2In February 2021, the Nigerian Communications Commission approved the early renewal of these licences, which were to expire on
31 Augusl 2021, for a further 10-year period.
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5 INFRASTRUCTURE INVESTMENTS (continued)
5.2 Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
5.2.3 Licences (conftinued)
Licence agreements Type
MTN Cameroon 2G
3G
4G

MTN Céte d’lvoire

MTN Benin

MTN Guinea-Conakry?

MTN Congo-Brazzaville

MTN Liberia

MTN Guinea-Bissau

MTN Syria

MTN Sudan

MTN Afghanistan

MTN Yemen

! The licences have expired. The Regulatory Telecommunications Ministry has granted use of the licences pending the conclusion of the

negotiations.

3G/UMTS 1,9/2,1CGHz
Universal networks
900MHz

1800 MHz
Universal licence
900MHz

1800MHz

3G

900MHz

1 800MHz

Optical fibre licence
3G

2G

Infernational gateway by optical
fibre

LTE Specftrum

WiMax

3G

Universal Telecommunication
Licence

900MHz

1800MHz

3G

4G

Freehold Licence
900MHz

1800MHz

2000MHz

Additional Frequency 1800MHz
2G + 3G

Transmission

VSAT gateway

VSAT hub

VSAT terminal
Frequency 4G

3G unified licence

New number range RTU
New number range RTU
New number range RTU
New number range RTU
New number range RTU
2G Specftrum Licence
900MHz

1800MHz

Granted/renewed

15/02/2015
15/02/2015
15/02/2015
31/05/2012
04/01/2016
19/10/2007
19/10/2007
19/03/2012
31/08/2005
31/08/2005
14/08/2013
25/11/2011
25/11/2011
02/04/2010
25/11/2011
25/11/2011

03/06/2013
12/09/2016
24/03/2009
19/02/2013

04/08/2015
23/05/2014
23/05/2014
17/07/2015
17/07/2015
01/01/2015
01/01/2016
01/01/2016
01/01/2016
07/01/2017
25/10/2003
25/10/2003
25/10/2003
25/10/2003
25/10/2003
25/10/2017
01/07/2012
31/10/2012
25/08/2013
31/10/2014
31/05/2015
31/12/2018
28/10/2020
01/01/2020
01/01/2020
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(confinued)

Term

15 years
15 years
15 years
10 years
17 years
30 years
30 years
25 years
13 years
13 years

6 years
15 years
15 years
15 years
17 years
15 years

10 years
15 years
15 years
10 years

15 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
10 years
20 years
19 years
19 years
19 years
17,5 years
20 years
20 years
20 years
20 years
20 years
7 years
15 years
15 years
14 years
13 years
12 years
9 years
10 years
2 years
2 years
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS

Borrowings
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(confinued)

Borrowings are accounted for as financial liabilities in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs and capitalised to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. When the draw down is made, the fransaction
costs are amortised fto profit or loss using the effective interest merhod. To the extent that there is no evidence that
it is probable thal some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility fo which it relates.

Detrails of the Group's significant unsecured borrowings are provided below:

Unsecured
MTN Holdings

* Syndicated term loan facility

5 Fixed interest rate

° Vendor finance facility

3 Commercial paper

2020 2019
Rm Rm
34 746 36 777
251 252
602 604
904 906
1000 1 000
1002 1002
- 1503

4 530 5553
2168 4132
1512 1518
1257 1320
2501 2515
1999 2 060
- 1528
1012 1019
- 473
534 540
401 391
1205 1200
302 303
504 506
182 186
502 514
572 585
- 208

- 401

2 006 2011
1993 1991
1510 1518
1030 1038
850 -
1007 -
859 -
162 -
932 -
444 -
1013 -

2 Variable interest rate

¢ Bilateral term loan facility
10 Senior unsecured notes
1 Credir letter

*Contractual interest rates on loans as at 31 December 2020.

Denomi- Nominal
nated inferest
currency %*

ZAR 24 5,0
ZAR 24 53
ZAR 24 5,6
ZAR 26 58
ZAR 26 58
ZAR 26 8,9
ZAR 12 6,2
us$ 12 2,4
ZAR 26 5,6
ZAR 26 59
ZAR 23 6,0
ZAR 23 5,6
ZAR 24 8,6
ZAR 24 5,4
ZAR 24 8,5
ZAR 24 53
ZAR 24 572
ZAR 24 55
ZAR 24 4,8
ZAR 24 5,0
ZAR 24 4,9
ZAR 24 572
ZAR 24 5,4
ZAR 24 7,9
ZAR 24 8,8
ZAR 26 5,6
ZAR 26 6,1
ZAR 26 5,6
ZAR 24 5,6
ZAR 24 4,9
ZAR 24 53
ZAR 24 53
ZAR 24 6,3
ZAR 24 8,3
ZAR 24 58
ZAR 23 6,1

* Revolving credit facility
7 General bank facility

11 Bank borrowings

Inferest
payment

Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Quarterly
Semi-annual
Quarterly
Quarterly

Final
maturity

June 2021
June 2023
June 2025
March 2023
December 2022
December 2020
June 2025
August 2021
October 2022
August 2021
February 2023
February 2023
July 2020

July 2022
Ocfober 2020
Oclober 2022
March 2025
September 2026
May 2022

May 2024

May 2022

May 2024

May 2026

May 2020
September 2020
June 2024
June 2024
June 2024
October 2024
June 2023

May 2021

July 2021
January 2026
January 2026
July 2023

June 2025

4 Domestic medium-term notes
& Export credit facility
12 Preference shares
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

Borrowings (continued)

Details of the Group's significant unsecured borrowings are provided below:

(confinued)

Denomi- Nominal
2020 2019 nated interest Inferest Final
Rm Rm currency %* payment maturity
MTN Nigeria 19 107 15815
309 491 us$ 128 5,8 Semi-annual June 2022
343 551 Us$ 28 1,4 Semi-annual March 2022
6 638 7 636 NGN *2 3,5 Quarterly August 2025
7 307 6879 NGN 12 3,5 Quarterly May 2026
167 258 Us$ 26 5,8 Semi-annual February 2022
712 — USs$ 2 5,8 Semi-annual December 2023
2904 - NGN 213 5,7 Quarterly March 2021
727 - NGN 214 1,4 Monthly December 2021
MTN International
(Mauritius) Limited 2202 3775
- 699 Us$ 1215 1,9 Quarterly August 2021
2202 3076 us$ 22 2,0  Quarterly September 2023
MTN (Mauritius)
Investments Limited 25987 24 706
11072 10534 Us$ 51 4,8 Semi-annual November 2024
7 441 7 074 Us$ 510 6,5 Semi-annual Oclober 2026
7 474 7 098 Us$ >1° 5,4 Semi-annual February 2022
MTN Zambia 820 1092
111 142 Us$ 2 3,8 Semi-annual September 2023
268 362 ZAR 12 7.7 Semi-annual September 2023
154 588 ZMK 12 22,0 Semi-annual September 2023
287 — ZAR 12 7,6 Semi-annual July 2024
MTN Uganda 1558 733
438 - UGX 2 13,5 Quarterly February 2025
151 197 UGX 2¢ 12,5 Quarterly December 2023
138 185 USs$ 2¢ 51 Quarterly December 2023
- 171 UGX 12 11,2 Quarterly February 2021
- 180 Us$ 12 2,5 Quarterly February 2021
589 - uUs$ 12 3,5 Quarterly February 2025
242 - UGX 12 13,8  Quarterly February 2025

4 Domestic medium-term notes
& Export credif facility
12 Preference shares

2 Variable interest rate

¢ Bilateral term loan facility
¢ Vendor finance facility 10 Senior unsecured notes
2 Commercial paper 14 Credit lefter

5 The Group early seftled rthis facility with the aim of reducing US dollar denominated borrowings and improving Holdco leverage.

! Syndicated term loan facility
> Fixed interest rate

® Revolving credit facility
7 General bank facility
11 Bank borrowings

*Contractual interest rates on loans as at 31 December 2020.
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

Borrowings (continued)

Details of the Group's significant unsecured borrowings are provided below:

MTN Benin

MTN Céte d’lvoire

MTN Cameroon

MTN Rwanda
MTN Congo-Brazzaville

MTN Zakhele Futhi
Other unsecured
borrowings

Total unsecured
borrowings

! Syndicated term loan facility
° Fixed interest rate

¢ Vendor finance facility

3 Commercial paper

2020
Rm

2 006
36
197
1773

3423
1051
2372

1586

252
252
189
783
110

434
769

769

953

83

93 674

2019
Rm

1907
32
172
1703

3559
1197
2 362

1987
90
359
359
329
682
96

72

531
533
449

84

1166

141

92722

2 Variable infterest rate

¢ Bilateral term loan facility
10 Senior unsecured notes
4 Credit letter

*Contractual interest rates on loans as at 31 December 2020.
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Deno-
minated
currency

CFA
CFA
CFA

CFA
CFA

XAF
XAF
XAF
XAF
XAF
XAF
XAF

RWF
CFACB

CFACB
CFACB

ZAR

5,9
5,11

15

15

15

15
135
135
15
135
135

511

Nominal
inferest
%*

2,0
7,2
6,8

7,0
6,0

4,3
6,0
6,0
5,0
6,0
6,0
4,5

15,0
4,8

5,0
6,0

4,5

* Revolving credit facility
7 General bank facility
11 Bank borrowings

Interest
payment

Semi-annual
Semi-annual
Semi-annual

Quarterly
Quarterly

Semi-annual
Monthly
Monthly
Monthly
Monthly
Monthly
Monthly

Semi-annual
Quarterly

Quarterly
Quarterly

Semi-annual

(confinued)

Final
maturity

April 2029
May 2024
November 2025

January 2026
June 2023

June 2020
December 2021
December 2021
December 2021
May 2023

May 2023
March 2020

November 2025
March 2021

December 2020
June 2025

November 2021

4 Domestic medium-term notes
& Export credif facility
2 Preference shares

73



for the year ended 31 December 2020

6.1

6.2

74

FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (confinued)
Borrowings (continued)
Details of the Group's significant secured borrowings are provided below:

(confinued)

Deno- Nominal
2020 2019 minated interest Interesr Final Security/
Rm Rm currency %* payment  maturity collateral
Secured
MTN Ghana 2079 1227
566 826 GHS 12 17,1 Semi- December Floafting charge
annual 2022 on Company
assefs
406 401 GHS 23 17,1 Quarterly December  Floating charge
2022 on Company
assels
1107 - GHS 12 17,1 Semi- June Floafting charge
annual 2025 on Company
assefls
Other secured
borrowings 142 199
Total secured
borrowings 2221 1426
Total unsecured
borrowings 93 674 92 722
Total borrowings 95 895 94 148
! Syndicated term loan facility 2 Variable interest rate * Revolving credit facility
* Contractual interest rates on loans as at 31 December 2020.
2020 2019
Rm Rm
The classification of the Group'’s borrowings is as follows:
Current 17 438 15691
Non-current 78 457 78 457
95 895 94 148
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:
Nigerian naira 17 576 14 515
Unifed States dollar 32726 34 420
South African rand 34 086 34173
Benin Communauté Financiére Africaine franc 2 006 1907
Cote d'lvoire Communauté Financiere Africaine franc 3423 3559
Zambian kwacha 154 588
Congo-Brazzaville Communauté Financiere Africaine franc 769 533
Ugandan shilling 831 368
Cameroon Communauté Financiére Africaine franc 1586 1987
Ghanaian cedi 2079 1227
Ofher currencies 659 871
95 895 94 148

The Group has undrawn variable rate facilities of R33 297 million (2019: R33 790 million).

Orher non-current liabilities

Deferred income is accounted for in accordance with the policy disclosed in nofe 2.2 and other liabilities are

accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

Deferred income!
Other

*Includes deferred income relating to indefeasible right of use assets over capacity on international relecommunication

amortised to the income statement on a monthly basis.
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Rm

322
181

503

2019
Rm

319
546

865
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6 FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
6.3 Provisions

A provision is recoghised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event for
which it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required fo seftle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. A provision fo pay a levy is not recognised until the obligating
event specified in the legislation occurs, even if there is no realistic opportunity fo avoid the obligation. Provisions
are nol recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
defermined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect fo any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expected outflow of resources required fo seftle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the fime value of money and rhe risks specific fo
the obligation. The increase in fhe provision due fo the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

At the
beginning Exchange
of the and other At the end
year Additions Reversals Utilised movements' of the year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2020
Non-current
Decommissioning
provision 276 23 (4) (22) 17 290
Other provisions 100 324 (32) (39) 69 422
376 347 (36) (61) 86 712
Current
Bonus and other
employee benefit
provisions? 1240 1627 (58) (1391) 93 1511
Licence obligations 58 132 - - - 190
Other provisions 1066 672 (471) (435) (13) 819
2 364 2431 (529) (1826) 80 2520

*Includes the effect of hyperinflation.
2 Long-term service awards and other employee benefit provisions were included in other provisions in 2019 and have been aggregated with
bonus provisions in 2020 and comparative numbers have been re-presented accordingly.

Af the
beginning Exchange
of the and other Al the end
year Additions Reversals Utilised movements? of the year
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2019
Non-current
Decommissioning
provision 276 21 - (13) (8) 276
Other provisions 159 13 (16) (14) 42) 100
435 34 (16) (27) (50) 376
Current
Bonus provision 1037 1254 (49) (1152) — 1090
Decommissioning
provision 1 - - (1) - -
Licence obligations 86 - - 28) — 58
Other provisions 1113 758 (322) (281) (52) 1216
2 237 2012 (371) (1462) (52) 2 364

! Includes the effect of hyperinflation.
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (confinued)

Provisions (continued)

Bonus and other employee benefit provisions

The bonus provision consists of a performance-based bonus, which is defermined by reference to the overall Group
entity’s performance with regard to a set of predetermined key performance measures. Bonuses are payable annually
after the Group annual results have been approved. Other employee benefit provisions include long-term service
awards. This provision relates to the estimated staff cost associated with employees becoming entitled to a long-term
service award after having been in the employ of the Group for a continuous period of befween 3 and 30 years
depending on the specific Group entity with whom they are employed.

Decommissioning provision

This provision relates to the estimate of the cost of dismantling and removing either an item of property, plant and
equipment or a right-of-use asset and restoring fhe site on which the item was located fo ifs original condition. The
Group also provides for the anticipated costs associated with the resftoration of leasehold property to its original
condition at inception of the lease, including removal of items included in property, plant and equipment or right-of-
use assefs that are erected on leased land.

The Group only recognises these decommissioning costs for the proportion of its overall number of sites for which if
expects decommissioning to take place. The expected percentage has been based on actual experience in the
respective operations.

Licence obligaftions
The licence obligations provision represents the estimated costs to be incurred in fulfilling the Universal Services
Obligation (USO) in South Africa. USOs are governed by the Electronic Communications Act.

Other provisions

The Group is involved in various regulatory and indirect fax matters specific to the respective jurisdictions in which
fhe Group operates. These matters may not necessarily be resolved in a manner that is favourable fo the Group. The
Group has therefore recognised provisions in respect of these matters based on estimates and the probability of an
oufflow of economic benefits and should not be construed as an admission of legal liability.

Capital commitments

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment and software:

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Capital expenditure authorised not yet incurred al the reporting date is as
follows:
Contracted 6 814 6 548
— Property, plant and equipment 5995 5809
— Software 819 739
Nof contracted 22594 24 725
— Property, plant and equipment 18 253 21 406
— Software 4341 3319
Total commitments for property, plant and equipment and software 29 408 31273

Capital expenditure will be funded from operating cash flows, existing borrowing facilities and, where necessary, by
raising additional facilities.

MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020



01~ WY . 03

Statutory Group financial Company financial
reporfs sfafements skafrements

(confinued)

for the year ended 31 December 2020

6
6.5
6.5.1

FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
Leases
The Group's leasing activities and significant accounting policies

The Group’s leases include network infrastructure (including fower space and land), refail stores, vehicles, licences
and office equipment. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods varying between two fo fiffeen years
bul may have renewal periods as described below.

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a confract is, or contains a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asser for a period of fime in exchange
for consideration.

The Group recognises right-of-use assefs and lease liabilities at the lease commencement date for most leases.
However, the Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assefls and lease liabilities for some leases of
low-value assets (e.g. office equipment) and for short-term leases, i.e. leases that af commencement date have
lease terms of 12 months or less. The Group defines low-value leases as leases of assels for which the value of
the underlying asset when it is new is US$5 000 or less and is not considered fundamental to its network. The
Group recognises Fhe lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease ferm.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the following lease payments:

o Fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), including non-recoverable payments that do not
fransfer a separate service, less any incentives receivable.

» Variable lease payments that are based on an index or rate, measured using the index or rate as af the lease
commencement date.

« Amounts that are expected fo be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.

* The exercise price of a purchase option if fhe lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that opfion.

« Payments of penalties for ferminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that opfion.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
deftermined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that rhe lessee would have to pay to
borrow rhe funds necessary to obftain an asset of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar
ferms and condifions. Generally, the Group uses ifs incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The Group deftermines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing
sources and makes cerfain adjustfments specific to the lease, e.g. ferm, country, currency and security.

The lease liability is subsequently increased by the interest cost on the lease liability and decreased by lease
payments made. Interest costs are charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of intferest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in index or rate, a change in the estimate of the
amount payable under a residual value guarantee, or as appropriate, changes in the assessment of whether a
purchase or extension option is reasonably certain fo be exercised or a termination option is reasonably certain
nof fo be exercised.

The right-of-use assels are initially measured at cost comprising the following:

e The amount of fthe initial measurement of the lease liability.

e Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received.
e Any initial direct costs.

« Decommissioning costs.

The right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. Refer fo note 5.1 for the accounting policy
on impairment. The right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and the lease
terms on a straight-line basis.
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)

Leases (continued)

The Group's leasing activities and significant accounting policies (continued)
Renewal and termination options

A number of lease conftracts include the option to renew the lease for a further period or terminate rhe lease
earlier. The majority of extension and termination options held are exercisable only by the Group and not by the
respecfive lessor.

In determining the lease ferm, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic
incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after
fermination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably cerftain to be extended (or nof
terminated). The Group applies judgement in assessing whether it is reasonably likely that options will be exercised.
Factors considered include how farin the fufure an option occurs, the Group’s business planning cycle, significance
of relafted leasehold improvements and past history of ferminating/nof renewing leases.

The assessment is reviewed if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects
this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.

A number of leases entitle both the Group and rhe lessor o terminate the lease without a fermination penalty. In
deftermining whether the Group has an economic incentive to not exercise the termination option, the Group
considers the broader economics of the contract and not only contractual termination payments.

As aft 31 December 2020, a number of lease contracts relating to network infrastructure, include renewal options
for an unlimited number of renewal periods. Due fo fhe judgement exercised in relation fo the determination of
the lease ferm as outlined above, the Group is exposed fo potential future cash outflows relating to an indefinite
period which have not been included in the lease liability because it is not reasonably certain that fhe leases will
be extended beyond the estimated lease ferm.

Lease and non-lease components

A number of lease contracts include both lease and non-lease components (e.g. maintenance, security, etc). The
Group allocates the consideration in the confract fo each lease and non-lease component based on their relafive
stand-alone selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices of each component are based on available market
prices. The Group has not elected the practical expedient to account for non-lease components as part of its lease
liabilities and right-of-use assefs. Therefore, non-lease components are accounted for as operating expenses and
are recognised in profit or loss as they are incurred.

Revisions of MTN Nigeria lease agreement

On 30 July 2020, MTN Nigeria and Global Independent Connect Limited, INT Towers Limited, IHS (Nigeria) Limited and
IHS Towers NG Limited, the affiliates of IHS Group reached an agreement to expand the scope of their current service
agreements, and amend the currency conversion for tower services. MTN Nigeria leases the majority of the tower/
site space required for its nefwork equipment from IHS Group.

In the new agreement, the reference rates for conversions to Nigerian naira changes from the Central Bank of
Nigeria’s official rate (CBN) at N360 o the Nigerian Autonomous Foreign Exchange Rate (NAFEX) at N385. This
change will bring about improved cost for future fechnology evolution, increased focus on rural connectivity and
backhaul in the network. This resulted in an increase fo lease liabilities and right-of-use assefs of R4 093 million.
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6 FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
6.5 Leases (continued)
6.5.3 Amounts recognised in the statement of financial position

The statement of financial position shows rhe following amounts relating fo leases:

Nefwork infrastructure
Land and buildings
Licences

Other

Total right-of-use assets
Current
Non-current

Total lease liabilities

(confinued)

2020
Rm

33928
10 185
1615
428
46 156
5728
43753

49 481

2019
Rm

32907
10 254
1737
86

44 984
4 056
42271

46 327

Addifions fo right-of-use assefts during the current financial year were R4 482 million (2019: R6 587 million).

6.5.4 Amounts recognised in the income statement
The income sfatement shows rhe following amounts relating fo leases:

Neftwork infrastructure
Land and buildings
Licences

Other

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Interest expense (included in finance costs)
Expense relating fo short-term leases (included in other operating expenses)

Expense relating to leases of low-value assefs (included in other operating
expenses)

2020
Rm

5549
1471
122
62

7 204

6 547
121

39

2019
Rm

4 349
1315
91
73
5828
5709
85

Foreign exchange losses of R53 million (2019: R80 million) were recognised on foreign denominated lease liabilities

included in finance costs.

6.5.5 Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
The statement of cash flows shows the following amounts relating fo leases:

Interest paid
Repayment of lease liabilities

Total cash outflow
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5560
4 998

10558

2019
Rm

5271
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FINANCING STRUCTURE AND COMMITMENTS (continued)
Contingent liabilities

The Group does nol recognise contingent liabilities in the statement of financial position until future events
indicate that it is probable that an outflow of resources will take place and a reliable estimate can be made, at
which fFime a provision is recognised.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Confingent liabilities 3831 4 239
Uncertain fax exposures 1796 1959
Legal and regulatory matters 2035 2 280

Uncertain fax exposures

The Group operates in numerous Fax jurisdictions and the Group’s interpreftation and application of the various Fax
rules applied in direct and indirect fax filings may result in disputes between the Group and the relevant tax authority.
The outcome of such disputes may not be favourable to the Group. At 31 December 2020, there were a number of fax
disputes ongoing in various of the Group’s operating entities. The most significant matter relates to a transfer pricing
dispute which the Group is contesting with the South African Revenue Service that relates to the 2009 fo 2012 tax
years. Based on internal and external legal and technical advice obtained, the Group remains confident that it has a
robust legal case to contest the exposure.

Legal and regulatory matters
The Group is involved in various legal and regulatory matters, the outcome of which may not be favourable to the
Group and none of which are considered individually material.

The Group has applied its judgement and has recognised liabilities based on whether additional amounts will be
payable and has included contingent liabilities where economic outflows are considered possible but not probable.
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7.1

FINANCIAL RISK
Financial risk management and financial instruments

Accounting for financial instruments

Financial insfruments comprise investmenfts in equity and debt securities, loans receivable, frade and ofher
receivables (excluding prepayments), investments in self-insurance cell captives (insurance cell captives), cash
and cash equivalents, restricted cash, Mobile Money deposits, borrowings, other non-current liabilities (excluding
provisions), bank overdrafts, derivatives, frade and other payables and Mobile Money payables.

Recognition

Financial assefs and liabilities are recognised in the Group’'s statement of financial position when the Group
becomes a party fo the contractual provisions of the insfruments. Financial assefts are recognised on rhe date the
Group commits to purchase the instruments (frade date accounting).

Financial assets are classified as current if expected to be realised or seftled within 12 months from the reporting
date; if not, they are classified as non-current. Financial liabilities are classified as non-current if the Group has an
unconditional right to defer payment for more than 12 months from the reporting date.

Classification

The Group classifies financial assefs on initial recognition as measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL on the
basis of the Group’s business model for managing the financial asset and the cash flow characteristics of the
financial asset.

Financial assets are classified as follows:

Measurement category Criteria

FVTPL Debt investments thal do not qualify for measurement at amortised cost or
FVOCI; equity investments that are held for trading; and equity investments
designated as at FVTPL.

Amortised cost The assel is held within a business model with Fthe objective to collect the
contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms give rise on specified dates fo
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
oufstanding.

Equity investments at FVOCI The assef is not held for frading and the Group has irrevocably elected on iniftial
recognition to recognise the assel as at FVOCI.

Debt investments at FVOCI The confractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows thal are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding however, the
Group's business model is to both collect the contractual cash flows and sell the
financial asset.

Financial assefs are nof reclassified unless the Group changes its business model. In rare circumstances where
the Group does change its business model, reclassifications are done prospectively from the date that the Group
changes its business model.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost except for those derivative liabilities thal are
measured aF FVTPL.

Measurement on initial recognition

All financial assefs (unless it is a frade receivable without a significant financing component) and liabilities are
initially measured at fair value, including fransaction costs, except for those classified as at FVTPL which are
initially measured at fair value excluding fransaction costs. Transaction costs directly attributable fo the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities af FVTPL are recognised immediately in profil or loss. A trade receivable
wirhout a significant financing component is initially recognised af the fransaction price.
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7 FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
7.1 Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement: Financial assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assefs are measured as described below.

Category Subsequent measurement

FVTPL These financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value and changes
therein (including any infterest or dividend income) are recognised in profit or loss.

Amortised cost These financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Interest income, foreign
exchange gains and losses and impairments are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity investments at These financial assefs are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are
FVOCI recognised in profil or loss when the right fo receive payment is established. Other
nef gains and losses are recognised in OCI and never reclassified to profit or loss.

Debt investments at FVOCI These financial assefs are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairments are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are
reclassified fo profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement: Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities, excluding derivative liabilities, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective intferest method. Derivative liabilities are subsequently measured af fair value with changes therein
recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition

Financial assefts are derecognised when the rights fo receive cash flows from the assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has fransferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when rhe obligations specified in the contracts are discharged, cancelled or expire. On
derecognition of a financial asset/liability, any difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profift or loss.

Modification of financial liabilities
A substantial modification of the ferms of an existing debt instrument or part of it is accounted for as an
extinguishment of rhe original debt insfrument and rhe recognition of a new debt instrument.

Gains or losses arising from the modification of the terms of a debt instrument are recognised immediately in
profit or loss where the modification does not result in the derecognition of the existing instrument.

Offsetting financial instruments

Offsefting of financial assets and liabilities is applied when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and fthere is an intenfion fo seftle on a nef basis or realise the assel and seftle the liability
simultaneously. The net amount is reported in the statement of financial position.

Impairment

Under IFRS 9 the Group calculates its allowance for credit losses as ECLs for financial assefs measured at
amortised cost, debt investments atf FVOCI and contract assefts (unbilled handset component for contract). ECLs
are a probability weighted estimate of credif losses. Credif losses are measured as fhe present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the
cash flows thal the Group expects fo receive). ECLs are discounted at the original effective interest rate (EIR) of
the financial asset.

To calculate ECLs the Group segments/groups frade receivables by customer type i.e. interconnect, Enterprise
Business Unit (EBU), mobile (billed handsel and nefwork services component for confracts) etc. The Group applies
the simplified approach to determine the ECL for frade receivables and confract assets. This results in calculating
lifetime ECLs for frade receivables and contract assets. ECLs for frade receivables is calculated using a provision
matrix. For contract assets and mobile ftrade receivables relating to the South African operaftion, ECLs are
deftermined using a simplified parameter-based approach. Refer to note 7.1.4 for more detail about ECLs and how
these are calculated.

Risk management

Infroduction

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, liquidity risk and
markel risk (foreign exchange, interest rate and price risk). This note presents information about the Group’s exposure
fo each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and rthe
Group’'s management of capital. Further quantitative disclosures are included rhroughout these consolidated
financial statements. While MTN Syria has been classified as a disposal group held for sale, the entity still exposes
the Group to risks relating to financial instruments. Accordingly, MTN Syria has been included in the financial risk
management and financial instruments disclosure.
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7.1.1

FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Risk management (continued)

Risk profile

The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markefts and seeks ro
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group considers natural hedges
Fhat may exist and, in addition, where possible, uses derivative financial instruments such as forward exchange
confracts to hedge exposures. As a matter of principle, the Group does not enter into derivative contracts for
speculative purposes. The Group applies hedge accounting fo manage its risk of currency exchange rate volatility
associated with certain of its investments in foreigh operations.

Risk management is carried out under policies approved by the Board of Directors of the Group and of relevant
subsidiaries. The MTN Group Treasury Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in cooperation with
Fhe Group'’s operating units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as for specific
areas such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments, and
investing cash. Group freasury is responsible for managing the Group's exposure to financial risk within the policies
sel by the Board of Directors, under the guidance of the Group CFO, Group Audit Committee and Group Risk
Management and Compliance committee.

Categories of financial instfruments

Assels Liabilities
Fair value Fair value
through through Total
Amortised profit Amortised profit carrying
cost or loss FVOCI cost or loss amount
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2020
Non-current financial
assels
Loans and ofther
non-current receivables 489 - - - - 489
Investments 948 - 27 570 - - 28518
Mobile Money deposifts 329 - - - - 329
Current financial assets
Trade and ofther
receivables? 24 391 - - - - 24 391
Current investments? 7 871 2054 - - - 9925
Restricted cash? 6 894 - - - - 6 894
Mobile Money deposits 27 679 - - - - 27 679
Cash and cash
equivalents? 31114 - - - - 31114
99 715 2054 27 570 - - 129 339
Non-current financial
liabilities
Borrowings - - - 78 457 - 78 457
Other non-current
liabilities* - - - 149 - 149
Lease liabilities®? - - - 43871 - 43 871
Current financial
liabilities
Trade and ofther
payables! - - - 38 597 - 38 597
Mobile Money payables - - - 28 008 - 28 008
Lease liabilities? - - - 5766 - 5766
Borrowings - - - 17 438 - 17 438
Derivative liabilities - - - - 7 7
Bank overdrafts - - - 354 - 354
- - - 212 640 7 212 647

* Includes non-current assels held for sale and directly associated liabilities relating fo MTN Syria.
2 Lease liabilities are measured in accordance with IFRS 16, refer to note 6.5.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Categories of financial instruments (continued)

(confinued)

Assefs Liabilities
Fair value Fair value
Fhrough Fhrough Total
Amortised profif Amortised profif carrying
cost or loss FVOCI cost or loss amount
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2019
Non-current financial
assels
Loans and other
non-current receivables 471 - - - - 471
Investments - - 28 555 - - 28 555
Current financial assefts
Trade and other
receivables 21947 - - - - 21947
Current investments 2221 1951 219 - - 4 391
Derivative assefts - 75 - - - 75
Restricted cash 2042 - - - - 2 042
Mobile Money deposifts 15315 - - - - 15315
Cash and cash
equivalents 21739 - - - - 21739
63 735 2026 28774 - - 94 535
Non-current financial
liabilities
Borrowings - - - 78 457 - 78 457
Ofrher non-current
liabilifies - - - 383 - 383
Lease liabilities? 42 271 - 42271
Current financial
liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - 33719 - 33719
Mobile Money payables - - - 15 315 - 15315
Lease liabilities? - - - 4 056 - 4 056
Borrowings - - - 15691 - 15691
Derivative liabilities — — - - 21 21
Bank overdraft - - - 132 - 132
- - - 190 024 21 190 045

! Lease liabilities are measured in accordance with IFRS 16,

refer fo note 6.5.
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7.1.3

FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting

The following table presents the Group's financial assets and liabilities that are subject to offsetting:

Gross Amount
amount offset Nel amount
Rm Rm Rm

2020
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 4500 (2118) 2382
Current financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 2587 (2118) 469
2019
Current financial assets
Trade and ofther receivables 2141 (962) 1179
Current financial liabilities
Trade and ofther payables 1164 (962) 202

The amounts subject to offseltting include intferconnect receivables and payables. The Group has entered into
agreements with the respective counterparties which permit it fo offset any payables owing fo the counterparty
against receivables owing to the Group. This right fo offsef exists in all circumstances and the Group infends fo seftle
on a nef basis.

Fair value estimation

A number of the Group’s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair values. The Group uses
valuation fechniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure
fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inpuls and minimising the use of unobservable inpufs.

The fable on the next page presents the Group’s assels and liabilities that are measured af fair value. The classification

into different levels is based on the extent that quoted prices are used in the calculation of fair value and the levels

have been defined as follows:

o Level 1: fair value based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assers or liabilities;

o Level 2: fair value based on inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asser
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices); or

« Level 3: fair value based on inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is,
unobservable inputs).
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

The following table presents the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at
fair value:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm

2020
Financial assels
Investment in IHS Group - - 27 197 27 197
Investment in bonds (debt instruments) classified
as ar fair value through profit of loss 916 - - 916
Unlisted equity invesfments - - 373 373
Investment in cell captrives - - 1138 1138
Total assets 916 - 28708 29 624
Financial liabilities
Cross-currency swaps - 7 - 7
Total liabilities - 7 - 7
2019
Financial assels
Investment in IHS Group - - 27 000 27 000
Investment in Jumia 1397 - - 1397
Unlisted equity invesfments - - 158 158
Investment in treasury bills classified at fair value
Fhrough profit or loss 139 - - 139
Investment in treasury bills classified at fair value
Fhrough other comprehensive income 219 - - 219
Investment in cell captives - - 1812 1812
Forward exchange confracts - 75 - 75
Total assefts 1755 75 28 970 30 800
Financial liabilities
Forward exchange confracts - 21 - 21
Total liabilities - 21 - 21

Valuation methods and assumptions
The following methods and assumptions were used fo estimate the respective fair values:

IHS Group unlisted equity investment — The fair value is defermined using models considered to be appropriate by
management, due fo the absence of transactions between markel participants. The fair value was calculated using
an earnings multiple fechnique and was based on unobservable markel inputs including international fower industry
earnings multiples of befween 10x fo 13x (2019: 10x to 14x) applied to MTN management’s estimates of earnings,
less estimated net debt of R23 330 million (2019: R20 217 million). In addition, the Group has applied a combined
liquidity and macro discount of 30% (2019: liquidity discount of 10%).

Given the confidentiality restrictions in the shareholders’ agreement with IHS Group, MTN does not have access fo
fhe IHS Group business plans or actual financial information. Any estimated earnings used fo derive the existing fair
value are rherefore solely based on MTN management assumptions and market estimates on financial growth,
currency movements, costs and performance. The investment has therefore been classified as level 3 on the fair
value hierarchy. An increase of one in the low and high end of the multiple range, keeping other inputs constant,
would have resulted in an increase in the fair value of R2 700 million (2019: R2 813 million) and a decrease of one in
fhe low and high end of the multiple range, keeping other inputs constant, would have resulted in a decrease in the
fair value by R2 700 million (2019: R2 813 million).
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)

Valuation methods and assumptions (continued)

IHS Group unlisted equity invesfmentf (continued)

An increase of 10% in the estimated earnings used, keeping other inpufs constant, would have resulted in an increase
in the fair value of R3 019 million (2019: R3 228 million) and a decrease of 10% in the estimated earnings
used, keeping other inpufts constant, would have resulted in a decrease in the fair value of R3 019 million (2019:
R3 228 million).

An increase of 1% to the combined liquidity and macro discount (2019: liquidity discount), keeping ofher inputs
constant, would have resulted in a decrease in the fair value of R389 million (2019: R300 million) and a decrease of
1% o the combined liquidity and macro discount (2019: liquidity discount), keeping ofher inputs constant, would have
resulted in an increase in the fair value by R389 million (2019: R300 million).

A fair value decrease of R1 151 million (2019: increase of R4 297 million) franslated af the closing US dollar exchange
rate has been recognised for the year.

Other unlisted equity investments — Fair values have been estimated using the discounted cash flow model. The
discounted cash flow model requires management to make assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast
cash flows, the discount rate, credit risk and volatility. The probabilities of the various estimates within the range can
be reasonably assessed and are used in management’s estimate of fair value for fhese unquoted equity investments.

Jumia listed equity investment — In 2020 the Group disposed of its entire shareholding in Jumia through multiple sales
fransactions with the final sale completed on 8 October 2020. The sales ftransactions closed for proceeds of
US$138 million (R2,3 billion). The Group had classified the investment in Jumia as at FVOCI resulting in the disposal
having no impact on profit or loss.

In 2019 the American Depository Share (ADS) price of Jumia was US$6,73 on the last trading day of the year resulting
in a fair value decrease of R1 651 million being recognised in OCI as at 31 December 2019. In 2020, a fair value
increase of R962 million has been recognised for the year.

Derivatives — The Group enters into derivative financial instfruments with various counterparties. Interest rate swaps,
cross-currency swaps, foreign exchange contracts and equity derivatives are valued using valuation fechniques,
which employ the use of markel observable inpufs. The most frequently applied valuation fechniques include forward
pricing and swap models using present value calculaftions. The models incorporate various inputs, including rhe credift
quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates, yield curves of the respective currencies, currency
basis spreads between the respective currencies and infterest rate curves.

Investment in insurance cell captives — The fair value of the investment in insurance cell captives is defermined based
on the net assel value of the insurance cell captive at the reporting date. The net asset value is determined from
statements received from the insurer in respect of the net assets of the cell.

Investment in freasury bills — The fair value of these investments is determined by reference to published price
quotations in an active market.

Fair value measurements for financial insfruments not measured at fair value
Financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost — The carrying value of current receivables and liabilities
measured at amortised cost approximates their fair value.

The fair values of the majority of the non-current receivables and liabilities measured at amortised cost, other than
for the instruments listed below, are also not significantly different to their carrying values.

The Group has listed long-term fixed interest rate senior unsecured notes in issue which were issued in prior
years, with a carrying amount of R11 072 million (2019: R10 534 million) and a fair value of R11 692 million (2019:
R10 777 million). The notes are listed on the Irish bond market and the fair values of these instruments are determined
by reference fo quoted prices in this market. The market for these bonds is not considered fo be liquid and consequently
fhe fair value measurement is categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

In 2016, the Group issued US$1 billion listed long-term fixed interest rate unsecured notes. Notes with a face value of
US$500 million are redeemable in 2022 (the 2022 notes), with the remaining US$500 million redeemable in
2026 (the 2026 notes). Ar 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the 2022 notes is R7 474 million (2019:
R7 098 million) and the fair value is R7 588 million (2019: R7 252 million); and the carrying amount of the 2026 notes
is R7 441 million (2019: R7 074 million) and the fair value is R8 411 million (2019: R7 746 million). The notes are listed
on fthe Irish bond markel and the fair value of these instruments is determined by reference to quoted prices in this
market. The market for these bonds is not considered to be liquid and consequently the fair value measurement is
categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Fair value estimation (continued)
Reconciliation of level 3 financial assefts

(confinued)

The table below sefs ouf the reconciliation of financial assets that are measured at fair value based on inputs that

are nol based on observable market data (level 3):

Balance at 1 January 2019

Contributions paid to insurance cell captives
Claims received by insurance cell captives
Loss recognised in profit or loss

Balance at 1 January 2020

Contributions paid fo insurance cell captives
Claims received by insurance cell captives
Loss recognised in profit or loss

Balance at 31 December 2020

Balance at 1 January 2019

Disposal of the underlying equity investments of Amadeus
Acquisitions

Gain on equity investments at FVOCI

Foreign exchange differences

Balance at 1 January 2020

Acquisitions

Loss on equity investments at FVOCI

Foreign exchange differences

Balance at 31 December 2020

Credil risk

Insurance
cell captives
Rm

1597

469
(123)
(131)
1812

605
(869)
(410)
1138
Inveskments
Rm

24 025
(592)

75

4 401
(751)

27 158
158
(1575)
1829

27 570

Credit risk, or fthe risk of financial loss to the Group due to customers or counterparties not meeting their contractual
obligations, is managed through the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of the financial assefts and confract assels

Fhat are exposed to credit risk.

The Group considers its maximum exposure per class, without taking into account any collateral and financial

guarantees, to be as follows:

Investments

Loans and ofther non-current receivables
Trade and other receivables?®
Trade receivables?

Other receivables?

Contract assefs

Current investrments?
Derivative assefs

Restricted cash?

Mobile Money deposits

Cash and cash equivalents?

12020 includes non-current assets held for sale relating fo MTN Syria.
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2020
Rm
948
489
24 391
15 337
9 054
3692
9925
6 894
28 008
31114
105 461

2019
Rm

471
21947
14 504

7 443
3868
4391
75
2042
15315
21739
69 848
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Credil risk (continued)

The risk rating grade of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are sef out below. Given these credit ratings,
management does not expect any counterparty to fail fo meetr its obligations.

Credif Cash and
ratings cash Restricted
of financial  equivalents! cash?
institution Rm Rm
2020
South Africa (including head office entities)? AA+ o B- 12 450 4 605
MTN Nigeria B to B- 10 090 1757
MTN (Dubai) Limited (MTN Dubai) and GlobalConnect
Solutions Limited? A+ to A- 2165 137
MTN Rwanda AAloB 328 -
Other Various 6 081 395
31114 6 894
* 2020 includes non-current assers held for sale relating fo MTN Syria.
2 The 2020 credif ratings comprise national scale long-term ratings.
3 Included in the cash and cash equivalents balance is R138 million that is held
with a financial institution that is not rated in 2020 which contributed a risk
rating grade of B- in 2019.
2019
South Africa (including head office entities) BBB- 7762 -
MTN Nigeria B+ fo B- 4 458 1459
MTN Dubai A+ o B- 1746 119
Other Various 7773 464
21739 2042

The credit risk rating grade of the Group’s treasury bills denominated in Nigerian naira range from B- fo B (2019: B- to B).

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and current inveskments

The Group determines appropriate internal credit limits for each counterparty. In determining rhese limits, the Group
considers the counterparty’s credit rating established by an accredited ratings agency and performs internal risk
assessments. The Group manages its exposure to a single counterparty by spreading transactions among approved
financial institutions. The Group Treasury Committee regularly reviews and monitors the Group's credil exposure.

Inveskment in insurance cell captives
The Group has exposure fo the credif risk of the insurance company through its investment in preference shares in
irs cell captive arrangements.

Mobile Money deposits

MoMo deposits are balances that are held with banks for and on behalf of MoMo customers. Regulations in certain
jurisdictions specify the types of permissible liquid instruments in which these deposits may be invested in. MoMo
deposits are spread among approved, reputable financial institutions based on internal risk assessments or guidance
provided by regulators, fo manage the concentration of credit risk fo a single counterparty. Many risk mitigations are
in place and banks are also obliged fo pay insurance premiums to protect MoMo customer deposits (or a portion
fhereof) in the event of bank failure.

As a resulf of the uncertain and evolving legal and regulatory environment, the assessment of which party in a MoMo
arrangement is exposed to a bank credif risk event, has become increasingly complex and dependent on legal
inferprefations that are largely unftested in fhe respective markets in which the Group operates. Consequently, the
assessment of the Group’s credift risk exposure with regards to MoMo remains subject to legal and regulatory
developments.

The treatment of MoMo in the financial statements is nof, and should not be construed as a waiver by members of the
Group of any legal, conftractual or statutory rights, remedies and defences they may have, or as an admission
of liability enforceable against any of them in law or otherwise. The legal, confractual and statutory rights, remedies
and defences of members of the group are reserved.

Trade receivables and contract assets (unbilled handset component)

A large portion of the Group's postpaid market revenues are generated in South Africa. There are no other significant
concentrations of credit risk, since the other operations within the Group operate largely within the prepaid market.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that retail sales of products and services are made fo customers with an
appropriate credit history. Before credit is granted fo a customer, the Group performs credit risk assessments through
credit bureaus. The Group insures some of its frade receivables in its South African operation, in which instance the
credif risk assessments are performed by the credit insurer prior to the granting of credit by the Group. In terms of
fhis arrangement R6,3 billion (2019: R6,5 billion) has been insured, for which the Group's risk is limited fo R1,1 billion
(2019: R1 billion). In addition, some entities within the Group require potential customers to obtain guarantees from
banks before credit is granted. During the current year the Group did not recognise ECLs amounting to R33,7 million
(2019: R97 million) as a result of collateral held.

The recoverability of interconnect receivables in certain international operations is uncerftain; however, this is
actively managed within acceptable limits and has been incorporated in the assessment of an appropriate revenue
recogniftion policy (note 2.2) and the ECL of frade receivables where applicable. In addition, in certain countries there
exists a right of set-off with interconnect parties fo enable collection of outstanding amounts.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)
Credir risk (continued)

Ageing and impairment analysis

2020 2019

Gross Impairment Nef Gross  Impairment Nef
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Fully performing trade
receivables 8 745 (103) 8642 9077 (253) 8 824
Interconnect receivables 707 (24) 683 675 (72) 603
Contract receivables 1029 (32) 997 987 (64) 923
Retrail receivables 6 258 (1) 6 257 5839 41) 5798
EBU receivables 460 (41) 419 1049 (45) 1004
Other receivables? 291 (5) 286 527 (31) 496
Past due trade receivables 9730 (3 035) 6 695 7 798 (2118) 5680
Interconnect receivables 1929 (492) 1437 2 399 (386) 2013
0 to 3 months 571 (30) 541 566 (73) 493
3 fo 6 months 331 (149) 182 676 (104) 572
6 fo 9 months 83 (12) 71 152 (14) 138
9 fo 12 months 944 (301) 643 1 005 (195) 810
Contract receivables 1462 (740) 722 1567 (786) 781
0O to 3 months 800 (281) 519 752 (235) 517
3 to 6 months 150 (57) 93 438 (279) 159
6 to 9 months 85 (48) 37 55 (35) 20
9 to 12 months 427 (354) 73 322 (237) 85
Retail receivables 1415 (434) 981 1187 (362) 825
0 to 3 months 612 (77) 535 412 4) 408
3 to 6 months 331 (95) 236 485 (164) 321
6 fo 9 months 112 (23) 89 34 (11) 23
9 to 12 months 360 (239) 121 256 (183) 73
EBU receivables 2028 (905) 1123 1116 (428) 688
0 to 3 months 607 (43) 564 260 (38) 222
3 to 6 months 681 (492) 189 247 (83) 164
6 ro 9 months 48 (30) 18 59 (12) 47
9 to 12 months 692 (340) 352 550 (295) 255
Other receivables? 2896 (464) 2432 1529 (156) 1373
0 fo 3 months 683 (54) 629 479 3) 476
3 to 6 months 1633 (159) 1474 658 (65) 593
6 fo 9 months 73 (30) 43 104 3) 101
9 to 12 months 507 (221) 286 288 (85) 203
Total 18 475 (3 138) 15 337 16 875 (2371) 14 504

1 Other receivables includes both national and international roaming receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

Total past due per significant operation

Inter-
connect Contract Retail EBU Other

receivables receivables receivables receivables receivables! Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

2020
MTN SA 266 523 613 679 1116 3197
MTN Nigeria 87 241 - - 332 660
MTN Cbte d’lvoire 114 286 175 - 130 705
MTN Yemen 510 83 - - 109 702
MTN Cameroon 11 24 51 311 28 425
MTN Benin 106 - - - 642 748
MTN Guinea-Conakry 189 82 247 44 15 577
MTN Congo-Brazzaville 250 - - 473 - 723
Other operations 396 223 329 521 524 1993
1929 1462 1415 2028 2896 9730

2019
MTN SA 479 669 665 189 74 2076
MTN Nigeria 114 114 - - 255 483
MTN Céte d’lvoire 56 314 161 - 92 623
MTN Yemen 524 86 - - 66 676
MTN Cameroon 69 43 85 247 29 473
MTN Benin 142 - - - 412 554
MTN Guinea-Conakry 171 79 87 164 18 519
MTN Congo-Brazzaville 175 - - 323 - 498
Orher operations 669 262 189 193 583 1896
2 399 1567 1187 1116 1529 7 798

! Other receivables includes both national and international roaming receivables.

Expected credit losses

The Group has the following financial assels subject fo the ECL model:
« Trade and other receivables;

« Contracl assefs;

« Loans and ofher non-current receivables;

« Debt investments carried at amortised cost;

o Treasury bills and foreign deposits carried at amortised cost;

e Cash and cash equivalents;

« Restricted cash; and

« MoMo deposits.

Application of the ECL model had an immaterial impact on all financial assefs except for contract assets and trade
receivables.

Included in ofther receivables are amounts receivable from related parties (note 10.1) fo which the Group has applied
fhe general impairment model. The Group has considered the financial performance, external debt and future cash
flows of the related parties and concluded that the credit risk relating fo these receivables is limited and consequently
the probability of default relating to these balances is low.

Provision matrix — ECLs are calculated by applying a loss ratio to the aged balance of trade receivables at each
reporting date. The loss ratio is calculated according to the ageing/payment profile of sales by applying historical/
proxy write offs to the payment profile of the sales population. In insfances where fhere was no evidence of historical
write offs management used a proxy write off. Trade receivable balances have been grouped so that the ECL
calculation is performed on groups of receivables with similar risk characteristics and ability to pay. Similarly, the
sales population selected to determine the ageing/payment profile of the sales is representative of the entire
population and in line with future payment expectations. The historic loss ratio is then adjusted for forward-looking
information (including forecast economic indicators, as affected by the COVID-19 pandemic) to determine the ECL
for the portfolio of frade receivables af the reporting date to the extent that there is a strong correlation beftween the
forward-looking information, and the ECL.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Expected credit losses (continued)

Provision matrix (continued)

The Group used 12 — 36 months sales data to determine the payment profile of the sales. Where the Group has
information about actual historical write-offs, actual write-offs have been used to determine a historic loss ratio.
Alternatively, management has used a proxy write-off based on management’s best estimate. The Group has
considered quantitative forward-looking information such as the core inflation rate. Qualitative assessments have
also been performed, of which the impact was found to be immaterial.

The loss allowance for frade receivables to which fhe provision matrix has been applied is defermined as follows:

Average
Gross ECL/
carrying impairment
amounk Impairment ratio
2020 Rm Rm %
Interconnect receivables 2636 (516) 19,58
Fully performing 707 (24) 3,39
Up fo 90 days past due 571 (30) 5,25
120 days and above past due 1358 (462) 34,02
Contract receivables 1418 (504) 35,54
Fully performing 479 (28) 5,85
Up to 90 days past due 277 17) 6,14
120 days and above past due 662 (459) 69,34
Retail receivables 7 673 (435) 5,67
Fully performing 6 258 (1) 0,02
Up to 90 days past due 612 (77) 12,58
120 days and above past due 803 (357) 44,46
EBU receivables 2488 (946) 38,02
Fully performing 460 (41) 8,91
Up to 90 days past due 607 (43) 7,08
120 days and above past due 1421 (862) 60,66
Other receivables? 3187 (469) 14,72
Fully performing 291 (5) 1,72
Up to 90 days past due 683 (54) 7,91
120 days and above past due 2213 (410) 18,53
Total 17 402 (2 870) 16,49
2019
Interconnect receivables 3074 (458) 14,90
Fully performing 675 (72) 10,67
Up to 90 days past due 566 (73) 12,90
120 days and above past due 1833 (313) 17,08
Contract receivables 1262 (453) 35,90
Fully performing 364 (16) 4,40
Up to 90 days past due 295 (98) 33,22
120 days and above past due 603 (339) 56,22
Retail receivables 7 026 (403) 5,74
Fully performing 5839 (41) 0,70
Up to 90 days past due 412 (4) 0,97
120 days and above past due 775 (358) 46,19
EBU receivables 2 165 473) 21,85
Fully performing 1 049 (45) 4,29
Up to 90 days past due 260 (38) 14,62
120 days and above past due 856 (390) 45,56
Orher receivables? 2 056 (187) 9,10
Fully performing 527 (31) 5,88
Up fo 90 days past due 479 3) 0,63
120 days and above past due 1050 (153) 14,57
Total 15583 (1974) 12,67

1 Other receivables includes both national and international roaming receivables.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Credil risk (continued)

Expected credit losses (continued)

Simplified parameter-based approach — ECL is calculated using a formula incorporating the following parameters:
Exposure at Default (EAD), Probability of Default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) discounted using the Effective Interest
Rarte (EIR) (i.e. PD x LGD x EAD = ECL). The probability of default has been increased for the estimated deteriorated
gross domestic produclk growth in South Africa. Exposures are mainly segmented by customer type i.e. corporate,
consumer efc, ageing, device vs. SIM only confracts and months in contract. This is done fo allow for risk differentiation.
The probability of a customer defaulting as well as the realised loss with defaulted accounts has been determined
using historical data of 12 months. The EIR represents a weighted average rate which is representative of the portfolio
of customers and incorporates a risk-free rate plus a risk premium on initial recognition of the frade receivables. A
qualitative assessment of the impact of forward-looking information has been performed and found to be immaterial.

For corporate customers, management rebufted the presumption fhat a customer is in default when 90 days past due
and have determined default as 180 days past due. This is on the basis of billing disputes taking time fo resolve
resulfing in a high cure rate.

The balance of trade receivables and contract assefs to which the simplified parameter-based approach has been
applied is as follows:

Trade Contract
Total receivables assets?
Rm Rm Rm
2020
Gross balance 5264 1073 4191
Expected credit loss allowance (767) (268) (499)
4497 805 3692
2019
Gross balance 5498 1292 4206
Expected credif loss allowance (735) (397) (338)
4763 895 3868

! Contract assels mainly relate to the South African operation.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. This is assessed individually
by each operation and includes for example where the trade receivables have been handed over for collection and
remain outstanding or the debtor has enftered bankruptcy.

2020 2019 2020 2019

Trade Trade Contract Confract

receivables receivables assels assels

Reconciliation of allowance for credit losses Rm Rm Rm Rm
Af the beginning of the year (2371) (3 035) (338) (388)
Additions? (1215) (939) (161) (137)
Reversals? 206 694 - -
Utilised? 486 531 - 187
Exchange differences and other movements? (244) 378 - -
At the end of the year (3138) (2371) (499) (338)

1 A netimpairment loss of R1 009 million (2019: R245 million) was recognised during the year. In addition to the R486 million (2019: R531 million)
provision utilised, R999 million (2019: R347 million) was written off directly to profit or loss during the year.
2 Including the effect of hyperinflation.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity in the Group will be unable fo meet its obligations as they become due.

The Group'’s approach fo managing liquidity risk is fo ensure that sufficient liquidity is available fo meet its liabilities
when due under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to
fhe Group'’s reputation.

Group treasury develops strategies fo ensure that the Group has sufficient cash on demand or access fo facilities fo
meel expected operational expenses, and to service financial obligations. This excludes the potential impaclk of
extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. Group freasury performs
regular cash flow forecasts, monitors cash holdings of the Group, negotiates lines of credit and sefs policies for
maturity profiles of loans.

The following liquid resources are available:

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Trade and other receivables 24 391 21947
Current investments 9925 4391
Mobile Money deposits? 28 008 15315
Cash and cash equivalents 31114 21739
93438 63 392

* Includes non-current assels held for sale relating fo MTN Syria.
2 Mobile Money deposits are utilised to seltle the corresponding Mobile Money payable which gives rise to liquidity risk for the Group.

Although cash held by MTN Syria and MTN Guinea-Conakry is available to settle liabilities denominated in the local
currency in the respective country of operation, access fo foreign currency in the country is constrained.

The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities:

Payable More than More than

within one month three More than More than
one but not months oneyear twoyears
monthor exceeding buf not buf not buf nok
Carrying on three exceeding exceeding exceeding More than
amounk Total demand months oneyear ftwoyears fiveyears five years
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2020
Borrowings 95895 111485 1634 6 316 13 275 23580 54 791 11 889
Other non-current
liabilities? 149 149 - - - 6 7 136
Lease liabilities? 49 637 81161 839 2701 6813 8780 25525 36 503
Trade and ofther
payables? 38597 38 636 26 029 3795 8812 - - -
Mobile Money
payables 28 008 28 008 28 008 - - - - -
Derivative liabilities 7 7 - - 7 - - -
Bank overdrafts 354 355 176 77 102 - - -
212647 259801 56 686 12 889 29 009 32 366 80 323 48 528
2019
Borrowings 94 148 104 426 8178 1301 4 831 27 908 48 601 13 607
Ofher non-current
liabilities 383 383 5 3 4 - - 371
Lease liabilities 46 327 90 789 786 2061 7 340 7 802 25539 47 261
Trade and ofher
payables 33719 33994 22576 6218 5200 - - -
Mobile Money
payables 15315 15315 15315 - - - - -
Derivative liabilities 21 21 21 — — — — —
Bank overdrafts 132 132 128 - 4 - - -
190045 245060 47 009 9583 17 379 35710 74 140 61239

* Includes liabilities directly associated with non-current assefs held for sale relating fo MTN Syria.

The Group has sufficient undrawn facilities fo manage shortfalls in operational cash flows. Refer to note 6.1 for
details of the Group’s undrawn facilities. Holdco cash balances including restricted cash and current investments
was R20,6 billion as at 31 December 2020 (2019: R11,6 billion).
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in marker prices (such as interest rates, foreign currencies and equity prices) will
affect the Group’s income or the value of its financial insfruments. The objective of markert risk management is to
manage and confrol markel risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the refurn.

Derivatives are entered infto solely for risk management purposes and not as speculative investments. The Group
Freasury policy specifies approved instruments which may be used fo economically hedge the Group's exposure to
variability in inferest rates and foreign currency and fo manage and maintain markel risk exposures within the
parameters set by the Group’s Board of Directors.

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that arises on an interest-bearing asset or liability, due to variability of interest rates.

Financial assefs and liabilities fhat are sensitive to interest rate risk are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash,
Mobile Money deposits/payables, frade and other receivables/payables, loans receivable/payable, debt investments
carried at amortised cost, treasury bills and foreign deposits carried at amortised cost, borrowings, bank overdrafts
and other non-current assets/liabilities. The interest rates applicable to these financial instruments are a combination
of floating and fixed rates in line with those currently available in the market.

The Group's interest rate risk arises from the repricing of the Group’s floating rate debt, incremental funding or new
borrowings, the refinancing of existing borrowings and the magnitude of the cash balances which exist.

The Group aims fo maintain its mix of fixed and floating rate debt within internally defermined parameters, however,
this depends on the markel conditions in the geographies where the Group operates.

Holding companies’ (as disclosed in note 9.1) (including MTN (Mauritius) Investments Limited) debt is managed on an
optimal fixed versus floating interest rate basis, in line with the approved Group freasury policy.

Debt in the majority of the Group’s non-South African operations is mainly at floating interest rates. This is due to the
environment and availability of funding in the markef in which the entity operates. The Group continues fo moniftor
developments which may create opportunities as these markets evolve in order to align each underlying operation
with the Group freasury policy. Group freasury reports on rthe interest rate profile, in parfticular that of the holding
companies, to the Board of Directors, Group Audit Committee and Group Risk Management and Compliance
Commiftee on a regular basis.

Where appropriate, the Group uses interest rate derivatives and other suitable hedging tools as a way fo manage
inferest rate risk. The Group does not apply hedge accounting to these derivatives.

Profile
Af the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group's interest-bearing financial insfruments was:

Resrated! 2

2020 2019
Fixed rate Variable rate Fixed rate  Variable rate
instruments instruments insfruments instruments
Rm Rm Rm Rm
Non-current financial assets
Loans and other non-current receivables 29 286 79 392
Investments 948 - - -
Mobile Money deposits 329 - - -
Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables? - 1311 50 2048
Current investments 8787 - 2579 —
Restricted cash 87 33 170 -
Mobile Money deposits? 5307 16 319 3236 8 266
Cash and cash equivalents 4475 12 655 4 565 11044
19 962 30 604 10 679 21750
Non-current financial liabilities
Borrowings 31369 47 088 27 292 51165
Other non-current liabilities 13 136 - 373
Current financial liabilities
Trade and ofther payables 140 635 210 182
Mobile Money payables? 1765 16 290 3236 8 266
Borrowings 2622 14 816 5716 9975
Bank overdrafts 173 176 75 57
36 082 79 141 36 529 70018

* Included in variable rate trade and ofther receivables for 31 December 2019 was an amount of R1 651 million relating to a loan that has now
been restated as a non-interest-bearing instrument based on the infterest rate position existing at 31 December 2019.

2 Included in both variable rate MoMo deposits and payables for 31 December 2019 was an amount of R1 863 million thal has now been restated
as fixed rate instruments based on the interest rate position existing at 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique that measures the estimated change to profit or loss of an
instantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in markel interest rates, from the rate applicable ar
31 December, for each class of financial instrument with all other variables remaining constant. This analysis is for
illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation.

The Group is mainly exposed fo fluctuations in the following markel interest rates: JIBAR, LIBOR, NIBOR, Money
Market and Prime rates. Changes in market infterest rates affect the inferest income or expense of floating rate
financial instruments.

A change in the above markel interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before fax
by the amounts shown in the table fo follow.

The analysis has been performed on the basis of the change occurring at the start of the reporting period and
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on
fhe same basis as was used for 2019.

Restated?
2020 2019
(Decrease)/increase in profit before fax  (Decrease)/increase in profit before rax
Upward Downward Upward Downward
Change in change in change in Change in change in change in
interest rate infterestrate intereskrate interestrate interestrate interestrate
% Rm Rm % Rm Rm
JIBAR 1 (331,1) 331,1 1 (329,8) 329,8
LIBOR and associated
rates 1 (57,3) 57,3 1 (19,1) 19,1
NIBOR 1 (175,9) 175,9 1 (143,6) 143,6
Money market 1 (20,8) 20,8 1 75,3 (75,3)
Prime 1 100,3 (100,3) 1 18,5 (18,5)
Other? 1 (0,5) 0,5 1 3,3 (3,3)

*Included in variable rate trade and ofther receivables for 31 December 2019 was an amount of R1 651 million relating to a loan that has now
been restated as a non-interest bearing instrument based on the interest rate position existing af 31 December 2019.

Currency risk
Currency riskis the exposure fo exchange rate fluctuations that have an impact on cash flows and financing activifies.

Currency risk arises on recognised financial assefs and liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the
entity’s functional currency. The Group aims to maintain its foreign currency exposure within internally determined
parameters, however, this depends on fhe markel conditions in the geographies where the Group operates. Group
Freasury reporfts on the status of foreign currency positions or derivatives to the Group Treasury Committee on a
regular basis.

Where possible, entities in the Group use forward confracts to hedge their actual exposure to foreign currency. Refer
fo note 7.5 for the Group's oufstanding foreign exchange contracts.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group has used a sensitivity analysis technique thal measures the estimated change o profit or loss and to OCI,
of an instantaneous 10% strengrhening or weakening in the rand against all other currencies, from the rate applicable
al 31 December, for each class of financial instrument with all other variables remaining constant. This analysis is for
illustrative purposes only, as in pracfice, markel rates rarely change in isolafion.

The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates in respect of the US dollar, euro, Nigerian naira
and Iranian rial. This analysis considers the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on profit or loss and OCI.

The analysis excludes foreign exchange translation differences resulting from the franslation of Group entities that
have functional currencies different from the presentation currency, info the Group’s presentation currency, which
are recognised in the FCTR.

The analysis has been performed on the basis of the change occurring at the reporting date and assumes that all
ofher variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.

Infercompany balances that are denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity are
reflected as either impacting profit or loss before tax, or equity in the case of loans for which seftflement is neither
planned nor likely fo occur in the foreseeable future.
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7 FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

7.1 Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

7.1.6 Market risk (continued)

7.1.6.3 Currency risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis (continued)
A change in the foreign exchange rates to which the Group is exposed at the reporting date would have increased/
(decreased) profit before tax or equity by the amounts shown below.

Increase/(decrease) in profit before tax Increase/(decrease) in OCI
Net assets/
(liabilities)  Change Weakening Change Weakening

denominated in in Strengthening in in Strengthening
Denominated: in foreign exchange Ffunctional in functional exchange Ffunctional in functional
Functional currency rafe  currency currency rafte currency currency
currency Rm % Rm Rm % Rm Rm
2020
US$:ZAR? 8417 10 841,7 (841,7) 10 - -
US$:SYpP (418) 10 (12,4) 12,4 10 (29,4) 29,4
US$:SDG (1172) 10 (28,5) 28,5 10 (88,7) 88,7
US$:SSP (6 365) 10 (48,4) 48,4 10 (588,1) 588,1
US$:NGN (19 309) 10 (1930,9) 1930,9 10 - -
EUR:SDG (2 100) 10 (1,3) 1,3 10 (208,7) 208,7
EUR:US$ 3167 10 316,7 (316,7) 10 - -
US$:GNF (4 561) 10 (176,9) 176,9 10 (279,2) 279,2
US$:ZMK (439) 10 (43,9) 43,9 10 - -
IRR:ZAR 2815 10 281,5 (281,5) 10 - -
EUR:ZAR (258) 10 (25,8) 25,8 10 - -
NGN:ZAR 4197 10 419,7 (419,7) 10 - -
2019
US$:ZAR? 18 583 10 18583 (1858,3) 10 - -
US$:SYP (516) 10 (31,9) 31,9 10 (19,7) 19,7
US$:SDG (1 344) 10 (40,8) 40,8 10 (93,6) 93,6
US$:SSP (5809) 10 (45,9) 45,9 10 (535,0) 535,0
US$:NGN (8522) 10 (852,2) 852,2 10 - -
EUR:SDG (1668) 10 (1,1) 1,1 10 (165,7) 165,7
EUR:US$ 2 509 10 250,9 (250,9) 10 - -
US$:GNF (4 092) 10 (143,2) 143,2 10 (266,0) 266,0
US$:ZMK (104) 10 (10,4) 10,4 10 - -
IRR:ZAR 2753 10 275,3 (275,3) 10 - -
EUR:ZAR 203 10 20,3 (20,3) 10 - -

1 Reduced by the impact of the net invesfment hedge as disclosed in note 7.5.
7.1.6.4  Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk, which arises from equity investments at FVOCI (see note 7.2).

Refer to note 7.1.3 for disclosure of the sensitivity of the fair values of the investments fo a change in the inpufs used
fo determine rheir fair values. OCI (before fax) will be affected by the amounts disclosed in respect of fhese investments
in nofe 7.1.3.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Financial risk management and financial instruments (continued)

Capital management

The Group's policy is to borrow using a mixture of long-term and short-term borrowing facilities fo meet anticipated
funding requirements. Borrowings are managed within the Group's established debt: equity ratios. The Group seeks
fo maximise borrowings at an operating company level, on a non-recourse basis, within an acceptable level of debf
for the maturity of the local company.

Management regularly monitors compliance with its financial covenants. In terms of most of the banking facilities,
fhe Group is required fo comply with financial covenants. These financial covenants differ based on the contractual
ferms of each facility and incorporate both IFRS and non-IFRS financial measures. With rhe exception of MTN Zambia
and MTN Céte d'lvoire, the Group has complied with its financial covenants during the current and prior year. For fhe
year ended 31 December 2020, MTN Zambia breached its debt service cover raftio covenant. As a result, the full
related borrowings of R820 million have been classified as current as at 31 December 2020 within the Group
statement of financial position. On 9 March 2021, the lenders granted MTN Zambia a waiver of the debt service cover
ratio breach, thereby remedying the breach. For the year ended 31 December 2019, MTN Coéte d’'lvoire breached its
nefl debt: EBITDA covenant. As a resulf, the full related borrowings of R3 559 million were classified as current as af
31 December 2019 within the Group statement of financial position. As at 31 December 2019, the Group had met
interest-related covenants, and these have improved further in the current period. Holdco leverage has increased
since December 2019 due fo the weakening of the rand on US dollar denominated borrowings and cash upstreaming
challenges from MTN Nigeria due fo limited availability of foreign currency.

MTN Cameroon, with the support of MTN Group, had been in discussions with its lenders since the beginning of 2020
to restructure a syndicated revolving credit facility of CFA30 billion (US$56 million) initially maturing on 8 June 2020.
Due fo not having concluded the restructuring by the maturity date, MTN Cameroon was in technical default in
respect of the repayment provisions. This default was subsequently remedied by a waiver from the affected lenders.
MTN Cameroon successfully concluded the restructuring by 31 December 2020. The maturity date of rthe
CFA 30 billion syndicated revolving credit facility was extended to 8 December 2021 and another of MTN Cameroon'’s
syndicated revolving credit facilities of CFA 32,5 billion (US$61 million) initially due on 15 December 2021 was
extended to 16 May 2023. Under the amended facility agreements, MTN Cameroon will repay each of the facilities
Fhrough equal monthly repayments.

The Group's net debtf: capital management EBITDA, nef debt: total equity and net interest: capital management
EBITDA af the end of the year are set oufr below. Nef debt is defined as borrowings and bank overdrafts less cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash and current investments (excluding investment in insurance cell captives). Total
equity is as per the Group statement of financial position. Nef interest comprises finance costs less finance income
and an add back of lease liability finance costs per notes 2.5 and 6.5. CODM EBITDA as defined in note 2.1, is reduced
by an approximation of lease expenses which would have been recognised had the lease liabilities not been
capitalised, to arrive at capital management EBITDA.

2020 2019
Nel debt: Capital management EBITDA
Borrowings and bank overdrafts (Rm) 96 249 94 280
Less: Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and current investments (Rm) (46 795) (26 360)
Nert debt (Rm) 49 454 67 920
CODM EBITDA before impairment of goodwill* (Rm) 81311 64 229
Less: Repayment and interest paid on lease liabilities (Rm) (note 6.5) (10 558) (8 688)
Capital management EBITDA (Rm) 70 753 55541
Nel debt/Capital management EBITDA ratio 0,7 1,2
Nel debt: Total equity
Nel debt (Rm) 49 454 67 920
Tortal equity (Rm) 106 225 86 100
Nert debt/Total equity (%) 46,6 78,9
Nef interest: Capital management EBITDA
Nel finance costs (Rm) 18 233 15184
Less: Lease liability finance cosfts (Rm) (nofte 2.5 and 6.5) (6 547) (5 709)
Net interest (Rm) 11 686 9475
Capital management EBITDA (Rm) 70 753 55541
Nel interest/Capital management EBITDA (%) 16,5 17,1

1CODM EBITDA is defined in note 2.1.
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7 FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
7.2 Investments

Investments consist of equity investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised cost, that are accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed in note 7.1.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bonds (debt instruments) held with fixed interest rates of 5% - 7,3% and maturing
in January 2026 948 -
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Investment in IHS Group (note 7.1.3) 27 197 27 000
Investment in Jumia? - 1397
Unlisted equity investments (note 7.1.3) 373 158
28 518 28 555

! Denominated in Nigerian naira.
2 The Group disposed of ifs invesfment in Jumia during the current financial year (refer note 7.1.3).

7.3 Loans and other non-current receivables

Loans and other non-current receivables are measured at amortised cost in accordance with the accounting
policy disclosed in nofte 7.1.

Prepayments include costs paid relating fo subsequent financial years and are stated at nominal value.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Non-current interconnect receivables 64 38
Other non-current receivables 622 566
Non-current prepayments? 895 575
1581 1179

! Includes prepayments relating to indefeasible right of use assets of R580 million (2019: R519 million) over capacity on international
felecommunication cables.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
Current investments

(confinued)

Current investments consist of financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at FVOCI and financial assels
held at fair value through profit or loss, that are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy disclosed

in nofte 7.1.

Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss

Investment in insurance cell captives (nofte 7.1.3)

Treasury bills with fixed interest rates of 11,9% to 12,5% and maturity dates
befween January and November 2020*

Bonds (debt instruments) held with a fixed interest rate of 0,5% and maturing in
March 2021

Amortised cost

Foreign currency deposits with fixed interest rates of 0,1% fo 5% and maturity
dates between January and April 20212

Treasury bills with fixed interest rates of 0,5% to 5% and maturity dates between
January and December 2021*

Foreign currency deposits with a fixed interest rate of 3,25%3

Treasury bills with a fixed interest rate of 16,1% and maturing in September 20214
Foreign currency deposits with a fixed interest rate of 9%°

Foreign currency deposits with a fixed interest rate of 9,5% and maturing in
March 2021¢

Treasury bills and bonds (debt instruments) with a fixed interest rate of 4,25%’

Financial assets held af fair value through other comprehensive income

Treasury bills with fixed interest rates of 4% to 12,4% and maturity dates befween
January and October 2020*

Total current investments

Denominated in Nigerian naira.
Denominated in United States dollar.
Denominated in euro.

Denominated in Ghana cedis.
Denominated in Lebanese pound.
Denominated in Rwandan franc.
Denominated in CFA franc.

N o ou rowoN e
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)

Net investment hedges

The Group hedges a designated portion of its US dollar net assets in MTN Dubai for forex exposure arising befween
the US$ and ZAR as part of the Group’s risk management objectives. The Group designated external borrowings
(Eurobonds) denominated in US$ held by MTN (Mauritius) Investments Limited. For the period of the hedge
relationship, foreign exchange movements on these hedging instruments are recognised in OCI as part of the FCTR,
offsetting rthe exchange differences recognised in OCI, arising on franslation of the designated US dollar net assefts
of MTN Dubai to ZAR. The cumulative forex movement recognised in OCI will only be reclassified o profit or loss upon
loss of control of MTN Dubai.

To assess hedge effectiveness the Group performs hedge effectiveness ftesting by comparing the changes in the
carrying amount of the debf that is attributable fo a change in the spof rate with changes in the nef assefs designated
in MTN Dubai. There was no hedge ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss during the current or prior year.

The fair value of the financial liabilities (included in borrowings) designated as net investment hedges are:

2020 2019
Rm Rm
US$ denominated bonds held by MTN (Mauritius) Investrments Limited 27 691 25775
The determination of fair value of these liabilities is disclosed in note 7.1.3.
The following information also relates to the hedge of the net investment:
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Carrying value of US$ denominated bonds held by MTN (Mauritius) Investments
Limired 25987 24 706
Nominal value of US$ denominated bonds held by MTN (Mauritius) Investments
Limited?* 1750 1750
Change in carrying amount of loans as a resulf of foreign currency movements (1219) 715
Change in value of the hedged item used fo determine hedge effectiveness 1219 (715)
Hedge ratio 100% 100%
Foreign currency translation reserve
Opening balance 1 January 2468 2983
Change in fair value of hedging instrument recognised in OCI for the year —
after tax 878 (515)
Closing balance 3 346 2 468

1 Amount presented in United States dollar.
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FINANCIAL RISK (continued)
Exchange rates to South African rand

Closing rates Average rates

2020 2019 2020 2019
Foreign currency to South African
rand:
United States dollar us$ 14,68 13,98 16,50 14,44
Euro EUR 17,94 15,70 18,62 15,96
South African rand to foreign
currency:
Ugandan shilling UGX 249,19 262,14 225,45 256,68
Rwanda franc RWF 67,79 66,80 57,91 62,59
Cameroon Communauté Financiére
Africaine franc XAF 36,42 41,78 34,69 40,57
Nigerian naira NGN 27,28 26,09 23,24 25,05
Iranian rial*2 IRR 17 458,88 8 120,61 10117,96 7 013,39
Bofswana pula BWP 0,74 0,76 0,70 0,73
Cote d'lvoire Communauté Financiere
Africaine franc CFA 36,47 41,78 34,76 40,57
Congo-Brazzaville Communauté
Financiere Africaine franc XAF 36,42 41,78 34,66 40,59
Zambian kwacha ZMK 1,44 1,01 1,09 0,90
eSwatini lilangeni SZL 1,00 1,00 1,00 1,00
Afghanistan afghani AFN 5,26 5,54 4,62 5,35
Ghanaian cedi GHS 0,40 0,41 0,35 0,38
Benin Communauté Financiére
Africaine franc XOF 36,47 41,78 34,69 40,58
Guinean franc GNF 680,64 672,40 575,66 634,98
Sudanese pound? SDG 3,76 3,23 3,32 3,14
Syrian pound? SYP 85,57 31,33 50,53 30,27
Guinea-Bissau Communauté
Financiere Africaine franc XOF 36,47 41,78 34,87 40,58
Yemen rial YER 27,25 27,18 23,87 26,36
Ethiopian birr ETB 2,68 2,27 2,18 2,01
South Sudanese pound? SSP 12,08 11,47 10,07 10,91
1 SANA rate.

2 The financial results, positions and cash flows of foreign operations trading in hyperinflationary economies are translated as sef out in
nofe 1.3.2.

Events after reporting period

MTN Sudan

On 21 February 2021, the Central Bank of Sudan devalued the official Sudanese exchange rate to US$ 1: SDG 375,08,
which franslates fo an exchange rate of approximately ZAR 1: SDG 25,57. The devaluation brought the official rates
in line with parallel marker rates and is an effort to eliminate parallel market activity.

As Sudan is a hyperinflationary economy, the Group translates MTN Sudan’s resulfs at the closing exchange rate. The
devaluation of the Sudanese Pound will result in lower earnings consolidated from MTN Sudan based on the closing
rate, a reduction in net assels consolidated and a resulting lower equity in the form of higher foreign currency
franslation losses.

Subsidiaries and joint ventures operating in dual exchange rate economies

Irancell

During the 2018 financial year the CBI clarified that all future dividends can be expected to be repatriated at the
SANA rate. Consequently, the Group equity accounts the results and translates any receivables from Irancell at the
SANA rate from August 2018.

However, the Group continues fo translate any receivables that have been approved by the Iranian government
under the FIPPA at the CBI rate on the basis that management expects these balances to be seftled at the CBI
rate (note 4.2). Ar 31 December 2020 the ZAR to IRR exchange rate based on fthe CBI rate was 1 ZAR = 2 889 IRR
(2019: 1 ZAR = 3 004,06 IRR).
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8.1

EQUITY STRUCTURE
Ordinary share capital and share premium

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly atfributable to rhe issue of new
ordinary shares or share options are recognised in equity as a deduction (net of tax) from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity share capital (freasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental external costs (net of tax), is deducted from equity aftributable
to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are
subsequently re-issued, any consideration received, nel of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and fhe related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

2020 2019

Number Number

Ordinary share capital (par value of 0,01 cents) of shares of shares
Authorised 2 500 000 000 2 500 000 000
Issued (fully paid up) 1884 269758 1884 269 758
In issue at the end of the year 1884269 758 1884 269 758
Treasury shares? (8 443 400) (9 426 634)
Options held by MTN Zakhele Futhi? (76 835378) (76 835 378)

In issue at the end of the year — excluding MTN Zakhele Futhi options
and treasury shares?® 1798990980 1798007 746

! Treasury shares held by MTN Holdings and the 2016 MTN ESOP Trust.

2 These shares, although legally issued o MTN Zakhele Futhi, are not deemed to be issued in ferms of IFRS as the MTN Zakhele Futhi fransaction
has the substance of an option and are shown as such in the share capital reconciliation.

3 There are no restrictions, rights or preferences including restrictions on dividend distributions atrached to these shares.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Share capital
Balance af the beginning of the year * *
Treasury shares & *
Balance at the end of the year * *
Share premium
Balance at the end of the year 36 929 36 929

* Amounts less than R1 million.

MTN Zakhele Futhi

The Group structured a BBBEE fransaction through a separate legal entity in 2016, MTN Zakhele Futhi which replaced
the Group’s previous BEE sfructure known as MTN Zakhele. The transaction was designed to provide long-term,
susftainable benefits fo all BBBEE participants and will run for a period of eight years.

As part of the fransaction MTN Zakhele Futhi acquired 76 835 378 of the Company’s shares at a price of R128,50 per
share.

MTN Zakhele Futhi is a structured entity with the sole business of holding shares of MTN Group Limited and
administering the associated funding of these shares. The Group was involved in structuring MTN Zakhele Futhi,
determining fhe level of its debl and negotiating the related deblt covenants. In addition, the Group holds a call option
which, if exercised on the occurrence of a trigger event, entiftles it to settle MTN Zakhele Futhi’'s debt with the third-
party funders. This gives the Group the ability fo manage the credit risk of MTN Zakhele Futhi and consequently, the
related BBBEE credentials which are dependent on the continued success of MTN Zakhele Futhi. As these activities
are considered to be the relevant activities of MTN Zakhele Futhi, it is consolidated by the Group.
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)

Ordinary share capital and share premium (continued)

MTN Zakhele Furthi (continued)

MTN Zakhele Futhiis funded by equity contributions (comprising cash received from new investors and reinvestment
by existing MTN Zakhele shareholders in MTN Zakhele Futhi), preference shares issued to rhird parties, a donation
received from the Group and notional vendor financing (NVF) from the Company. MTN Zakhele Futhi must repay the
preference shares and NVF before the Company’s shares held by it become unencumbered, while the Company’s
shares are the only security offered by MTN Zakhele Futhi for the debt funding obtained. Until the Company’s shares
held by MTN Zakhele Futhi become unencumbered, the ordinary shareholders of MTN Zakhele Futhi are exposed fo
the gains on the Company’s shares, while rtheir exposure to downside risk or risk of loss is limited to their equity
contributions (i.e. the purchase price paid by them for the MTN Zakhele Futhi shares). Consequently, the Company
does not recognise its shares issued ro MTN Zakhele Furhi and does not recognise the NVF as outstanding but treats
it as an option for accounting purposes.

Further, no non-confrolling interest is recognised in respect of the shares held by the ordinary shareholders of MTN
Zakhele Furhi. From a consolidated perspective, their equity confributions (comprising cash received from new
investors and the re-investment by existing MTN Zakhele shareholders in MTN Zakhele Futhi) are in substance
freated as a premium paid for the option fo acquire the Company’s shares in future.

Third-party preference share funding obtained by MTN Zakhele Futhi
A reconciliation of the third-party preference share funding obtained by MTN Zakhele Futhi fo purchase shares of the
Company is provided below:

2020 2019
Class A cumulative redeemable non-participating preference shares Rm Rm
Balance at the beginning of the year 1195 1442
Interest accrued at the effective interest rate 44 135
Accrued interest paid (73) (105)
Redemption of preference shares during the year (213) (277)
Balance at the end of the year 953 1195

The Class A preference shares are held by Jabisan 04 Proprietary Limited. Following the approval of the 12-month
extension, the preference shares are now redeemable after six years (November 2022) from date of issue. Dividends
are paid semi-annually on 30 April and 30 September. The preference share dividend rate is 75% of Prime.

On 31 July 2020, the Group announced that it would not be paying an interim dividend. This impacted MTN Zakhele
Futhi’s ability fo pay the scheduled preference dividends. MTN Group has advanced financial assistance, which
bears interest at the Prime interest rate (compounded quarterly), fo MTN Zakhele Futhi fo meet its financial
obligations until April 2021.
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)
Other reserves

Restated?
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Balance at beginning of the year (10 895) (10 578)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 180 -
Transfer to/(from) refained earnings, contingency and statutory reserves? 746 310
Share-based payment fransactions 695 331
Share of ofher reserves of joint ventures - (81)
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations® 5455 (4 152)
Foreign exchange movement on hedging instruments? (878) 515
Nel change in fair value of debft and equity instruments through other
comprehensive income reserve (622) 2759
Other - 1
Balance at end of the year (5319) (10 895)
Consisting of:
Contingency reserve (as required by insurance regulaftions)* 36 4
Statutory reserve (as required by Rwanda, Congo-Brazzaville and other joint
venture legislation)® 279 253
Transactions with non-controlling interests® (9 877) (10 057)
Share-based payment fransactions’ 8226 7 531
Foreign currency ftranslation reserve?® (5 820) (10 397)
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income?® 1906 1840
Share of ofher reserves of joint venftures (81) (81)
Other 12 12
(5 319) (10 895)

Restated for change in accounting policy, refer to note 11.

Following the sale of Amadeus, reserves worth R268 million were fransferred to retained earnings in 2019. In 2020, an amount of R688 million
was transferred to retained earnings in respect of the Jumia investment.

Refer to rhe franslation and disposal of foreign operations sections in accounting policy 1.3.2 foreign currency. The Group's presentation
currency is rand. The weakening of the closing rate of the rand against the functional currencies of the Group’s largest operations and
hyperinflationary impacts contributed to a decrease in assets and liabilities and the resulting FCTR increase of R5 452 million (2019: decrease
of R4 152 million) since 31 December 2019. The amount also comprises foreign currency losses arising on the translation of financial liabilities
designated as net invesrment hedges in a foreign operation of R878 million (2019: R515 million gains).

A contingency reserve has been created in ferms of the Short-term Insurance Act, 1988. Transfers to the contingency reserve are treated as
an appropriation of income, and the balance of the reserve is disclosed in the statement of financial position as a non-distributable reserve,
forming part of shareholders’ funds. On dissolution of the structured entities to which the reserve relates, they will become available for
distribution.

A statutory reserve has been created in terms of local legislation. Transfers to the statutory reserve are treated as an appropriation of income,
and the balance of rhe reserve is disclosed in the statement of financial position as a non-distributable reserve, forming part of the
shareholders’ funds.

Non-controlling shareholders are treated as equity participants and, therefore, all acquisitions of non-controlling interests or disposals by the
Group ofits interests in subsidiary companies where control is maintained subsequent to the disposal, are accounted for as equity fransactions.
Consequently, the difference between the fair value of the consideration transferred and the carrying amount of a non-controlling interest
purchased is recorded in equity. All profits or losses arising as a result of the disposal of interests in subsidiaries to non-controlling
shareholders, where control is maintained subsequent fo the disposal, are also recorded in equity. Following fthe dilution of the 8% interest held
in MTN Zambia, a gain of R180 million was included in equity.

Refer to fhe accounting policy in note 8.4 with regard to equity-sefttled share-based payments.

This comprises all fair value adjustments on all equity and debt investments that have been classified as FVOCI. On the disposal of the FVOCI
equity investments, fhe cumulative gains recognised on these investments are nof reclassified fo profit or loss.
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)
Dividends

Dividends declared to the Company’s shareholders are recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements
in the period in which Fthe dividends are approved by the Company’s directors.

2020 2019
Cents Cents
Dividends declared during the year per share Rm per share Rm
Final dividend declared in respect of the prior year 355 6 393? 325 5 849!
Interim dividend declared in respect of the current year - - 195 3513!
6393 9362

Dividends declared after year-end
Approved after the reporting date and not recognised
as a liability - - 355 6 393!

1 Excluding 6 292 691 (2019: 7 023 616) freasury shares held by MTN Holdings, 76 835 378 (2019: 76 835 378) shares held by MTN Zakhele Futhi
but including 2 150 709 (2019: 2 403 018) 2016 MTN ESOP Trust shares which are entitled to dividends.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments

Equity-seftled share-based payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of service or non-markef-
based vesting conditions) af the grant date. The fair value is measured using a sfochastic model. The expected life
used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-fransferability,
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations, where applicable. The fair value determined at the grant
date of the equity-seftled share-based options or rights is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, with a corresponding increase in equity, based on the Group’s estimate of the shares rhat will eventually
vest. The expense is adjusted fo reflect the actual number of options and share rights for which the related service
and non-markef-based vesting condiftions are met.

Where employees exercise options or share rights in terms of the rules and regulations of the schemes, new
shares are issued to participants as beneficial owners. The directors procure a listing of these shares on the JSE
Limired, the securities exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed. In ferms of the share opfion scheme,
participants entitled fo share options pay a consideration equal fo fhe option price when the options are exercised.
The nominal value of shares issued is credited to share capital and the difference befween the nominal value and
the option price is credited fo share premium. Setflement of the performance share plan (PSP) awards are done
through the acquisition of shares in the open markel and the subsequent delivery to participants.

Cash-settled share-based payments

The fair value of the amount payable fo employees in respect of cash-settled share-based payments is recognised
as an expense with a corresponding increase in liabilities, over the period during which rhe employees become
uncondifionally entitled fo payment. The liability is remeasured fo fair value at each reporting date and at setflement
date. Any changes in the liability are recognised in profit or loss.

The MTN Group share rights scheme and performance share plan

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-based payment schemes for the benefit of eligible employees,
including executive direcftors, in accordance with the schemes’ rules. The schemes are designed to refain and
recognise the contributions of executive directors and eligible employees and to provide additional incentives fo
contribute to the Group’s conftinued growth.

The PSP is the active scheme, which superseded rthe share rights scheme. The superseded scheme will be wound up
once all unvested and/or unexercised awards previously made have run their remaining course.

The vesting periods under the share rights scheme are as follows: 20%, 20%, 30% and 30% on the anniversary of the
second, third, fourth and fifth years, respectively, after the grant date. The strike price for rthis scheme is determined
as the closing market price for the MTN Group Limited shares on the day prior to the date of allocation. Unexercised
rights lapse 10 years from the date of grant and are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before they vest.

The vesting period for the PSP is three years and the awards vest in full based on sef performance targets. Employees
are not entiftled fto receive dividends on the shares during the vesting period.

The total number of shares which may be allocated for the purposes of the schemes shall not exceed 5% of the total
issued ordinary share capital of the Company, being 94 213 488 shares as approved by shareholders in 2001.
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

Share rights scheme

Share rights under the rights scheme are granted to eligible employees by the relevant employer subsidiary
company.

Exercised rights are equity-seftled whereby the relevant subsidiary purchases the required MTN shares in the open
market.

Details of the ouftstanding share rights are as follows:

Number Number

outstanding outstanding

ar ab

Strike price 31 December Forfeited Exercised 31 December

Offer date R 2019 during 2020 during 2020 2020
28 June 2010 107,49 196 940 (196 940) - -
Total 196 940 (196 940) - -

There were no new grants during the current and prior year.

MTN PSP

During prior financial years the Group granted eligible employees share rights under the PSP, established in 2010.
The rights were granted to employees on levels 3, 4, 5 and 6. The PSP was established in order to attract, retain and
reward selected employees who are able to contribute to the business of the employer companies and to stimulate
their personal involvement, thereby encouraging their continued service and encouraging them to advance the
interests of the relevant employer Company and the Group in general.

The share rights vest affer three years from date of grant. For the grants made befween 2014 and 2016, fthe following
performance conditions must be fulfilled to qualify for the percentage of the shares granted as stated in the fable
below:

Proportion of grant

Employee Employee
level level
3-4 5-6
% %
Vesting conditions for shares granted

Total shareholder refurn 25,0 25,0 - 33,3
Adjusted free cash flow growth 25,0 25,0 - 33,3
Return on average capital employed 25,0 25,0 - 33,3

Individual retention (guaranteed, subject fo remaining on the PSP for the duration
of the award fulfilment period) 25,0 25,0

For the toftal shareholder return vesting condition, vesting is based on a sliding scale that ranges from 25% vesting at
rhe median fo 100% vesting af the 75th percentile of the performance of a comparable group of companies listed on
the JSE. For the adjusted free cash flow vesting condition, vesting is based on a sliding scale befween 6% and 10%
compound annual growth in the adjusted free cash flow for the three years before the grant date compared to the
three years affer the grant date, for all grants made in 2014 and thereafter. The individual refurn refenftion condition
is guaranteed subject fo the employee remaining employed by the Group for the duration of the vesting period.
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)

Share-based payments (confinued)

MTN PSP (continued)

The performance conditions were revised during 2017 and apply fo new grants issued on and affer 29 September
2017. The following performance conditions must be fulfilled to qualify for the percentage of the shares granted as
stated in the fable below:

Proportion of grant

Employee Employee
level level
3-4 5-6
% %
Vesting conditions for shares granted

Total shareholder return 25,0 25,0
Cumulative operating free cash flow 25,0 25,0

Individual reftention (guaranteed, subject fo remaining on the PSP for the duration
of the award fulfilment period) 25,0 25,0
Return on average capital employed 25,0 8,33 - 25,0
Compliance fo dfic and ICASA - 8,33 -12,5
Black Economic Empowerment — 8,33

The performance conditions were reviewed in 2020. For grants issued from 2020, the following condiftions apply:

Proportion of grant

Employee Employee
level level
3-4 5-6
% %

Vesting conditions for shares granted
Total shareholder return 25,0 25,0 - 33,3
Cumulative operating free cash flow 25,0 25,0 - 33,3
Individual refention 25,0 0,0 — 25,0
Refurn on equity 25,0 25,0 -33,3
Compliance fo dtic and ICASA - 5,0
Black Economic Empowerment - 50

For the total shareholder return vesting condition, vesting is based on a sliding scale thal ranges from 25% vesting af
the median fo 100% vesting at the 75th percentile of the performance of the MSCI Emerging Markets Telecoms Index
comparator group. In November 2018 the MSCI Emerging Markels Telecoms Index was re-constituted and now
consists of rthe MSCI Emerging Markets Communications Index. This has been used since the 2018 grants. For the
cumulative operating free cash flow vesting condition for grants up to 2019, vesting is based on a sliding scale that
ranges from 25% vesting at 90% of the rargel to 100% vesting at 110% of the target cumulative operating free cash
flow over the measurement period. The individual refurn retention condition for grants up fto 2019, is guaranteed
subject fo the employee remaining employed by the Group for the duration of the vesting period. The refurn on
average capital employed for grants up fo 2019 and the return on equity for grants from 2020 onwards, is based on
a sliding scale that ranges from 25% vesting at 90% of the budgel fo 100% vesting atf 100% of the budgeted refurn on
average capital employed and budgeted return on equity respectively. The vesting conditions with regards to
compliance to the dftic and ICASA are based on reasonable efforts made to ensure compliance with the relevant
fargets and codes. For the black economic empowerment vesting condition, vesting is based on the achievement of
previously agreed upon deliverables as applicable in South Africa.

Details of the oufstanding equity-seftled performance share plan rights are as follows:

Number Number
oufstanding at Exercised outstanding at
31 December during 31 December
2019 Offered Forfeited 2020 2020

Offer date
28 December 2016 3945 604 - (3451 628) (493 976) -
09 March 2017 66 500 - (66 500) - -
29 September 2017 213 600 - (53 400) (160 200) -
18 December 2017 4881 926 - (258 099) - 4 623 827
28 June 2018 65 200 - - - 65 200
28 December 2018 10 753 784 - (894 565) - 9859 219
20 December 2019 13271782 - (967 649) - 12 304 133
21 December 2020 - 18 473 700 (80 014) - 18 393 686
Total 33198 396 18 473 700 (5771 855) (654 176) 45 246 065
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EQUITY STRUCTURE (continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

MTN PSP (continued)

A valuation has been prepared using a stochastic model fo determine rhe fair value of the performance share plan
and the expense to be recognised for share rights granted during the current and prior year.

The range of inputs info fhe sfochastic model used for rights granted during the year was as follows:

December

2020

Share price (R) 61,44
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rare 4,39% - 5,12%
Expected volatility 35,12% — 45,23%
Dividend yield 7,94%
December

2019

Share price (R) 85,65
Expected life 3 years
Risk-free rafte 7,01% — 7,44%
Expected volatility 27,35% — 29,74%
Dividend yield 5,60%

The risk-free rate was estimated using the nominal bond curve as compiled by the JSE of South Africa and obtained
from I-Nel Bridge for the share rights granted from 2017 onwards.

Volatility was estimated using fhe weekly closing share price as provided by I-Nef Bridge. An annualised standard
deviation of the continuously compounded rates of return of the share and the daily dividend yield was used for fhe
share rights granted from 2017 onwards.

Employee share ownership programme (ESOP)

During 2020, 130 081 (2019: 277 620) shares were granted to qualifying employees for no consideration and subject
fo a service condition. The shares will vestin three tranches, i.e. a third will vest on the third, fourth and fifth anniversary
of the grant date respectively. The plan is facilitated through a structured entity (the 2016 MTN ESOP Trust). MTN
provides shares and funding fo the 2016 MTN ESOP Trust fo enable the frust to satisfy its objectives.

Cash-seftled share-based payment transactions

During fthe prior years, the Group granted newly appointed executives’ cash-seftled onboarding incentives to
compensate the executives in respect of the acltualised pre-tax amount of stocks or equity relinquished by fhe
execurfives with their previous employers. The value of each incentive was determined based on the market value of
the specified number of ordinary listed shares in MTN Group Limited al the end of the incentive period for each
respective executive. The total number of Group shares on which the incentives were based was 837 664. The fair
value of these incentives, before vesting date, was determined using a Black-Scholes valuation methodology.
A cash-settled share-based payment gain of R7 million (2019 expense of R27 million) was recognised on settlement.
In 2020, the incentives based on 391 637 (2019: 446 027) shares vested. In addition, throughout the Group there are
various notional share schemes. The foftal expense recorded for these schemes in the current year is R172 million
(2019: R15 million).

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Expense arising from equity-seftled share-based payment fransactions 695 331
Expense/(income) arising from cash-seftled share-based payment transactions 165 42
Total (note 2.4) 860 373
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION
9.1 Interest in subsidiaries and joint ventures

il

HOLDING COMPANIES
D

MANAGEMENT SERVICES

HOLDING COMPANY

¥

TELECOMMUNICATIONS/ISP HOLDING COMPANIES

Econet Wireless

T Deci Investments Mobile Botswana
Cinzens Propriefary Limited? Limited
MRS Bofswana Mauritius
82,8% 33,3% 100%

TELECOMMUNICATIONS/ISP

PROPERTY

ELECTRONIC SERVICES

ELECTRONIC SERVICES

STRUCTURED ENTITY

1 Joint venture.

2 Effective shareholding of 89,8%, for accounting purposes. MU”Y‘?H Buffalo MTN (Mauril:iu;)
3 Effective shareholding of 66,8%, for accounting purposes Zambia Limited Investments Limited
4 Effective shareholding of 80% for accounting purposes. Zambia Mauritius

5 Effective shareholding of 76% for accounting purposes.

100% 100%
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (confinued)
9.1 Interest in subsidiaries and joint ventures (conftinued)

HOLDING COMPANIES

—~

e
e

PROCUREMENT

Easy Dial Investcom Investcom Global Tradi Global S 5
International Telecommunications Consortium elsel Uiekelli ©12e]) SeCIElE
Limited Guinea-Conakry Holding S.A. Company Limited Company Limited
British Virgin Limited British Virgin UAE e
Islands Brifish Virgin Islands Islands
100% 100%
100% 100% 100%
X Investcom Mobile Telecom Sourcing MTN Investments MTN SEA Shared
Invesr_cor'r_1 N.IObIIe Communications Invesrcqm X Services FZ-LLC Limited Services Limited
Benin Limired e Telecommunicafions AE u d
i o Limited . P UAE U ganda
British Virgin British Virgin Afghangro'n Limited
Islands ands British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 100%
100% 100% 100%
MANAGEMENT SERVICES
MTN NIC MTN (Neftherlands)  MTN (Netherlands)
BV BV Co-Op UA MTN Ghana
Nerherlands Nerherlands Nerherlands Foundation
Ghana
100% 100% 100%
S e9E% 100%
Galactic VEiits Starcom Global B
Engineering e Y .I_Aimil'e.d )
Projects SA ] Brifish Virgin INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS
Panama Islands
78% 100% 89% Interserve Overseas Limited
Brifish Virgin Islands
Fourteenth
Inveslt_cor_‘n Global NS . 100%
il Investment Holdin Senvlieo Sl
British Virgin {Hef sl Lebanon
=S UAE ELECTRONIC SERVICES
100% 100% 99.97%
e Invesfcom
MTN Nigeria Investcom 3
Towers Telecommunications InreLli'rr:]?rré?jnal
SPV B.V. ‘Yemen Limited British Virgin
Nerherlands Brifish Virgin Islands elencs
100% 100% 100%

MTN REL Mauritius

Progressive Tech

i Holdings
il Mauritius
100% 100%

1 Joint venture.

TELECOMMUNICATIONS
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GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)
Investment in associates and joint ventures

Associales and joinft ventures are accounted for using Fhe equity method and are recognised initially af cost.

The Group’s investment in associates and joint ventures includes goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any
accumulated impairment losses. The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of post-
acquisition accumulated profits or losses of associated companies and joint ventures in the carrying amount of
the investments, which are generally defermined from their latest audited Annual Financial Statements or
management accounts and the annual profit attributable to the Group is recognised in profit or loss. The Group'’s
share of any post-acquisition movement in reserves is recognised in OCIl. The cumulative post-acquisition
movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment.

The carrying amount of the Group's investments in associates and joint ventures is reduced to recognise any
potential impairment in the value of individual investments. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate or
joint venture equals or exceeds its interest in the associate or joint venture, the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless the Group has an obligation, issued guarantees or made payments on behalf of the associate or
joink venture.

Dilution gains or losses arising on investments in associates and joint ventures are recognised in profit or loss. If
the ownership infterest in an associale or joint venture is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in OCl is reclassified to profit or loss. Profits or losses
resulting from upstream and downstream transactions befween the Group and its associates and joint ventures
are recognised in the Group's financial sfafements only fo the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the
associates and joint ventures. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the fransaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asser transferred.

Adjustments have been made where necessary to bring the accounting policies of the associates and joint
ventures in line with those of the Group.

The Group applies equity accounting up until the date rhe investment meets the requirements to be classified as
held for sale. Thereafter it is measured af the lower of carrying value and fair value less cost to sell in accordance
with IFRS 5.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Investment in associates 324 2234
Investment in joint ventures 9982 6 530
Total investment in associates and joint ventures 10 306 8764
Share of results of associates after tax 123 142
Share of results of joint ventures affter fax 1019 563
Total share of results of associates and joint ventures after tax 1142 705
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Investment in associates
Unless otherwise stated, the Group'’s associates’ countries of incorporation are also their principal place of
operation.

The Group has the following effective interests in associates:

Effective % interest in issued
ordinary share capital

Country of

Associate Principal activity incorporation 2020 2019
Belgacom International
Carrier Services SA (BICS)! Telecommunications Belgium 20 20
Uganda InterCo? Management of

Felecommunication

infrastructure Nefherlands - 49
Ghana InterCo? Management of

frelecommunication

infrastructure Netherlands - 49
Number Portability
Propriefary Limited Porting South Africa 20 20
Content Connect Africa
Proprietary Limited* Telecommunications South Africa - 36

International Digital Services

Middle East Limited (iME) Telecommunications United Arab Emirates 29,5 29,5
! Held for sale as at 31 December 2020.

2 Disposed of in February 2020, refer to note 9.4.2 for details.

3 Disposed of in March 2020, refer to note 9.4.2 for details.

“ Disposed of in September 2020 for cash proceeds of R3,3 million and realised a loss of R7,0 million.

Associate held for sale

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as hon-current assefs held for sale and are stated af the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less cost to sell when their carrying amounts are fo be recovered
principally through sale rather than continued use and the sale is considered to be highly probable.

The Group’s interest in BICS was classified as held for sale on 5 August 2020. Subsequent to year-end, a disposal
Fransaction closed on 24 February 2021. Refer to note 9.4.3 for further details.
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GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investment in associates (continued)

2019

Balance at the beginning of
the year

Other income (note 2.3)
Share of results affer Fax
Dividend income

Reclassification to assefts held for
sale

Effect of movements in exchange
rates

Balance at the end of the year
2020

Balance at the beginning of

the year

Share of results affter fax

Share of ofther reserves

Dividend income

Loss of significant influence on
disposal

Reclassification fo assels held for
salet

Effect of movements in exchange
raftes

Balance at the end of the year

! Subsequent o classification as a non-current assel held for sale foreign exchange losses of R241 million were recognised up o

31 December 2020.
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2022

226
(227)

(92)
1929

1929

158

(223)

(2 385)

521

Uganda
InterCo
Rm

853

(894)

38

Ghana
InterCo
Rm

19
78

(97)

iME
Rm

474

(165)
(17)
292

292
(35)

62
321

(confinued)

Other
Rm

13

13

13

g

Total

3362

19

142
(227)

(894)

(168)
2234

2234

123

2
(223)

(10)
(2 385)

583
324
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Investment in associates (continued)
Summarised financial information of associates
Sel out below is the summarised financial information of an associate that is material to the Group. The summarised
financial information is adjusted fto reflect adjustments made by the Group when applying the equity method,
including fair value adjustments at acquisition and modifications for differences in accounting policy.

iME
2020 2019
Rm Rm

Summarised statement of financial position
Total assets 491 810
Non-current assefs 53 58
Current assels 438 752
Total liabilities 315 492
Non-current liabilities 19 15
Current liabilities 296 477
Nefl assets 176 318
% ownership interest held 29,50 29,50
Interest in associate 52 94
Adjustrment up to 31 December? 42
Goodwill 227 198
Balance at end of the year 321 292
Summarised income statement
Revenue 1380 1997
Loss before tax (48) (418)
Income tax expense (70) (141)
Loss after tax (118) (559)
% ownership interest held 29,5 29,5
Share of results after Fax (35) (165)

' Summarised financial information presented with regard to the Group'’s interest in iIME is as per the latest available management accounts

at 30 November 2020. Preparation of financial statements at 31 December 2020 by iME was impracticable. Appropriate adjustments have
been made to the Group's inferest and share of results for the effects of significant fransactions and evenfs rthat occurred for the one
month up fo the reporting date.

There are no significant contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interests in these associates af the end of the
current or prior year.
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GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investment in joint ventures

Classification of significant joint arrangements

Joint arrangements are all arrangements where fwo or more parties conftractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, which only exists when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control. Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the nef assets of the arrangement.

The Group exercises judgement in defermining the classification of its joint arrangements. The Group’s joinf
arrangements provide the Group and the other parties fo the agreements with rights fo the net assefs of the entities.
The Group has joinf control over these arrangements as, under the conftractual arrangements, unanimous consent is
required for all decisions made with regards fto the relevant activities. Judgement has been applied in defermining
Fhat the following entities should be classified as joint ventures of the Group:

« Irancell Telecommunication Company Services (PJSC) (49%);

« Mascom Wireless Botswana Proprietary Limited (Mascom) (53,1%); and

« Middle East Internet Holding S.A.R.L (MEIH) (50%).

The Group has the following effective interests in joint ventures:

Effective % interest in issued
ordinary share capital

Country of
Joint venture Principal activity incorporation 2020 2019
Irancell Nefwork operator Iran 49 49
Mascom Wireless Bofswana
Proprietary Limited (Mascom) Nefwork operator Bofswana 53,1 53,1
Swazi MTN Limited Nelwork operator eSwatrini 30 30
Deci Investments Proprietary
Limited (Deci Investments) Holding company Boftswana 33,3 33,3
Middle East Internet Holding
S.A.R.L (MEIH)* Telecommunications Luxembourg 50 50
aYo Holdings Limited Mobile insurance Mauritius 50 50
Mowali Societe par Actions
Simplifiee (Mowali) Telecommunications Cote d'lvoire 50 50

! The entity operates in various countries across the Middle East.

The joint ventures listed above are unlisted and their countries of incorporation are also ftheir principal place of
operation unless otherwise indicated.

All joint ventures have a year-end consistent with that of fthe Company with the exception of Irancell that has a year-
end of 21 December, for Group reporting purposes.

MEIH impairment of joint venture

The Group fested its investment in ifs equity-accounted e-commerce joint venture, MEIH, for impairment. The
Company experienced decreasing resulfs in the current year due fo the impact of COVID-19 on the transportation
and online booking platform for household services business. In the prior year, the Company was impacted by the
disposal of Wadi, an online shopping portal, fogether with increasing competitive pressure. The recoverable amount
was determined as the fair value less cost of disposal. The fair value represents a value defermined from unobservable
inputs. This was based on comparable Company and transaction average nel merchandise value multiples of
0,9x (2019: 1,3x) and revenue multiples of 4,4x for its fransportation business, and merchandise value multiples of
0,6x (2019: 1,4x) for its on-demand cleaning markefplace business. The carrying value of the equity-accounted net
assels exceeded the recoverable amount of R575 million (2019: R572 million) by R67 million (2019: R342 million) and
fhe Group recognised the resulting impairment in profit or loss.
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Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investment in joint ventures (continued)

Irancell
Rm

2019
Balance at the beginning of
the year 4547
Additions -
Transfer from held for sale -
Share of results affter fax 441
Dividend income (562)
Loss of joint control on dilufion/
disposal -
Impairment of investment -
Other comprehensive income
and effect of movements in
exchange rates including the
effect of hyperinflation?® (726)
Balance at the end of the year 3700
2020
Balance at the beginning of
the year 3700
Opening balance adjustment for
hyperinflation 3677
Addiftions? -
Share of results after tax 538
Dividend income (510)
Impairment of investrment -

Ofher comprehensive income

and effect of movements in

exchange rates including the

effect of hyperinflation?® (469)

Balance at the end of the year 6 936

Mascom

1

1

Rm

639
401
(252)

(23)
765

1765

1

436
(310)

(12)
879

N\ 03 “

Company financial

skafements
Jumia MEIH Travelstart
Rm Rm Rm
2195 963 581
(226) (10) 91)
(1 790) - (452)
- (342) -
(179) 39) (38)
- 572 -
- 572 -
- (30) -
- (67) -
- 100 -
- 575 -

Other
Rm

236
90
193
48
(71)

(3)
493

493

102
75
(75)

(3)
592

(confinued)

Total
Rm

8522
90
1832
563
(885)

(2 242)
(342)

(1008)
6 530

6 530

3677
102
1019

(895)

(67)

(384)
9982

* Refer to note 1.3.3 for the Group's accounting policy with regard to those entities whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary

economy.

2 The Group invested additional contributions in Mowali in accordance with the funding requirements of the entity. The contributions are on a
pro rafta basis in accordance with existing shareholding, resulting in no change in the Group's effective interest.
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Investment in joint ventures (continued)
Summarised financial information of joint ventures
Sef oul below is the summarised financial information of each joint venture that is material to the Group. The
summarised financial information is adjusted to reflect adjustments made by the Group when applying the equity
method including fair value adjustments at acquisition and modifications for differences in accounting policy.

Irancell Mascom
2020 2019 2020 2019
Rm Rm Rm Rm

Summarised statement
of financial position
ASSETS
Non-current assels 23429 18 920 2518 1528
Property, plant and equipment? 20 596 16 042 1468 1345
Infangible assels 1874 1306 200 168
Right-of-use-assefs?! 422 647 834 -
Investment property 46 102 16 15
Loans and ofher non-current receivables 24 40 - -
Investment in associate 230 123 - -
Capifalised contract costs 237 179 - -
Deferred rax assels - 481 - -
Current assels 4428 6843 1077 827
Inventories 86 151 8 18
Trade and other receivables 2576 3332 99 69
Taxation assefs - - 25 14
Current investments 7 - - -
Restricted cash 161 546 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 1598 2814 910 685
Confract assefs - — 35 41
Total assets 27 857 25763 3595 2 355
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 2548 1091 1071 133
Deferred rax liabilities 2276 587 137 121
Provisions 138 132 - 9
Other non-current liabilities 2 2 25 -
Lease liabilities 132 370 909 3
Current liabilities 11178 17 174 534 542
Trade and other payables 8932 12725 534 527
Provisions 167 165 - -
Taxation liabilities 322 505 - 15
Borrowings 906 2724 - -
Lease liabilities 94 194 - -
Dividends payable 757 861 - -
Total liabilities 13726 18 265 1605 675
Total net assets 14 131 7 498 1990 1680
% ownership interest held 49 49 53,1 53,1
Interest in joint venture excluding goodwill 6924 3674 1057 892
Adjustment up to 31 December? - - (39) -
Goodwill 12 26 861 873
Balance at end of the year 6 936 3700 1879 1765

* Irancell right-of-use asselts were disclosed as part of property, plant and equipment in 2019 and have been disaggregated in 2020 with
comparative numbers re-presented accordingly.

2 Summarised financial information presented with regard to the Group’s interest in Mascom is as per the latest available management accounts
af 30 September 2020. Preparation of financial statements al 31 December 2020 by Mascom was impracticable. Appropriate adjustments
have been made to the Group's interest and share of results for the effects of significant transactions and events that occurred for the three
months up to the reporting date.
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)
9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Investment in joint ventures (continued)
Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued)
Irancell
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Summarised income statement
Revenue 10736 16 355
Otfher income 1 1
Operating expenses (6 797) (10 150)
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (3662) (4 297)
Amortisation of intangible assets (642) (523)
Operating (loss)/profit (364) 1386
Finance income 260 154
Finance costs (1163) (157)
Nel monertary gain? 2175 -
Share of results of associate affter fax (30) (148)
Profit before tax 878 1235
Income tax income/(expense) 220 (335)
Profit after tax 1098 900
% ownership interest held 49 49
Share of results after tax? 538 441
Previously unrecognised share of profit - -
Total share of results after tax 538 441

N\ 03 “

(confinued)

Mascom

2020
Rm

2339
22
(831)

(238)

(126)
1166
19

(149)

1036
(215)
821
53,1
436

436

2019
Rm

2 090

(1023)

(169)

(124)
774
34

808
(205)
603
53,1
320

81

401

! The economy of Iran was assessed to be hyperinflationary effective 1 January, and hyperinflation accounting was applied for the current

financial year. Upon first application of hyperinflation, net prior period gains were recognised directly in equity.

2 Summarised financial information presented with regard to the Group's interest in Mascom is as per the latest available management accounts
at 30 September 2020. Preparation of financial statements at 31 December 2020 by Mascom was impracticable. Appropriate adjustments
have been made to the Group’s interest and share of resulfs for the effects of significant fransactions and events that occurred for the three

months up fo the reporting date.
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)
Investment in joint ventures (continued)
Summarised financial information of joint ventures (continued)

MEIH
2020 2019
Rm Rm

Summarised statement of financial position
ASSETS
Non-current assets 1 1
Property, plant and equipment 1 1
Current assefs 493 464
Trade and other receivables 14 14
Other current receivables 30 25
Cash and cash equivalents 449 425
Total assels 494 465
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities 19 16
Borrowings 13 11
Other current liabilities 6 5
Current liabilities 97 116
Trade and other payables 12 59
Unearned income - 7
Provisions 37 27
Other current liabilities 48 23
Total liabilities 116 132
Nefl assets 378 333
Non-contfrolling interest 66 54
Attributable to equity holders of the company 444 387
% ownership interest held 50 50
Interest in joint venture excluding goodwill 222 194
Adjustment up to 31 December? 152 117
Goodwill 201 261
Balance at end of the year 575 572
Summarised income skatement
Revenue 130 192
Other income 1 56
Operating expenses (189) (265)
Operating loss (58) 17)
Finance costs (1) (1)
Loss before Fax (59) (18)
Income tax expense (1) 2)
Loss after tax (60) (20)
% ownership interest held 50 50
Share of results after Fax (30) (10)

1 Summarised financial information presented with regard to the Group's interest in MEIH is as per the latest available management accounts
at 30 November 2020 (2019: 30 November 2019). Preparation of financial statements at 31 December 2020 by MEIH was impracticable.
Appropriate adjustments have been made fto the Group's interest and share of results for the effects of significant fransactions and events
that occurred for the one month up fto the reporting date.
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

9.2 Investment in associates and joint ventures (continued)

Investment in joint ventures (continued)
Commiltments relating to joint ventures
Commercial commiftments

Irancell

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

(confinued)

The investment in Irancell is subject fo a number of sovereign, regulatory and commercial risks, which could result in
the Group failing to realise full market value of its investrment should it be required fo dispose of any portion thereof.
In this regard, 21% of Irancell is required to be offered to members of the Iranian public within approximately three
years from the date of the licence. Such offering could have a proportional dilutionary effect on the Company’s
49% shareholding, effectively reducing its shareholding by 10,3% to 38,7%. Local management together with the
shareholders continue fo engage rhe regulator on this matter.

Capital commitments

Share of capital commitments of joint ventures not yet incurred at the reporting

date:
Contracted

— Property, plant and equipment

— Software

Aurhorised bul not contracted
— Property, plant and equipment

— Software

Contingent liabilities relating fo joint ventures
There are no material conftingent liabilities relating fo the Group’s interests in ifs joint venftures during the current or

prior year.

Licences

Licences awarded to the joint ventures are sef oul below:

Term

15 years
7 years

6 years

15 years
15 years
15 years
15 years

2020 2019
Rm Rm
814 954
743 903

71 51
925 958
845 862

80 96

1739 1912

Licence agreements Type Granted/renewed
Irancell Telecommunication 2G 09/07/2006
Company Services (PJSC) 3G 17/08/2014
LTE 23/08/2015
Mascom Wireless Botswana 900MHz 01/09/2018
Proprietary Limited 1 800MHz 01/09/2018
2 100MHz 01/09/2018
2 600MHz 01/09/2018
Swazi MTN Limited Electronic Communications
Neftwork Licence 28/11/2018
Electronic Communications
Service Licence 28/11/2018
800MHz 01/04/2020
900MHz 01/04/2020
1800MHz 01/04/2020
2100MHz 01/04/2020

10 years

10 years

Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
Renewable annually
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9 GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)
9.3 Joint operations

In respect of its inferest in joint operations, the Group recognises in its financial stafements its share of the assets
jointly held, classified according to the nature of the assets, any liabilities that it has incurred, its share of any
liabilities incurred jointly with the ofher joint operators in relation fo the joint operation, any income from the sale
or use of its share of the oufput of the joint operation, fogether with its share of any expenses incurred by the joint
operation and any expenses that it has incurred in respect of its interest in the joint operation.

When the Group acquires an infterest in a joint operation in which rhe activity of the joint operation constitutes a
business, identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss. Goodwill is measured as the excess of
the sum of the consideration fransferred over the nef of the acquisition date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the Group increases its interest in a joint operation in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a
business, by acquiring an additional interest in the joint operation, the Group’s previously held interests in the joink
operation are not remeasured if the joint operator refains joint control.

The Group has entered into agreements with several other companies fo construct high-capacity fibre-optic
submarine cable systems.
The Group has the following interests in jointly controlled operations:

Ownership interest held

2020 2019
% %

Joint operation
Europe India Gateway Submarine Cable System 6,84 6,84
West Africa Cable System 11,14 11,14
Eassy Cable System 16,13 16,13
Africa Coast to Europe Cable system 8,86 8,86
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9.4
9.4.1

9.4.2

9.4.3

GROUP COMPOSITION (confinued)

Changes in shareholding

Prior year changes in shareholding

Redemption of MTN Nigeria preference shares

On 24 April 2019 the MTN Nigeria board approved the redemption of all the US dollar denominated preference
shares previously issued by MTN Nigeria. MTN Nigeria redeemed the preference shares on 30 December 2019. The
proceeds from the redemption amounted to US$314 million for the Group's 78,59% interest in MTN Nigeria’s
preference shares. The Group recognised a cash payment of R1 243 million representing the rand equivalent of the
non-controlling interest share of the preference shares of US$85,5 million.

Current year changes in shareholding

Disposal of Uganda Tower InterCo B.V. and Ghana Tower InterCo B.V.

On 31 December 2019 the Group concluded an agreement to dispose of its 49% equity holdings in Ghana InterCo and
Uganda InterCo to AT Sher Neftherlands Cooperatief U.A. (ATC). The Uganda InterCo fransaction closed on 21 February
2020 for cash proceeds of US$140 million (R2,2 billion?) and realised a profit of R1,3 billion, inclusive of FCTR gains
of R112 million reclassified fo profit or loss on disposal. The Ghana InterCo transaction closed on 18 March 2020 for
cash proceeds of US$384 million (R6,6 billion?!) and realised a net profit of R4,8 billion, affer inclusion of FCTR losses
of R1,8 billion reclassified to profit or loss on disposal.

Disposal of 8% shareholding in MTN Zambia

On 7 October 2020 the Group disposed of 8% shareholding in MTN Zambia taking the Group’s effective shareholding
for accounting purposes from 97,8% fo 89,8%. The proceeds from the disposal amounted to ZMK287 million
(R238 million) and realised a net gain of R180 million recognised in equity as a fransaction with non-controlling
inferests.

! Translated at the effective date of the sale. Cash proceeds per the statement of cash flows are franslated at the spot rate on the date of receipt
of the proceeds.

Non-current asserts held for sale

Non-current assers (or disposal groups) are classified as non-current assefs held for sale and are stated at the
lower of their carrying amounts and fair value less cost to sell when their carrying amounts are to be recovered
principally through sale rather than continued use and the sale is considered to be highly probable.

MTN Syria

In May 2020, the Group committed fo a plan to sell MTN Syria to Teleinvest Limited (Telelnvest), which is the 25% non-
controlling shareholder in MTN Syria. Accordingly, as at 31 December 2020, MTN Syria’s assefs and liabilities have
been presented as held for sale due to the Group concluding thal the sale was considered fo be highly probable. Ar
31 December 2020, the Group expected the sale to be concluded within 2021. An impairment loss of R1,1 billion was
recognised in profit or loss for the period due fo writing down the carrying amount of the disposal group to ifs fair
value less costs to sell. MTN Syria was presented as part of the MENA cluster in the segment information (nofte 2.1).

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 25 February 2021, the appoinfment of the judicial guardian has
significantly reduced the Group's power fo direct MTN Syria’s relevant activities and rherefore, its control over MTN
Syria. The Group is still in the process of understanding its rights and obligations under the judicial arrangement but
fo the extent thal confrol is concluded fo have been lost, the Group will derecognise its 75% equity interest in and
loans receivable from MTN Syria, amounting fo R955 million at 31 December 2020. In addition, the Group will reclassify
accumulated foreign currency franslation losses of R5,1 billion fo profit or loss in line with the accounting policy. On
loss of control, the Group will measure its equity interest in and loans receivable from MTN Syria at fair value.

Included in the 2020 Group results is R2 295 million revenue (1,3% of the Group’s foftal revenue) and R574 million
CODM EBITDA! (0,8% of Group’s fotal CODM EBITDA) relating fo MTN Syria. These amounts exclude the impact of
hyperinflation.

BICS

The Group has been in discussions regarding a potential sale of its shareholding in BICS for some fime as the
investfment in associate was not considered a strategic investrment. BICS was accordingly classified as a non-current
assel held for sale on 5 August 2020. An impairment loss of R397 million affter writing down the carrying amount of
Fhe non-current assel held for sale o its fair value less costs to sell has been recognised in profit or loss.

Following year-end, the Group concluded an agreement fto sell, and fully exited, its 20% investment in BICS. The
fransaction closed on 24 February 2021 and the Group received nel cash proceeds of EUR99,1 million (R1,8 billion?)
and realised a profil of approximately R1,2 billion, mainly comprising of reclassified FCTR gains, which will form part
of EPS, with no impact on HEPS, equity and cash flows.

The Group recognised revenue fo the amount of R1,4 billion (2019: R1,4 billion) from fransactions with BICS and
incurred expenses fo the amount of R368 million (2019: R526 million) for inferconnect, roaming and ofher services
received from the associate.

1 CODM EBITDA is defined in note 2.1.
2 Translated af the effective date of the sale.
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GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

Changes in shareholding (confinued)

Non-current assels held for sale (continued)

The carrying amounts of assefs and liabilities that have been reclassified fo non-current assefs held for sale as at
31 December 2020 were:

31 December

2020
Rm
MTN Syria
Property, plant and equipment 1036
Right-of-use assefs 131
Infangible assels 380
Trade receivables and other current assets 588
Cash and cash equivalents 124
Total assets 2 259
BICS
Interest in associate 1747
Other 10
Non-current assets held for sale 4016
MTN Syria
Deferred fax and other non-current liabilities 346
Current liabilities 738
Liabilities directly associated with non-current assets held for sale 1084

Interest in subsidiaries
The subsidiaries in which MTN Group Limited has direct and indirect interests are sel out in note 9.1. A summary of
the Group’s subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests is presented below.

Non-controlling interests

2020 2019
Subsidiary Principal place of business Rm Rm
MTN Nigeria Nigeria 1385 1174
MTN Céte d'lvoire Cote d'lvoire 946 721
MTN Ghana GChana 1669 1440
MTN Sudan Sudan (144) (746)
MTN Guinea-Conakry Guinea-Conakry (1120) (979)
MTN Syria* Syria 220 230
Other 396 363

3352 2203

1 MTN Syria is held for sale in the 2020 year (see note 9.4.3).
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9.5

GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)

Interest in subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Sef oul below and on the next page is the summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-
controlling interests that are material fo the Group. Unless ofherwise stated, the Group’s subsidiaries’ countries of
incorporation are also their principal places of operation. The summarised financial information presented is before
intercompany eliminations.

MTN Nigeria MTN Céte d’lvoire MTN Ghana
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

% ownership interest held by
non-controlling interests 21,17 21,17 33,17* 33,17* 14,51 14,51

Summarised statement of
financial position

Non-current assefs? 52953 48 499 10381 9 810 14 347 12 532
Current assels 19 254 10 062 4093 1427 20960 11 149
Total assels 72 207 58 561 14 474 11 237 35307 23681
Non-current liabilities 37 881 37 698 3450 1288 5248 5179
Current liabilities 27 785 15 316 8172 7775 21765 11 695
Total liabilities 65 666 53014 11 622 9063 27 013 16 874
Summarised income statement

Revenue 57 980 46 696 8776 6917 17 245 13 820
Profit/(loss) before rax 12 810 11575 499 (486) 5638 3 849
Income tax (expense)/income (4 022) (3513) (124) 103 (1652) (1 160)
Profit/(loss) after Fax 8788 8 062 375 (383) 3986 2 689
Profit/(loss) attributable to

non-controlling interests 1860 1707 124 (127) 578 390
Dividends attributable to

non-controlling inferesfs 1665 1099 - - 373 242
Summarised statement of

cash flows

Neft cash generated from

operafing activities 19716 8343 1683 578 2892 2613
Neft cash used in investing

activities (16 735) (7 821) (910) (640) (1798) (2 225)
Net cash generated from/(used

in) financing activities 3234 2183 (1096) 521 (344) (144)
Nel increase/(decrease) in cash

and cash equivalents 6 215 2 705 (323) 459 750 244
Nel cash and cash equivalents at

the beginning of the year 4 457 2 093 549 154 1113 1097
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash

and cash equivalents (560) (341) 165 (64) (195) (228)

Nel cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year 10112 4 457 391 549 1668 1113

! The non-controlling interests hold 41,17% of the issued ordinary share capital of MTN Cote d'lvoire. However, the effective ownership for
accounting purposes is 33,17% due to outstanding funding provided by the Group fto the non-controlling interests to acquire ordinary share
capital in MTN Céte d’lvoire.

2 In addition fto the assefs included in the summarised financial information, R2 698 million (2019: R2 355 million) of goodwill is recognised
in the Group statement of financial position in relation fo MTN Cote d’lvoire and R3 830 million (2019: R3 722 million) of goodwill is recognised
in the Group statement of financial position in relation fto MTN Ghana.
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GROUP COMPOSITION (continued)
Interest in subsidiaries (continued)

Summarised financial information of subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

% ownership interest held by non-controlling interests
Summarised statement of financial position
Non-current assefs

Current assels

Total assefts

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Total liabilities

Summarised income statement
Revenue

Profit/(loss) before rax

Income fax expense

Profit/(loss) after fax

Profit/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests
Dividends aftributable to non-controlling interests

Summarised statement of cash flows

Nel cash generated from operating activities

Neft cash used in investing activities

Nel cash (used in)/generated from financing activities

Nel increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Nel cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents

Nel cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

MTN Sudan

2020
Rm

15

7 644
1387
9031
3141
2692

5833

6 735
1055
(391)

664

100

1217
(971)
(66)

180

377
(56)

501
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2019
Rm

15

3070

898
3968
2 654
2328

4982

2536
368
(145)

223

33

600
(375)
(256)

(31)

278

130

377

2020
Rm

25

981
1033
2014
3259
3236

6 495

1498
(342)

(342)

(86)

442
(453)
(9
(20)

19

15

14

(confinued)

MTN Guinea-Conakry

2019
Rm

25

1074
920

1994
3095
2814

5909

1188
(451)
(33)

(484)

(121)

45
(316)
285

14
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Related party transactions constitute the transfer of resources, services or obligations befween the Group and a
party related to the Group, regardless of whether a price is charged. For the purposes of defining related party
fransactions with key management, key management has been defined as directors and the Group’s Executive
Commifttee and includes close members of their families and entities controlled or jointly controlled by these

individuals.

Key management compensation

Salaries and ofher short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Share gains

Other benefifts

Bonuses

Total

Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed in note 10.2 of the financial stafements.

Subsidiaries

Details of investments in subsidiaries are disclosed in note 9.1 of the financial statements.

Changes in shareholding

Details of changes in shareholding are disclosed in note 9.4 of the financial statements.

Joint ventures and associates

2020
Rm

123

42
116

296

2019
Rm

130

69
107

315

Detrails of the Group's investments in and share of results and dividend income from its joint ventures and associates

are disclosed in note 9.2 of the financial statements.

Details of fransactions and balances with joint ventures and associates are set out below:

Balances outstanding at 31 December
Trade and ofther payables owing fo joint
ventures/associates

Loans receivable from joint ventures

Trade and other receivables from joint ventures/
associates

Transactions for the year ended 31 December
Dividends declared by joint ventures/associates
Interest income from joint ventures/associates
Capital call notices paid to joint ventures

MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020

Joint ventures

2020
Rm

292
2770

1164

895
170

2019
Rm

273
2753

1021

885
119
103

Associates

2020
Rm

31

97

223

2019
Rm

131

361

227
89
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10 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

10.1 Related party transactions (continued)
Transactions between members of the Group
MTN Ghana entered into lease agreements with Ghana InterCo in prior years. The group disposed of its 49% interest
in Ghana InterCo on 18 March 2020, at which point Ghana InterCo ceased to be a related party. In the period until
18 March 2020, the lease payments amounted fo R40 million and the interest charge recognised under IFRS 16 was
R127 million.

MTN Uganda entered into lease agreements with Uganda InterCo in prior years. The Group disposed of its 49%
interest in Uganda InterCo on 21 February 2020, at which point Uganda InterCo ceased to be a related party. In the
period up until 21 February 2020, the lease payments amounted fo R126 million and the interest charge recognised
under IFRS 16 was R54 million.

Shareholders
The principal shareholders of the Company are disclosed in Annexure 1, which is unaudited.

10.2 Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares
Directors’ emoluments and related payments

Post-
employment Other Sub- Share

Date = Salaries benefits benefits* Bonuses total gains** Total
2020 appointed RO00O RO0OO ROOO RO0OO RO0OO ROOO RO0OO
Executive
directors
RA Shuter®2 13/03/2017 18 154 1997 17 807 30104 68 062 5713 73775
RT Mupita® 03/04/2017 11970 441 680 17 736 30 827 - 30 827
Total 30124 2438 18487 47840 98889 5713 104 602

* Includes medical aid, expense allowances and unemployment insurance fund.

** Pre-tax gains on equity-seftled share-based payments.

! Resigned from being Group President and CEO on 31 August 2020.

2 Other benefits include payment of cash-settled share-based incentives.

3 Ceased to be GCFO on 31 August 2020. Appointed as Group President and CEO on 1 September 2020.

Post-
employment Other Sub- Share

Date Salaries benefits benefits* Bonuses foral gains** Total
2019 appointed RO0O RO0O RO00O RO00O RO00O RO0OO RO0OO
Executive
directors
RA Shuter 13/03/2017 17 305 1822 1118 27 584 47 829 - 47 829
RT Mupita*** 03/04/2017 9152 1059 42 658 13433 66 302 - 66 302
Total 26 457 2881 43776 41017 114 131 - 114 131

* Includes medical aid, expense allowances and unemployment insurance fund.
** Pre-tax gains on equity-seftled share-based payments.
***Qther benefits include payment of cash-seftled share-based incentives.
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RELATED PARTIES (continued)

N\ 03 “

Company financial

skafements

Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (continued)

Directors’ emoluments and related payments (continued)

Date
2020 appointed
Non-executive directors
MH Jonas 01/06/2018
S Mabaso-Koyana”® 01/09/2020
PB Hanratty* 01/08/2016
S Kheradpir* 08/07/2015
NP Mageza™” 01/01/2010
MLD Marole™” 01/01/2010
AT Mikati* 18/07/2006
SP Miller* 01/08/2016
KDK Mokhele 01/07/2018
V Rague* 01/07/2019
KC Ramoneé~~* 01/06/2014
SLA Sanusi* 01/07/2019
NL Sowazi 01/08/2016
BS Tshabalala 01/06/2018
Total
#
@  Fees paid to AngloGold Ashanti Limited.
~  Appointed 1 September 2020.

Fees have been paid in euros.
~* Resigned on 30 April 2020.
~~"~ Resigned on 30 September 2020.
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Retainer*  Attendance*

RO00O

3190
136
518

1572
163
252

1678

1441
578

1497
268

1471
434
445

13643

RO00

1078
173
403
317
234
540
986
904
706

1050
354
371
578
414

8108

Special
Board
R0O0O

686

59
148
172

26

26
717
816
310
831
203
420
320
249

4983

Skrategy
session
RO0OO

174
59
132
59
118
152
132
114
132
59
132
59
59

1381

Refainer and attendance fees include fees for Board and committee representation and meelings.

(confinued)

Ad hoc
work
RO0OO

54

25
25
235

152
293
47
204
44

1088

Total
ROOO

5128

377
1182
2193

507

961
3768
B§298
1860
3803

931
2598
1435
1167

29 203
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RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (continued)
Directors’ emoluments and related payments (continued)

2019

Non-executive directors

M Jonas™

PF Nhleko*~ ™~
PB Hanratty
A Harper™

KP Kalyan™

S Kheradpir
NP Mageza
MLD Marole
AT Mikati

SP Miller

KDK Mokhele
V Rague

KC Ramon®
SLA Sanusi
NL Sowazi

BS Tshabalala
J van Rooyen™
Total

Date  Retainer”
appointed ROOO0O
01/06/2018 441
28/05/2013 3480
01/08/2016 1323
01/01/2010 1343
13/06/2006 437
08/07/2015 1328
01/01/2010 564
01/01/2010 498
18/07/2006 1472
01/08/2016 1347
01/07/2018 331
01/07/2019 691
01/06/2014 441
01/07/2019 681
01/08/2016 404
01/06/2018 331
18/07/2006 462
15574

Appointed as Chairman on 15 December 2019.

Atrtendance”

1

R0O0O

498
1110
806
868
695
911
631
923
744
892
463
614
553
590
578
361
774

2011

Special
Board
RO0O

* Received fees of R873 799 for services rendered on the International Advisory Board.
#  Refrainer and attendance fees include fees for Board and committee representation and meefings.

@  Fees paid fo Anglogold Ashanti Limited.

**  Resigned on 15 December 2019.
~~" Fees paid to Captrust Investments Proprietary Limited.

Prescribed officers’ emoluments and related payments

2020

Prescribed officers
E Asante

| Jaroudi

F Moolman

G Motsa

P Norman

S Perumal”®

J Schulte-Bockum®@
K Toriola

Total

Salaries
RO0O

10115
11 644
8227
7421
6138
1759
9 648
8474

63 426

Post-
employ-
ment
benefits
RO0O

809
953
1633
816
675
160
1012
847

6 905

# Includes medical aid and unemployment insurance fund.
~ Appointed as acting GCFO on 1 September 2020.
@ Other benefits include payment of cash-seftled share-based incentives.

Other
benefits* Bonuses
ROO0OO RO0OO
4 885 9969
616 8 396
5794 7 203
607 8435
820 8044
307 4135
6 078 14 576
4871 7 279
23978 68 037

25
35
30
21
35
30
35
35
31
26
25

9
35

9
35
15
35

466

Strategy
session
ROOO

203
599
376
376
203
376
203
203
389
376
203
251
203
251
203
136
203

4754

Sub-total
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RO0O

25778
21609
22 857
17 279
15677

6361
31314
21471

162 346

(confinued)

Ad hoc
work
ROOO

115
115

34
231

20

27

17
40

76
684

Share
gains
RO0O

Total
RO0OO

1282
5339
2569
2839
1370
2 645
1453
1659
2663
2641
1022
1582
1272
1540
1220

843
1550

33489

Total
RO0O

25778
21 609
22 857
17 279
15677

6361
31314
21471

162 346



N\ 01 “

Statutory
reporfs

Group financial
skarements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

10 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
10.2 Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (confinued)
Prescribed officers’ emoluments and related payments (conftinued)
Post-
employ-
ment Other

Salaries benefits benefits* Bonuses Sub-total
2019 RO0OO ROOO ROOO RO0OO ROOO
Prescribed officers
E Asante 9039 723 4 400 8 858 23020
M Fleischer?! 4271 493 2351 - 7 115
| Jaroudi 10 080 - 6 892€ 8027 24 999
L Modise? 2 240 246 3318 2 456 8 260
F Moolman 9615 496 2878¢@ 8104 21093
G Motsa 7 323 805 703 6823 15 654
P Norman 6 057 699 532 6 850 14 138
J Schulte-Bockum 9398 986 497 13019 23900
F Sekha 4254 468 591 5082 10 395
K Toriola 8151 815 3160 6 984 19 110
Total 70 428 5731 25322 66 203 167 684

* Early retirement on 31 July 2019.

* Other benefits include an amount paid in lieu of forfeited benefits from previous employer.

2 Appoinfted on 12 August 2019.
# Includes medical aid and unemployment insurance fund.

© Compensation for loss of office comprises of severance, restraint of frade and gratuity pay.

(confinued)

Share
gains
RO0O

Total
RO0O

23020
7 115
24 999
8 260
21093
15 654
14 138
23 900
10 395
19 110
167 684

Directors, prescribed officers and Company Secretary of the MTN Group and directors of major subsidiaries’

shareholding and dealings in ordinary shares

December

2020

RA Shuter?! -
RT Mupifta? 93 598
RT Mupifta 680
TS Sishuba-Bonoyi 2201
KP Kalyan?® -
S Miller 7 500
NP Mageza* -
G Motsa* 24911
SB Mtshali® -
PD Norman* 10 000
KC Ramon® -
KC Ramon® -
BS Tshabalala 1004
J Schulte-Bockum?* 50 000
S Perumal’ 2425
J van Rooyen?® -
S Mabaso-Koyana® 744
Total 193 063

Major subsidiary director.

Holds 246 000 shares in ADR.

Resigned on 15 December 2019.

Resigned on 30 April 2020.

Retired on 31 March 2019.

Resigned on 30 September 2020.

Appointed as acting GCFO on 1 September 2020.
Resigned effective 15 December 2019.
Appointed 1 September 2020.

L T N

Resigned from being Group President and CEO on 31 August 2020.

December
2019

200 000
93 598
680

1373
400
161

5867

10 000

3244

9901

1004

50 000
457
32700

409 385

Beneficial

Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Indirect
Direct
Indirect
Indirect
Direct
Direct
Direct
Direct

Subsequent to year-end, up to and including 9 March 2021, there were no changes in the directors’ beneficial

interestin MTN Group.
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10 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

10.2 Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (confinued)
Directors, prescribed officers and Company Secretary of the MTN Group and directors of major subsidiaries’
shareholding relating fo MTN Zakhele Futhi
The following persons, being directors of MTN Group Limited and its major subsidiaries and the Company Secretary,
hold the following number of MTN Zakhele Futhi shares, which has a shareholding in MTN Group Limited shares:

December December
Beneficiary 2020 2019 Beneficial
RT Mupita 33562 33562 Indirect
SA Fakie - 6 061 Direct
SA Fakie - 13031 Indirect
KP Kalyan? - 83967 Direct
NP Mageza? - 155 870 Indirect
SB Mtshali® - 39 703 Indirect
KC Ramon* - 23 500 Direct
J van Rooyen? - 500 Indirect
Total 33562 356 194

! Resigned effective 15 December 2019.
2 Resigned on 30 April 2020.

3 Refired on 31 March 2019.

4 Resigned on 30 September 2020.

Subsequent to year-end, up to and including 9 March 2021, there were no changes in the directors’ beneficial
inferest in MTN Zakhele Futhi.

Equity compensation benefits for executive directors, prescribed officers and Company Secretary of the
MTN Group and directors of major subsidiaries in respect of the performance share plan

Number Number
outstanding outstanding
at Exercise as at
Vesting 31 December Accrued/ Seftlement price 31 December
Award date date 2019 Awarded settled Forfeited date R 2020
RA Shuter*!
29/09/2017 31/12/2019 213 600 - (160 200) (53400) 27/03/2020 35,66 -
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 200 200 - - - - - 200 200
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 436 600 - - - - - 436 600
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 457 100 - - - - - 457 100
Total 1307 500 - (160 200) (53 400) - 35,66 1093 900
RT Mupita**?
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 118 300 - - - - - 118 300
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 190 200 - - - - - 190 200
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 223300 - - - - - 223 300
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 530 800 - - - - 530 800
Total 531800 530 800 - - - - 1062 600
PD Norman
28/12/2016 28/12/2019 56 300 - - (56 300) - - -
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 57 700 - - - - - 57 700
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 94 600 - - - - - 94 600
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 100 900 - - - - - 100 900
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 139 100 - - - - 139 100
Total 309 500 139 100 - (56 300) - - 392 300
G Motsa
09/03/2017 28/12/2019 66 500 - - (66 500) - - -
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 69 700 - - - - - 69 700
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 114 100 - - - - - 114100
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 121800 - - - - - 121 800
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 167 800 - - - - 167 800
Total 372 100 167 800 - (66 500) - - 473 400

+  Appointed on 13/03/2017. On appointment, RA Shuter was granted a cash-settled share-based paymentincentive in lieu of unvested stocks
or equity relinquished upon resignation from previous employment. The value of the incentive was defermined based on the markel value
of 327 214 ordinary listed shares in MTN Group Limited. The incentive was paid on 12/03/2020.

N Resigned from being Group President and CEO on 31 August 2020.

++ Appointed on 03/04/2017. On appointment, RT Mupita was granted a cash-seftled share-based payment incentive in lieu of unvested
stocks or equity relinquished upon resignation from previous employment. The value of the incentive was based on the markel value of
446 027 ordinary listed shares in MTN Group Limited. The incentive was paid on 28/10/2019.

2 Ceased fo be GCFO on 31 August 2020. Appointed as Group President and CEO on 1 September 2020.
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10 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

10.2 Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (confinued)
Equity compensation benefits for executive directors, prescribed officers and Company Secretary of the
MTN Group and directors of major subsidiaries in respect of the performance share plan (continued)

Number Number
outstanding ouftstanding
af Exercise as aft
Vesting 31 December Accrued/ Seftlement price 31 December
Award date date 2019 Awarded settled  Forfeited date R 2020
J Schulte-Bockum***
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 125500 - - - - - 125 500
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 205 500 - - - - - 205 500
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 216 400 - - - - - 216 400
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 315800 - - - - 315 800
Total 547 400 315800 - - - - 863 200
F Moolman
28/12/2016 28/12/2019 66 400 - - (66 400) - - -
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 66 100 - - - - - 66 100
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 112 900 - - - - - 112 900
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 117 300 - - - - - 117 300
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 180 700 - - - - 180 700
Total 362 700 180 700 - (66 400) - - 477 000
PT Sishuba-Bonoyi
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 36 800 - - - - - 36 800
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 52 100 - - - - 52100
Total 36 800 52 100 - - - - 88 900
D Molefe*
20/12/2020 20/12/2023 - 71300 - - - - 71 300
Total - 71300 - - - - 71 300

+++ Appointed on 16/01/2017. On appointment, J Schulte-Bockum was granted a cash-settled share-based payment incentive in lieu of
unvested stocks or equity relinquished upon resignation from previous employment. The value of the incentive was determined based on
the markel value of 64 423 ordinary listed shares in MTN Group Limited. The incentive was paid on 15/01/2020.

# Appointed as a director of a major subsidiary on 1 November 2020.
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RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Emoluments, equity compensation and dealings in ordinary shares (confinued)
Equity compensation benefits for executive directors, prescribed officers and Company Secretary of the
MTN Group and directors of major subsidiaries in respect of the performance share plan (continued)

(confinued)

Number Number
oufstanding outstanding
aft Exercise as af
Vesting 31 December Accrued/ Seftlement price 31 December
Award date date 2019 Awarded seftled  Forfeited date R 2020
| Jaroudi
28/12/2016 28/12/2019 89 000 - - (89 000) - - -
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 77 600 - - - - - 77 600
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 133700 - - - - - 133 700
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 135900 - - - - - 135900
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 209 300 - - - - 209 300
Total 436 200 209 300 - (89 000) - - 556 500
E Asante
28/12/2016 28/12/2019 55900 - - (55 900) - - =
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 78 000 - - - - - 78 000
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 137 500 - - - - - 137 500
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 143 200 - - - - - 143 200
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 221600 - - - - 221 600
Total 414 600 221600 - (55 900) - - 580 300
K Toriola
28/12/2016 28/12/2019 55900 - - (55900) - - =
18/12/2017 18/12/2020 69 100 - - - - - 69 100
28/12/2018 29/12/2021 114 000 - - - - - 114 000
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 120 800 - - - - - 120 800
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 186 200 - - - - 186 200
Total 359 800 186 200 - (55 900) - - 490 100
S Perumal®
20/12/2019 20/12/2022 56 200 - - - - - 56 200
21/12/2020 21/12/2023 - 79 400 - - - - 79 400
Total 56 200 79 400 - - - - 135 600

* Appointed as acting GCFO on 1 September 2020.

MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020



01~ WY . 03

Statutory Group financial Company financial
reporfs sfafements skafrements

(confinued)

for the year ended 31 December 2020

11
11.1

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Release of foreign currency translation reserves
The Group implemented a voluntary accounting policy change relating fo the release of FCTR.

In the first quarter of 2019, the Group announced fthat it will be optimising its portfolio through an asset realisation
programme aimed at simplifying the Group, reducing risk and improving shareholder refurns and in March 2020 fthe
Group announced that fthis programme has been further expanded. The strategic intent to dispose of certain
investments in subsidiaries and associates over the medium term has resulted in a review of the most appropriate
approach in accounting for these disposals.

IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (IAS 21) requires that on the disposal of a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating to thal foreign operation, recognised in OCI and
accumulated in FCTR in equity, shall be reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjusfment when
the gain or loss on disposal is recognised. Two accepted methods exist for recycling FCTR where the investments are
held by an intermediate parent with a different functional currency than the entity disposed of and the ultimate
parent. These merhods, that are referred to as part of the basis for conclusions (BC 35 — BC 39) in IFRIC 16 Hedges
of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation, are as follows:

* Step-by-step method — FCTR is recycled based on the appreciation or devaluation in the functional currency of the
investment disposed of againstthe functional currency of the infermediate parent and translated into the functional
currency of the ultimate parent.

o Direct method — FCTR is recycled based on the appreciation or devaluation in the functional currency of the
invesfment disposed of against the functional currency of the ultimate reporting entity.

The Group has historically applied the step-by-step method on disposals to date. The functional currencies of some
of the Group’s intermediate holding companies are US$ and, as a resull, the FCTR reclassified on the step-by-step
approach is determined based on the appreciation or devaluation of the currencies of the entities disposed of against
the US$ and translated into the functional currency of the ulfimate parent. As the Group’s functional and presentation
currency is South African rand and the FCTR is based on the appreciation or devaluation of the South African rand
against the equity of the underlying operations in the Group, the direct method provides a more reliable and relevant
view of the gain or loss realised in the context of the Group’s South African rand (ZAR) functional currency. The Group
has accordingly changed its accounting policy on the reclassification of FCTR on disposal of foreign operations held
by an intermediate parent where the functional currency of the foreign operation and intermediate parent is different
fo that of the ultfimate parent from the step-by-step method fo the direct method.

This change in accounting policy impacted the FCTR gains and losses reclassified fo profit or loss in the current

period on disposal of the Group's investments in associates, Ghana InterCo and Uganda InterCo, and in the prior
periods on disposal of the Group's interest in foreign operations, as disclosed in the following tables.
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11 CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

11.1 Release of foreign currency translation reserves (continued)
11.1.1  Impact on financial statements

11.1.1.1 Consolidated income statement (extract)

Gain on disposal/dilution of investment in joint ventures and associates
Ofher income

Operating profit

Profit before tax

Income fax expense

Profit affer fax

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Company

Non-confrolling interests

11.1.1.2 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income (extract)

Items that may be and/or have been reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations including the effect
of hyperinflation

Reclassification of foreign currency translation differences on loss of control
and joint control

Total comprehensive income for the year
11.1.1.3 Consolidated statement of financial position (extract)

31 December

2020

Rm

Refained earnings 3116
Other reserves (3116)

Total equity -

(confinued)

2020
Rm

831

831
831

831

831

2020
Rm

(831)

(831)

31 December
2019

Rm

2285

(2 285)

2019
Rm

137
137
137

137

137

2019
Rm

(137)

(137)

1 January
2019

Rm

2148

(2 148)

The impact of the change in policy on earnings per share is a 46 cents increase (2019: 7 cents increase) and diluted
earnings a 46 cents increase (2019: 7 cents increase). The change in accounting policy had no impact on headline

earnings or cash flows in the current or prior comparative period.
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Revenue

Finance income

Finance costs

Other income

Operating expenses

Profit before tax

Income rax income/(expense)

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year

af 31 December 2020

ASSETS

Non-current assels
Investments in subsidiaries
Current assels

Trade and ofher receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assels

EQUITY

Ordinary share capiftal and share premium
Accumulated loss

Other reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability

Current liabilities

Taxation liability

Trade and ofther payables
Financial guarantee contracts

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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2020
Nore Rm
1 6 755
2 691
2 (918)
2
3 (360)
6170
4 1
6171
2020
Note Rm
23 808
5 23808
628
6 418
7 210
24 436
8 37 040
(22 560)
7 324
21 804
2632
11 6
9 497
13 2129
2632
24 436

2019
Rm

10 242
743

(350)
10 639
(9

10 630

2019
Rm

23 808
23 808
794
578
216

24 602

37 040

(22 042)

7 324
22 322

2278

388
1886

2280
24 602
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Share Share Accumulated Other
capital premium losses reserves! Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Balance at 1 January 2019 * 37 040 (22 874) 7 324 21 490
Profit and fotal comprehensive income - - 10 630 - 10 630
Transactions with shareholders
Dividends declared? - - (9 798) - (9 798)
Balance at 1 January 2020 * 37 040 (22 042) 7 324 22 322
Profit and fofal comprehensive income - - 6171 - 6171
Transactions with shareholders
Dividends declared? - - (6 689) - (6 689)
Balance at 31 December 2020 * 37 040 (22 560) 7 324 21 804
Nore 8 8

! Share-based payment reserve.
2 Refer to note 8.3 of the Group financial sfatements for the dividends declared per share during the current and prior year.
* Amounts less than R1 million.

for the year ended 31 December 2020

2020 2019
Note Rm Rm

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations 10 131 (201)
Interest received 11 22
Income rax received/(paid) 11 1 (6)
Dividends received 6 540 9970
Net cash generated from operating activities 6 683 9785

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Dividends paid (6 689) (9 789)
Net cash used in financing activities (6 689) (9 789)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (6) 4)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 216 220
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 7 210 216
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140

REVENUE

Revenue comprises dividend income and management fees received. Dividend income is recognhised when the
right to receive payment is established. Management fees received are recognised as and when the services are

rendered.

Dividend income — ofther revenue
Management fees received — revenue from contracts with cusfomers

FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income

2020
Rm

6 540
215

6 755

2019
Rm

9970
272

10 242

Finance income mainly comprises amortisation of financial guarantee contracts and the related nef foreign

exchange gains.

Finance cost

Finance cost comprises of nef foreign exchange losses on financial guarantee contracts and remeasurements of

financial guarantee contracts.

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits

Amortisaftion of financial guarantee contracts
Gains on remeasurement of financial guarantees
Nel foreign exchange gains

Finance cost
Losses on remeasurement of financial guarantees
Nef foreign exchange losses

Nerl finance (cost)/income recognised in profit or loss

OPERATING EXPENSES

The following disclosable items have been included in arriving af profit before fax:

Directors’ emoluments?

Fees paid for services

— Professional fees

— Management fees paid (hote 12)
Auditors’ remuneration

— Audif fees

* Includes reimbursement of expenses.
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2020
Rm
11
680

691

(756)
(162)

(918)
(227)

2020
Rm

(48)
(247)
(51)
(196)
(15)
(15)

2019
Rm
22
595
76
50

743

743

2019
Rm

(39)
(268)
(20)
(248)
(13)
(13)
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(continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2020

4 INCOME TAX INCOME/(EXPENSE)

Refer fo note 3.1 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Normal tax — current year (1) (8)
Deferred tax — current year 2 (1)
Income tax income/(expense) il (9)

South African normal faxation is calculated at 28%* (2019: 28%) of the estimated taxable income for the year.

The Company'’s effective tax rate is reconciled to the South African statutory rate as follows:

2020 2019
% %

Tax rate reconciliation
Tax at stafufory rax rate 28 28
Income not subject to Fax? (29,2) (28,1)
Expenses not allowed 1,2 0,2
Effective tax rate * 0,1

! In the budget speech read in Parliament on 24 February 2021, South Africa’s finance minister proposed that the corporate tax rate be reduced
from 28% fo 27% for years of assessment commencing on or after 1 April 2022.

2 The majority of the exempt income relates to dividends received.

* Percentage less than 0,1%.

5 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The Company accounts for investments in subsidiaries af cost less accumulated impairment losses.

The Group structure and Company'’s subsidiaries are disclosed in note 9.1 of the Group financial sfatements.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Toral interest in MTN Holdings 22310 22310
Total interest in MTN Group Management Services Proprietary Limited 57 57
Total interest in MTN SA 1441 1441
Total interest in subsidiary companies 23 808 23 808
6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Refer to note 4.2 of the Group financial sftatements for the applicable accounting policy.
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Trade receivables due from related parties (nofte 12) 386 554
Prepayments and other receivables 14 7
Sundry debtors and advances 18 17
418 578
7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Refer to note 4.4 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Cash at bank 210 216
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8 ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Refer fo note 8.1 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

2020 2019
Number of Number of
shares shares

Ordinary share capital (par value of 0,01 cents)
Authorised 2 500 000 000 2 500 000 000
Issued (fully paid up) 1884 269 758 1884 269 758
In issue at beginning and end of the year 1884 269 758 1884 269 758
Options held by MTN Zakhele Futhi? (76 835378) (76 835378)
In issue at end of the year — excluding MTN Zakhele Futhi 1807 434 380 1807 434380

! These shares, although legally issued to MTN Zakhele Futhi, are not deemed to be issued in ferms of IFRS and are shown as such in the share
capiftal reconciliation.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Share capital
Balance at beginning of the year * *
Balance at end of year * *
Share premium
Balance at beginning of the year 37 040 37 040
Balance at end of the year 37 040 37 040

* Amounts less than R1 million.

Share-based payment transaction

The Group structured a BBBEE Fransaction through a separate legal entity in 2016, MTN Zakhele Futhi which
replaced the Group'’s previous BEE structure known as MTN Zakhele. The transaction is designed to provide long-
ferm, sustainable benefits to all BBBEE participants and will run for a period of eight years.

As part of the fransaction MTN Zakhele Futhi acquired 76 835 378 of the Company'’s shares at a price of R128,50
per share. The BBBEE fransaction with MTN Zakhele Futhi has the substance of an option for accounting purposes.
MTN Zakhele Futhi must repay the preference shares and NVF before the Company’s shares held by it become
unencumbered, while the Company’s shares are the only security offered by MTN Zakhele Futhi for the debt funding
obtained. Until the Company’s shares held by MTN Zakhele Futhi becomes unencumbered, the ordinary shareholders
of MTN Zakhele Futhi are exposed to the gains on the Company’s shares, while their exposure to downside risk or
risk of loss is limited to their equity contfributions (i.e. the purchase price paid by them for the MTN Zakhele Futhi
shares).

Consequently, although legally issued the Company does nof recognise its shares issued fo MTN Zakhele Futhi and
does not recognise the NVF as oufstanding for accounting purposes. Equity confributions from external parties
comprising cash received from new investors (including amounts funded from the preference shares) and the
re-investment by existing MTN Zakhele shareholders in MTN Zakhele Futhi, are in substance treated as a premium
paid for the option to acquire the Company’s shares in future. The resultant premium recognised by rhe Company
in fhe share-based payment reserve amounted ro R4 036 million. Securities fransfer fax of R10 million was paid by
MTN on the acquisition of shares from MTN Zakhele Futhi, which was recognised in the share-based payment
reserve.

The transaction with MTN Zakhele Futhi's shareholders is an equity-seftled share-based payment fransaction
among Group entities in terms of which the Company will issue shares in future to MTN Zakhele Futhi's shareholders
in exchange for BBBEE benefits received by MTN SA.
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9 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Refer fo note 4.5 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

2020 2019
Rm Rm
Payables due fo related parties (hote 12) 291 192
Accrued expenses and ofher payables 206 196
497 388
10 CASH GENERATED FROM/(UTILISED IN) OPERATIONS
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Profit before tax 6170 10 639
Adjusted for:
Dividend income (note 1) (6 540) (9 970)
Finance income (nhote 2) (691) (743)
Finance costs (note 2) 918 —
(143) (74)
Changes in working capital 274 (127)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 161 (288)
Increase in frade and other payables 113 161
131 (201)
11 INCOME TAX RECEIVED/(PAID)
2020 2019
Rm Rm
Balance at beginning of the year (4) 3)
Amounts recognised in profit or loss (note 4) 1 9)
Deferred fax (2) 1
Other - 1
Balance at end of the year 6 4
Income tax received/(paid) i (6)
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Refer fo note 10.1 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

Various ftransactions were entered into by the Company during the year with related parties.

(conftinued)

The following is a summary of significant fransactions with subsidiaries during the year and significant balances at

fhe reporting date:

Dividends paid

— MTN Holdings

— MTN Zakhele Futhi

Dividends received

— MTN Holdings

Management fees paid

— MTN Group Management Services Proprietary Limited
Management fees received

— MTN International Proprietary Limited

Receivables

— MTN Holdings

— MTN Group Management Services Proprietary Limited
— MTN SA

— MTN Dubai?

— MTN Infernational Propriefary Limited

— MTN (Mauritius) Investments Limited?

— MTN International (Mauritius) Limited

Payables

— MTN Group Management Services Proprietary Limited
— MTN Dubai?

— MTN Holdings

— MTN International (Mauritius) Limited

— MTN Zambia

! The balances result from fransactions whereby MTN Dubai and the Company extinguished liabilities on behalf of each other.

2020
Rm

(273)
6 540
(196)
215
92

207

73
*

(143)
(135)
(2)
(11)

*

2019
Rm

(36)
(400)

9970
(248)
272

273
206
8

4
63
*

(107)
(81)
(&))
(3

2 The balance results from transactions whereby the Company extinguished liabilities on behalf of MTN (Mauritius) Investments Limited.

* Amounts less than R1 million.

Financial guarantee contracts

Details of financial guarantee contracts are disclosed in note 13 of the Company financial statements.

Directors

Details of directors’ remuneration are disclosed in note 3 of the Company financial statements and note 10.2 of the

Group financial statements.

Shareholders

The principal shareholders of the Company are disclosed in Annexure 1 which is unaudited.
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13 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer fo make specified payments fo reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails fo make payments when due in accordance with the
ferms of a debt instrument.

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Company are initially measured af their fair values and are

subsequently measured at the higher of:

e The ECL in accordance with IFRS 9; or

e The amountinitially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
IFRS 15.

The ECLs are a probability weighted estimate of credit losses (the cash shortfalls) over the expected life of the
guarantee. Accordingly, the cash shortfalls are the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credif loss
that it incurs less any amounts that the Company expects fo receive from the holder, debtor or any other party.

Where guarantees in relation fo loans to related parties are provided for no compensation, the fair values are
accounted for as capital conftributions and recognised as part of the cost of the investment.

The Company along with other subsidiaries have guaranteed rhe bonds, revolving credit facilities, long-term loans
and general banking facilities of MTN Holdings and MTN (Mauritius) Investments Limited. Under the terms of the
guarantee, the Company will make payments to reimburse the lenders upon failure of the guaranteed entity fo make
payments when due.

Face value Drawn down balance?
2020 2019 2020 2019
Rm Rm Rm Rm
Bond guarantees
Bonds! and commercial paper 20 000 20 000 12 255 10 650
Syndicated and other loan Facilities
US$ revolving-credit-facility 18 347 17 476 2204 3081
ZAR long-term loan 23 250 26 313 20323 22 003
US$ long-term loan 2202 4 893 2168 4 830
63 799 68 682 36 950 40 564

' R12 255 million (2019: R10 650 million) of the bonds are listed on the Bond Exchange of South Africa.
2 Includes interest accrued.

In addition, the Company has provided unrestricted suretyship with regards to the Standard Bank of South Africa
Limited cash management facility of MTN Holdings and suretyship to a maximum value of R5 850 million (2019:
R5 850 million) with regard to the Standard Bank of South Africa Limited banking facilities of MTN SA, MTN
International (Mauritius) Limited, MTN International Proprierary Limited, MTN Holdings and MTN Service Provider
Proprietary Limited.

The Company, together with other subsidiaries in the Group guaranteed senior unsecured notes issued by MTN
(Mauritius) Investment Limited on the Irish Stock Exchange amounting to US$1 750 million (2019: US$1 750 million).
A financial liability was recognised at the fair value of the guarantees issued. A fee was not charged by the Company
for providing the guarantee and therefore the benefit provided by the Company to its subsidiary was recognised as
a capital contribution.

The Company, fogether with other subsidiaries in the Group, guaranteed US dollar syndicated loan facilities
with Citibank amounting fo US$1 billion (2019: US$1 billion). The drawn down balance as at 31 December 2019 of
US$50 million was fully repaid in the current financial year with no new drawn downs taking place. A financial liability
was initially recognised at the fair value of the guarantee issued. A fee was not charged by the Company for providing
fhe guarantee and therefore the benefit provided by the Company fo its subsidiary was recognised as a capifal
contribution.
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13 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS (continued)
The Company, fogether with other subsidiaries in the Group guaranteed US dollar revolving credit facilities with
Citibank amounting fo US$1 250 million (2019: US$1 250 million) of which US$150 million (2019: US$220 million) was
drawn down at year-end. A fee was not charged by the Company for providing the guarantee and rherefore the
benefit provided by the Company to its subsidiary was recognised as a capital contribution.

The Company’s financial liability relating to financial guarantee contracts amounts fo R2 129 million (2019:
R1 886 million) and R680 million (2019: R595 million) was amortised fo profit or loss for the year.

In addition to the financial guarantees issued over the cash management facility, senior unsecured notes and
Citibank facilities, the Company has also issued various financial guarantees over the bonds, revolving credit facilities,
long-term loans and banking facilities of MTN Holdings. Limited value was attached fto these financial guarantee
contracts which resulted in immaterial fair values being ascribed on initial recognition (limited value guarantees).
Al 31 December 2020 the limited value guarantees were measured af the ECL amount and losses on remeasurement
of R756 million (2019: gains of R76 million) have been recognised in profit or loss.

MTN Group'’s credit rating as determined by Standard & Poor (S&P) has been used fo assess whether there has
been a significant increase in credif risk. Following the downgrade in MTN Group’s credit rating by S&P during the
current financial year (BB+ to BB-), it was defermined that the use of lifefime ECL for all ferm loans within the portfolio
was most appropriate. The use of 12 months ECL for banking facilities remained consistent as these are fypically
renegotiated on an annual basis.

The following formula was used to defermine the ECL: Exposure al Default x Probability of Default (PD) x Loss Given
Default (LGD) x discount rate. PDs have been determined with reference to S&P’s published historical PD experience
by credit rafting category. The LGD specific to MTN has been deftermined by Moody’s Investor Services (Moody's)
al 35% (2019: Moody’s at 51%) and the original effective interest rate of the underlying borrowing is used as the
discount rate.

Credif losses relating to 12 months ECL amounted fo R73 million (2019: Credit gains of R20 million) and credit losses
relating to lifefime ECL amounted fo R683 million (2019: Credil gains of R56 million).

14 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Refer to note 7.1 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

14.1 Categories of financial instruments
Assels Liabilities
Total
Amortised Amortised carrying

cost cost amount Fair value
Rm Rm Rm Rm

2020
Trade and ofther receivables 404 - 404 e
Cash and cash equivalents 210 - 210 #
614 - 614 &
Trade and other payables - 497 497 u
Financial guarantee contracts - 2129 2129 1069
- 2626 2626 1069

2019
Trade and ofther receivables 571 - 571 #
Cash and cash equivalents 216 - 216 #
787 - 787 #
Trade and ofther payables - 388 388 #
Financial guarantee contracts - 1886 1886 584
- 2274 2274 584

#The carrying amount of the financial instrument approximates its fair value.

146 MTN Group Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2020



01 S 02  SGEEEEV

Statutory Group financial Company financial
reporfs sfafements skafrements

(continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2020

14 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (confinued)
14.1 Categories of financial instruments (confinued)
14.1.1 Fair value estimation

Refer to note 7.1.3 of the Group financial statements for the applicable accounting policy.

The following table presents the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Company'’s liabilities that are materially
different from the carrying amount:

Total
carrying
amount Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm
2020
Current financial liabilities
Financial guarantee contracts 2129 - - 1069 1069
2019
Current financial liabilities
Financial guarantee contracts 1886 - - 584 584

Valuation methods and assumptions
The following methods and assumptions were used fo estimate the fair values:

The fair value of the financial guarantee contracts are determined using the discounted cash flow method. The
valuation requires management fo make cerfain assumptions about the model inputs, which include rhe probability
of default, the maximum recovery amount and interest rate curve.

14.2 Credit risk

Refer to note 7.1.4 of the Group financial statements for an explanation on credif risk and how it is managed.

The Company considers its maximum exposure per class, without faking into account any collateral and financial
guarantees, to be as follows:

2020 2019

Rm Rm

Cash and cash equivalents 210 216
Trade and ofther receivables 404 571
Financial guarantee contracts 36 950 40 564
37 564 41 351

Credift risk is mitigated to the extent thal the majority of trade receivables consist of related party receivables of
R386 million (2019: R554 million).

The Company holds its cash balances in financial institutions with national scale long-term ratings of AA+ fo AA
(2019: BB+). Given these ratings, management does not expect any counterparty to fail fo meet its obligations.
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14.2

14.3

148

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
Trade and other receivables

Ageing and impairment analysis

Fully performing trade and
other receivables

Trade receivables due from
related parties

Past due trade and other
receivables

Sundry debtors and advances
0 fo 3 months

3 fo 6 months

6 fo 9 months

9 fo 12 months

Trade receivables due from
related parties

0 to 3 months

3 fo 6 months

6 fo 9 months

9 fo 12 months

Liquidity risk

Gross

Rm

105

105

299
18

18

281
28
40
28

185

404

2020

Impaired
Rm

Net
Rm

105

105

299
18

18

281
28
40
28

185

404

Gross
Rm

571
17

10

554
327
45
103
79

571

2019

Impaired
Rm

(conftinued)

Ner
Rm

571
17

10

554
327
45
103
79

571

Refer fo note 7.1.5 of the Group financial stafements for an explanation on liquidity risk and how it is managed.

The following liquid resources are available:

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

2020
Rm

210
404

614

2019
Rm

216
571

787

The Company and other subsidiaries in the Group have undrawn variable rate facilities of R33 297 million (2019:

R33 790 million).

The following are the undiscounted contractual cash flows of financial liabilities:

2020
Trade and other payables
Financial guarantee contracts

2019
Trade and ofther payables
Financial guarantee conftracts

Carrying
amount

Rm

497
2129

2626

388
1886

2274

Total
Rm

497
36 950

37 447

388
40 564

40 952

Payable
within

1 month
oron
demand
Rm

497
36 950

37 447

388
40 564

40 952

Further details of financial guarantee confracts are provided in note 13 of the Company financial statements.
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14 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (confinued)
14.4 Marketl risk
14.4.1 Interest rate risk

Referto note 7.1.6.1 of the Group financial statements for an explanation on interest rate risk and how it is managed.

Af the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Company'’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

Variable rate

insfruments
Rm
2020
Financial asselts
Cash and cash equivalents 210
Trade and other receivables 386
596
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 291
2019
Financial assels
Cash and cash equivalents 216
Trade and ofther receivables 554
770
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 192

Sensitivity analysis

The Company has used a sensitivity analysis fechnique thal measures the estimated change fo profit or loss of an
insfantaneous increase or decrease of 1% (100 basis points) in markert interest rates, from the rate applicable at
31 December, for each class of financial instrument with all other variables remaining constant. This analysis is for
illustrative purposes only, as in practice market rates rarely change in isolation.

The Company is mainly exposed fo fluctuations in the following market interest rates: JIBAR, Prime and LIBOR rates.
Changes in market interest rates affecl the interestincome or expense of floating rate financial instruments. Changes
in marketr interest rates only affect profit or loss in relation to financial insfruments with fixed interest rates if these
financial insfruments are subsequently measured at their fair value.

A change in the above marker interest rates af the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) profit before tax
by the amounts shown below.

The analysis has been performed on the basis of the change occurring at the start of the reporting period and
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign exchange rates, remain constant. The analysis is performed on
the same basis as was used for 2019.

2020 2019

Increase/(decrease) in profit before rax Increase/(decrease) in profit before fax
Upward Downward Upward Downward
Change in change in change in Change in change in change in
interest rate interest rate interest rate interest rate inferest rate interest rate
% Rm Rm % Rm Rm
JIBAR 1 2,2 (2,2) 1 2,3 (2,3)
Prime 1 2,1 (2,1) 1 4,3 (4,3)
LIBOR 1 (1,3) 1,3 1 (0,8) 0,8
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14 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

14.4 Marketl risk (continued)
14.4.2  Currency risk

(conftinued)

Refer fo note 7.1.6.3 of the Group financial statements for an explanation on currency risk and how it is

managed.

Included in the Company statement of financial position are the following amounts denominated in currencies

ofher than the functional currency of the Company.

Current assels
United States dollar

Current liabilities
United States dollar

Sensitivity analysis

2020 2019
Rm Rm

5 4
1421 1881

A change in the foreign exchange rates to which the Company is exposed af the reporting date would have

(decreased)/increased profit before fax by the amounts shown below:

Change in
exchange

Denominated: functional currency
2020
US$:ZAR

2019
US$:ZAR
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The following financial ferms are used in the Annual Financial Statements with the meanings specified:

Amortised cost

Assel exchange transactions

Associates

Capital management EBITDA

Carrying amount

Cash-generating unit

CODM EBITDA

Commercial substance

Contingent liabilities

Control

Defined contribution plan

The assetl is held within a business model with the objective fo collect the contractual
cash flows; and the contractual ferms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding.

Transactions where one or more items of property, plant and equipment are acquired
in exchange for non-monetary assets, or a combination of monetary and non-
monetary assels.

All entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the
financial and operational policies.

CODM EBITDA before impairment of goodwill less repayments and interest paid on
lease liabilities.

Is the amount al which the asser is recognised after deducting any accumulated
depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment losses there on.

The smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing
use that are largely independent of the cash inflows from ofher assels or group of
assefs.

Earnings before interest (which includes gains and losses on foreign exchange
Fransactions and a loss on revision of cash flows from a joint venture), tax,
depreciation and amortisation and is also presented before recognising the following
irems:

* Impairment of joint venture and goodwill;

« Nel monertary gain resulting from the application of hyperinflation;

« Share of results of associates and joint venture after tax;

« Hyperinflation;

« Tower sale profits;

« Gain on disposal/dilution of invesfment in associate and joint venture;

« Gain on disposal of subsidiary; and

e Impairment loss on remeasurement of non-current assets held for sale.

A transaction has commercial substance if the difference in either of the points

below is significant relative fo the fair value of the assets exchanged:

« The configuration of the cash flows of the asseft received differs from the
configuration of the cash flows of the asset given up; or

« The entfity-specific value of the part of the operations affected by the transaction
changes as a resull of the exchange.

Represent possible obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will
be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. Contingent liabilities also represent
present obligations that arise from past events but are not recognised because an
oufflow of resources is not probable or a reliable esfimate cannot be made.

When the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability fo affect Fhose returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an enfity when it has existing rights that gives it the
current ability to direct the relevant activities that significantly affect the entity’s
refurns.

A post-employment benefit plan (such as a pension plan) under which the Group
pays a fixed percentage of employees’ remuneration as contributions info a separate
entity (a fund), and will have no further legal or constructive obligations to pay
additional contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assefs to pay all
employee benefits relating fo employee service in the current and prior periods.
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dtic

Equity investments at Fair value
through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Functional currency

Gain or loss on disposal of an
assefl

Goodwill

ICASA

Inferconnect revenue

Joint arrangement

Joint operation

Joint ventures

Measurement period adjustments

Ner debt

Net debt to capital management
EBITDA ratio

Net interest

Netf interest to capital
management EBITDA
Non-controlling interests

Postpaid product

Prepaid product

Department of Trade, Industry and Competition.

The asset is not held for trading and the Group has irrevocably elected on initial
recognition ro recognise the assel as at FVOCI.

Debt investments that do not qualify for measurement ak amortised cost or FVOCI;
equily investments that are held for trading; and equity investments designated as at
FVTPL.

The currency that best reflects the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates.

The difference befween the proceeds from the disposal and the carrying amount of
fhe asset.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
confrolling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

Independent Communications Authority of South Africa.

Revenue derived from ofther operators for local and international incoming voice
minutes, short messaging (SMS) and multimedia services (MMS).

A contractual arrangement whereby the Company and other parties undertake an
economic activity which is subject to joint control.

Joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights fo the assets and obligations for the liabilities, relating fo the
arrangement.

Joint arrangements whereby fhe parties that have joint control of the arrangement
by unanimous consent have rights fo the nef assefts of the arrangement.

Adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” about facts and circumstances that existed af the acquisition
date. The measurement period constitutes the period affer the acquisition date
during which the acquirer may adjust the provisional amounts recognised for a
business combination. This period shall nol exceed one year from the acquisition
date.

Borrowings and bank overdrafts less cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
current investments (excluding investment in insurance cell captives).

Nef debt divided by capital management EBITDA.

Finance costs less finance income and add back lease liability finance costs.

Net interest divided by capital management EBITDA.

The amount of those interests at the date of the business combination and the
non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since the acquisition date.

Products and services provided on the MTN nefwork which customers pay for
subsequent to the usage.

Products and services provided on the MTN neftwork which customers pay for in
advance of usage.
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Presentation currency
Qualifying asset
Recoverable amount

Revenue

Roaming revenue

Significant influence

Structured entities (SEs)

Subsidiaries

Termination benefits

Value in use

The currency in which the financial statements are presented.
An assel which rakes more than 12 months fo acquire, construct or produce.
The greater of an asset’s value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal.

Income arising in the course of an entity’s ordinary activities.

Income is an increase in economic benefits during the accounting period in the form
of inflows or enhancements of assets or decrease of liabilities that result in an
increase in equity, other than those relating fo contributions from equity participants.

Revenue generated from subscribers making calls when using other networks,
including MTN nefworks outside the country of operation.

The power fto participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of an entity. It
is presumed fo exist when the Group holds befween 20% and 50% of the voting power
of an entity.

Entities that have been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant
factor in deciding who confrols the entities, such as when any voting rights relate fo
administrative fasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of
contractual arrangements.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has
control. The Group confrols an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights fo,
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has rhe ability to affect
Fhose refurns through its power fto direct the relevant activities of the entity.

Benefits that may be payable when an employee’s employment is ferminated before
Fhe normal retirement date due to death or retfrenchment or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

The present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an assel or
cash-generating unit.
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Shareholder spread

1 - 1000 shares

1001 — 10 000 shares

10 001 — 100 000 shares
100 001 — 1 000 000 shares
1 000 001 shares and over

Total

Number of
shareholders

106 513
11478
1584
766
192

120533

2020
Number
% of shares
88,37 20917 623
9,52 31479 216
1,31 52 273 327
0,64 250 086 643
0,16 1529512949

100,00

Nominees holding shares in excess of 5% of the issued ordinary capital of the Company

Standard Bank Nominees (Tvl) Proprietary Limited
First National Nominees Propriefary Limited

Nedcor Bank Nominees Limited

Beneficial shareholders holding 5% or more

Government Employees Pension Fund

Lombard Odier Darier Hentsch & Cie (M1 Limited)

Spread of ordinary shareholders

Public

Non-public

Directors, prescribed officers and
Company Secreftary of MTN Group Limited
and directors of major subsidiaries’

MTN Zakhele Futhi (RF) Limited

Lombard Odier Darier Henftsch & Cie

(M1 Limited)

Government Employees Pension Fund
MTN Telephone Nefwork Holdings Limited
and 2016 ESOP Trust

Total

2020

Number of

120500 1187957776
B9 696 311 982

©

193 063
76 835 378

=

3 121 330 000
18 489510141

2 8443 400

120533 1884 269758

% of issued

shares share capital
993 135413 52,71
149 603 768 7,94
175 935 233 9,34

2020
Number of % of issued
shares share capital
489 510 141 25,98
121 330 000 6,44

2020

Number of Number of % of issued
shareholdings shares  share capital

63,05
36,95

0,01

4,08

6,44
25,98

0,44

100,00
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1884 269 758

2019

Number of
shares

943 663 737
167 868 946
157 600 379

2019

Number of
shares

477 376 991
189 330 000

%

1,11
1,67
2,77
13,27
81,18

100,00

% of issued

share capital

50,08
8,91
8,36

% of issued

share capital

25,33
10,05

2019

Number of
shares

1130891370
753 378 388

409 385

76 835378

189 330 000
477 376 991

9426 634

1884 269 758

% of issued
share capital

60,02
39,98

0,02
4,08

10,05
25,33

0,50

100,00
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Statutory
reporfs

Group financial
sfafements

MTN GROUP LIMITED
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa

Company registration number: 1994/009584/06
ISIN code: ZAEO00042164
Share code: MTN

Board of Directors

MH Jonas®

RT Mupita?

RA Shuter?! (resigned on 31 August 2020)
PB Hanratty?

S Kheradpir®*

AT Mikati**

SP Miller™™

NL Sowazi*

NP Mageza® (resigned 30 April 2020)

MLD Marole” (resigned 30 April 2020)

KC Ramon” (resigned 30 September 2020)
S Mabaso-Koyana® (appointed 1 September 2020)
BS Tshabalala®

KDK Mokhele”

SLA Sanusi®

VM Rague”

1 Executive
2 Irish

3 American
4 Lebanese
° Belgian

¢ Nigerian
7 Kenyan

* Independent non-executive director
# Non-executive director

Group Secretary
PT Sishuba-Bonoyi
Private Bag X9955, Cresta, 2118

Registered office
216 — 14th Avenue
Fairland

Gaufreng, 2195

American depository receipt (ADR) programme
Cusip No. 62474M108
ADR fo ordinary share 1:1

N 02 “

N\ 03 “

Company financial
skafrements

Depository: The Bank of New York
101 Barclay Streel, New York NY, 10286, USA

MTN Group sharecare line
Toll free: 0800 202 360 or +27 11 870 8206
if phoning from outside South Africa

Transfer secretaries

Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07

Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann Avenue

Rosebank, 2196

PO Box 61051, Marshallfown, 2107

Joint auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.

Waterfall City, 4 Lisbon Lane, Jukskei View
Midrand, 2090

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Grant Thornton Inc.
20 Morris Streef East,
Woodmead, 2191

Lead sponsor
JP Morgan Equities (SA) Proprieftary Limited
1 Fricker Road, cnr Hurlingham Road, lllovo, 2196

Joint sponsor

Tamela Holdings Proprietary Limited

Ground Floor, Golden Oak House, 35 Ballyclare Drive,
Bryanston, 2021

Afforneys

Webber Wentzel

90 Rivonia Road, Sandton, 2196
PO Box 61771, Marshallfown, 2107

Contact details

Telephone: National (011) 912 3000
International +27 11 912 3000

Facsimile: National (011) 912 4093
Infernational +27 11 912 4093

E-mail: investor.relations@mtn.com
Website: http://www.mfn.com
Date of release: 10 March 2021
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www.mknh.com

Tel: +27 83 912 3000/+27 83 869 3000/+27 11 912 3000
Innovation Centre

216 14th Avenue

Fairland, 2195

South Africa



